=E
=

- =~

Huabao

Huabao International Holdings Limited
EERBERER QA

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(RBFEFMRIZBRAF)

Stock Code B&{n5%: 00336

2010-2011



Corporate Information
NG

Financial Highlights
MEHE

Company Profile, Corporate Culture and

Key Events for the Year

SEEN  EEUEREFRER
CEO’s Statement

ARG

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE e R

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management
EENERERERE

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRE

Investor Relations Report
REEMAERS

Directors’ Report

BEegRE

Independent Auditor’s Report

B ZHBERE

Huabao International Holdings Limited = BIFX{EARBRAF] » 2010-2011 Annual Report F#

45

51

66

71

82

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BkiE

Statement of Financial Position
AR

Consolidated Income Statement
fredER

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income
FaerERE

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

e LES

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FaReREx

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR ERRM
Five Year Financial Summary

hEMBRE

Glossary

=

84

85

86

87

88

89

90

177

178



Corporate Information

NEEHR

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Chi Tak (CEO)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok

Mr. WANG Guang Yu

Mr. XIA Li Qun (CFO)

Mr. XIONG Qing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yun Yan
Mr. MAK Kin Kwong

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. MAK Kin Kwong (Chairman)
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yun Yan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. MAK Kin Kwong (Chairman)
Ms. MA Yun Yan
Mr. XIA Li Qun

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT
Ms. CHOY Man Har Fcra, Fcca

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok Acis, Acs

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers

LEGAL ADVISOR
Herbert Smith

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

Wing Lung Bank Limited

Exeg

BiTES

AMEEL L (£/E)
BEIBELE (B2
BB L L
TRMmELE
BMERE (FRE
RRIDSE &

BYFHITES
FrRKELE
nE 2+
BEREE

EREES
ERENKE (£/F)
FrRELE
ME#E2Z L

FHEES
BRAKLE (Z/F)

Jin &= He i+
BB

BRI
BB trcra, Fcca

DEMWE
SERBE S Eacrs, Acs

BB ED
ERRUKE GRS

EERER
SRR RN E IS

ERERRIT

ERIRIT (FE) BRAF
B LSELRITERAH
KERITARD A

2 Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEE B BR /AR » 2010-2011 Annual Report F 3k



HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF

BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Suite 3008
Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street

Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
Rosebank Centre

11 Bermudian Road

Pembroke HM8

Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Tengis Limited
26/F, Tesbury Centre
28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited: 00336

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.huabao.com.hk

INVESTOR RELATIONS WEBSITE
http://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php

Corporate Information

RAER

RBREBTEEX

B

e
B85
IR
3008%

ZRMER
Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda

FERDBFETRE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Bermuda) Limited
Rosebank Centre

11 Bermudian Road

Pembroke HM8

Bermuda

BOBFELDTE
FEESRENREGRAR
B

Ei
BRREBER28E
SEEFR 26

B 121X 5%
BEBBAERSHARZAR - 00336

NCIEEE

www.huabao.com.hk

REEREAEMN
http://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEEEIFRZARHR AR » 2010-2011 Annual Report 3 3



Financial Highlights

MBREE

The Group has achieved outstanding results in the past five years:

o Sales increased to HKD2,852 million for the current year from
HKD1,013 million for the year ended 31 March 2007 with a CAGR
of approximately 29.5%

o Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company increased
to HKD1,604 million for the current year from HKD567 million
for the year ended 31 March 2007 with a CAGR of approximately

29.7%

e  Diluted earnings per share increased to HK50.59 cents for the
current year from HK18.66 cents for the year ended 31 March
2007 with a CAGR of approximately 28.3%

. Dividend per share increased to HK15.18 cents per share for the
current year from HK5.6 cents per share for the year ended 31
March 2007. Since listing of the Company’s flavours and fragrances
business, the accumulated dividend reached approximately HKD2

AEENBEDFEEXEHE -
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billion (including the final dividend proposed for the current year).
The CAGR of annual total dividend reached approximately 29.3%
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Sales

Gross profit

Gross profit margin

Operating profit

Operating profit margin (EBIT margin)

Selling and marketing expenses to sales

Administrative expenses to sales

Profit before income tax

Profit attributable to the equity holders
of the Company

Earnings per share (HK cents)
— Basic
— Diluted

Net cash generated from operating
activities

Net cash*

Total equity

Aggregated dividends per share
for the whole year (HK cents)

Aggregated special dividends per share
for the whole year (HK cents)

Dividend payout ratio

Debt ratio*

Current ratio (times)

Liquidity ratio (times)

Inventory turnover (days)

Trade receivables turnover (days)

Trade payables turnover (days)
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Financial Highlights

2011 2010
—EB——F —E-FF
HKD’000 HKD'000
BT T BT T
2,852,173 2,366,403
2,120,459 1,786,835
74.3% 75.5%
1,871,706 1,516,689
65.6% 64.1%
2.8% 3.1%
10.2% 9.9%
1,881,114 1,531,649
1,604,400 1,340,085
51.01 43.15
50.59 42.58
1,406,330 1,385,960
936,410 1,659,290
5,295,863 3,918,207
15.18 12.78

Nil 8.3

30% 49%
14.8% 6.6%
2.1 3.5

1.8 3.2

173 139

74 71

133 121

2

Change
in percentage

BOLES
%

+20.5%
+18.7%

+23.4%

+22.8%

+19.7%

+18.2%
+18.8%

+1.5%

* Equals to ‘Short-term time deposits’ plus ‘Cash and cash equivalents’

minus ‘Short-term borrowings’.

ERHHEHGFH M H2RE2EEY] R R

HIR7TE °

# Equals to ‘Total borrowing (include current & non-current borrowings)’  #
divided by ‘Total Equity (exclude non-controlling interests)’.
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture
and Key Events for the Year
SEEHN

TEERZFAERT

Company Profile

Huabao Group is a market leader in China’s flavours and fragrances
industry. The Group has been the leading producer in terms of
sales revenue among competitors, maintaining a significant position
within the flavours and fragrances industry in China. The Group
is primarily engaged in the R&D, production and sales of flavours
and fragrances and reconstituted tobacco leaves (‘RTL'). The Group
possesses an integrated core value chain, established upstream raw
material extraction bases in Botswana, southern Africa, Shandong,
Jiangsu, Yunnan and Hunan, and production bases in Shanghai,
Yunnan, Guangdong, Jiangsu, Fujian, and Hong Kong etc., and
has established a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany, a State-
recognized technical centre in Shanghai and R&D departments in
Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian. The technical centre of Huabao
Shanghai,
the only State-recognized technical centre in China’s flavours and

a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, is currently

fragrances industry. The Group takes on leadership roles in a number
of industry associations, including the Deputy Director of CAFFCI,
Deputy Director of China Food Additives & Ingredients Association
and Chairman of Shanghai Food Additive Industry Association.

By leveraging on its excellent management model, a team of high-
calibre talents with international experience, outstanding customer
services and its high growth momentum, the Group is committed to
continuously creating value for society and bringing fruitful returns
to its Shareholders!

6 Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEE

Company Profile

SEZMT

SEEN
FEEESTEERERTENEEE  HHER
ERTE-ERIAS  ETFEERERTSEE
2y - AEBEIENEEFRBEHLBEEE (&
BEEA) MmME - EENHEE - $$@%ﬁ%®
—RIEERSE  EIEMNEEEREA - LR -
ﬁ‘%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬁm%ﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬂhm¢u'ﬁ
B EE ER I&% RERBEFHREL
EEM  EREEMRAEREEINFAEDL A
REBEE - FBERREERMF L - SEER -
EH - REREHEHNL - AEBE 22 EWNBERR
EELBZOERMPORREEARITHERME—
MBERBEERMFTL - AEREEFBRERERT
FABETZEEERM  EETEEHEREKR
mIEHEREER  FERMANE TEH S
BERMEETRAMBTEREERS -

AEEBEEREEFNEERR  5&E BE
{ERAA B RIFNEFIRSE DA RS RK K
H TE AL SEIEEE  ARRETREENMD
iR

BRI BBRAF]  2010-2011 Annual Report &3k



Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEBN - EEXEREFRET
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEBN  EEEREFARER

Corporate Culture

i 344

Vision Core Value
iI=3 N
HEER EZ&»ﬁEﬁﬁEﬁ
Striving to be No. 1 i Adhere to the “market driven and client first” philosophy
e | and achieve mutual growth for both the Group and its
FE— staff

UmisREE BREFELMWRA BEREEMNSTH
R &

Innovative, pragmatic, loyal and cooperative

BIFT - BE - B WtE

Strategy
BB %

e Multi-pronged with focus on flavours and fragrances as core value IR
e Accelerate the development of flavours business, actively develop fragrances business :

W =
e Proactively expand into the new cigarette materials, led by the reconstituted tobacco leaves, and food |ngred|ents
businesses :

e Expand upstream aromatic raw materials business and strive to form an integrated core value chain 3 s ;
e Expand through organic growth and M&A gt vl
L]

Leverage on China’s market to grow into a globally leading player in the flavours and fragrances |ndustry and tasty Ilfe" :

BRUABEEH RZONROZ T3 R EE
MRRBEBFEHNERISML  BRARBIAEREH

BB R AEEE R BARNSIERM A E R 75 ,
TR LR EREER  BORTERL —BIEMERE o
RAE S ERAFBEREGEANI N e
RIEFEMS - FRABEHFERNEEEHARNEKEEOREE '
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEBN - EEXEREFRET

Key Events for the Year
EFERER

A seminar named ‘Sensory Evaluation e Successfully acquired Yunnan Huaxiangyuan by
Methodology of Chinese cigarettes’ was way of capital injection, with an aim to further
held in Shanghai, attended by domestic develop special aromatic raw materials and

major tobacco and tobacco-related construct an integrated core value chain

R&D institutions. This seminar played a

big part in the future development of o RINEBIEEERWBEERESR  E— PR
the quality of cigarettes, it once again FEBRMER - TERO—BEEREE
provided a chance for the Group to

show its position in the tobacco flavours e Yunnan Tianhong's technical center has been
industry and its strategic partnerships named as a Provincial-recognized technical center

with major tobacco groups
o EFRRRMBOBRE AE R EO
BB PR EREREME =] #
g - BT ERERRREER
B2NT &% - M ERRSEm
ENBERFMABEEZER  BABRT
REBEERERBREHEANTRBA
Ko B B E Y BR S VERE (R

2010 MAY 54 2010 SEP9A

2010 JUN6A 2010 NOV 11 A

The Group's subsidiaries

in the food sector e  Huabao Kongque won the title
collectively attended the of “Top Ten Brands of Food
12th Annual FIA China Additives’, brand value and
and received high praise enterprise’s significance were

further improved
REBERRETEAF

Ba2RE T —EEM o ETIEKE[RIFINATK
RmicHhER - X Hamhe ] Y mEEENE
BTRENE KR ENE— TR
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year

SEBN  EEEREFARER

e  Completed the acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group, established
a strategic development platform for the Group’s RTL business

e A new invention application of Guangdong Jinye, ‘A Method of
Reducing Extracted Liquid Pectin in the making of Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves’, has been accepted by the State Intellectual
Property Office

o TERMEBERSESE  BUTASEZEEER EBOBRIEER

NVAPAN
=

o ERESE-BEFNERAIERE - [ EREELEEEEHER
BRBESENINE]  BETREFNBERRZE

2011 JAN 1 3
I

2011 FEB 2 A

e The ‘Accreditation Conference for Cigarette Flavourists and Senior Flavourists’ undertaken by Guangzhou Huafang
as a base for training cigarette perfumery talents of the State Tobacco Monopoly Administration ('STMA’) and was
jointly organized by the Science & Technology Department and the Human Resources Department of STMA, which
was held in Guangzhou. The meeting conducted reviews and recognition of the graduates of cigarette perfumery
flavourists and senior perfumery flavourists. The review meeting represents a senior qualification recognition of
the domestic cigarette perfumery field and is one of the few institutions recognized by STMA in the cigarette
perfumery sector

e Guangzhou Huafang successfully hosted the ‘Tobacco Flavours Standardization Forum’ for the first time, such
forum played a big part in the future development of the new industry standards

« HBEXEEEEFRRAIMARAARMAR  BNEFESBRRFHEEAT AL BREMENN [SEATEM
BRAENRETES) EENAN - SRULERENNEAABNBLBEE(T | RETE - ZIBERE
TEASERERANSRELERT  SRFAETEIHLARCSEREEREE RRENKEL —

o BEMEFIEMAREXR [EERBRERBAIE ] ZATSHTERRREREES R
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Company Profile, Corporate Culture and Key Events for the Year
SEEN - EEYCREFARFRL

China Tobacco Hunan Industrial Co. Ltd (“China Tobacco Hunan”) joint
laboratory with the Group was established. This marked the first time
China Tobacco Hunan established a joint laboratory with a third party,
symbolising a partnership between Huabao and China Tobacco Hunan
that has entered a new stage

HRAPETEEREEAR (DAFTE]) BAEEXEBAERE @ &
EHETEEREE = IRIBMAERE R EEERAETENS
TEEAFTRE R

2011 MAR 3H
I

2011 APR4 A

e Signed technical service agreement with China Tobacco Anhui to jointly construct a RTL
production line, symbolizing yet another step forward for the Group in the RTL area

e The Group established Yongzhou Shanxiang in Hunan province, symbolizing yet another
breakthrough for the Group in the area of natural flavours

e The Group intends to build a comprehensive production and R&D plant in Jiangxi province, to lay
a solid foundation for the next step of development

o HEZPPBHEIRMIREHE - AERREEER LES B EASREEEE K B XM
BT TR

o AREBEWBEARAIMNLE - BREREERATHEEERX — R

o RESMOTEAME -HALENMIEEN AT INRRETEREMNEMR
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CEQ’s Statement
BB E

The financial year 2011 is a meaningful one for Huabao, marking its
fifth anniversary of the listing of its flavours and fragrances business
and accomplishing the Group’s three-year business development
objectives. On behalf of the management, | am pleased to announce
to all shareholders that, the sales revenue of the Group amounted
to approximately HKD2,852 million for the year ended 31 March
2011, representing an increase of 20.5% and doubled over that of
the year ended 31 March 2008. The profit attributable to equity
holders amounted to approximately HKD 1,604 million, representing
an increase of 19.7% to that of last year. Our three-year business
development objectives have been accomplished, which further
enhanced the comprehensive competitiveness of the Group.

Operating environment review

In the year of 2010, China maintained rapid growth, with its Gross
Domestic Product growth exceeding 10%, becoming the world’s
second largest economy. The China domestic consumer goods market
has also maintained rapid growth momentum, while the pressure of
price rises is high, a series of downstream food safety incidents has
once again cast a shadow on China’s food and beverage industry
and food additives industry. A new round of industry adjustment and
consolidation is set to begin. Such industry integration and negative
opinions will impose adverse effect on related industries in the short
and middle run. These industry adjustments, however, are viewed as
positive and beneficial in the long run. And, as a leading domestic
player in the flavours and fragrances industry, the Group will surely
benefit from the integration in the PRC food and beverage industry.

On behalf of the Board of
Directors, | am pleased to present
to the Shareholders the annual
results of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2011.

AARREESERANERREE
AEEBE_T——F=A=+—§
LEEZ R EEM -

ZE - FUFHREBEEEN  STFREED
RBEREBERD ETRBES  RBGEAEE=F
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BRREM HE_TZ——F=-A=1+—HLHF
E 0 REBAEEWRAER T HBHE28.52ET 0 &
LFEERA205% BT N\EF=Z/F=+—AH1
FEERBA G BREEBGHAFOEE16.04E
T B EFIEREN19.7% 0 Blimit K T ZE £
BRHE  SENGEBRFNEL—EH AR -

REREDRE

—E-TF PREABBERF TREER BRLEE
BEBREBBEBI0% ARBERE - RIKE
B - hEAFHERMS RS T REBEENE
B BYMELRNEIRK E—RITHERE
2EHBRYPERABABITEARRDRFIMETT
EELTBHZE - HGNTEBRBENEHNEH
e BETEEBEULRBRMAMBITENETS
% PREHEHEBOTRELETNEE  BREE
RE - BLTERAERBIER  BEN - MAER
BRELENEBEHNELE  AKRELEXENPH
RMEBRHITENES -
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Looking back to the operating environment in 2010, both challenges
and opportunities were found. The management and | adopted
effective countermeasures in a decisive manner, including increasing
the stock of certain raw materials which were to be affected by
inflation. Meanwhile, thanks to the increasing efforts in vertical
integration as well as heavy development in the natural aromatic
raw materials business, the influence on gross profit margin of the
Group by inflation of raw materials was kept to a limited level and
its gross profit margin remained stable as a whole. Moreover, thanks
to our years of persistence on the strict quality control requirements
and a strict system established in raw material procurement,
production, and finished products, Huabao has again managed to
cope with the food safety crisis accordingly and has obtained high
recognition from the industry. Secondly, the Group adhered to the
core strategies of 'multi-pronged, focus growth’ and constantly
boosted the construction of an integrated core value chain, and
achieved encouraging results. During the year, the Group completed
the acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group and actively promoted the
construction of Guangdong Jinye’s second phase project along with
other RTL projects; and also the acquisition of Yunnan Huaxiangyuan
and the formation of Yongzhou Shanxiang to heavily develop the
premium and special upstream aromatic raw materials business, these
have returned rapid growth.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% EIIZR AR A

CEQ’s Statement
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CEQ’s Statement
RERE

Persistent in promoting the development of ‘multi-
pronged, focus growth’, constructing an integrated
core value production line, and achieving
outstanding results

For the year ended 31 March 2011,
increased by approximately 20.5% to approximately HKD2,852
million, out-performing the expected growth target. Gross profit
margin reached approximately 74.3%, and EBIT margin reached
approximately 65.6% which further elevated from approximately
64.1% last year. Profit attributable to equity holders was
approximately HKD1,604 million,

sales revenue of the Group

representing an increase of
approximately 19.7% year-on-year; and basic earnings per share was
HK51.01 cents, representing an increase of about 18.2% year-on-
year. All of these represent excellent operating results. These figures
are not only representative of the successful completion of this
three-year business development plan, but also proved correct the
accurate development strategies of ‘multi-pronged, focus growth’
and boosting the construction of an integrated core value chain
insisted on by the Group for years. In terms of core strategies of
‘multi-pronged, focus growth’, the Group acquired Xiamen Amber
in 2008 to enter into the fragrances field, and recorded revenue
beyond HKD160 million for the current year, representing an increase
of nearly three times over HKD55 million recorded at the time of
acquisition; last year, the Group decisively acquired Guangdong
Jinye Group after years of preparation, and strategically entered the
reconstituted tobacco leaves industry. Integration work has begun
since the acquisition was completed and is progressing accordingly;
the second phase of the expansion project is being implemented
proactively, as well as cooperative projects such as technical
cooperation with China Tobacco Anhui and Huangguoshu Jinye are
also in development. For the five months ended 31 March 2011, the
sales revenue of Guangdong Jinye Group amounted to approximately
HKD86.76 million, with EBITDA margin of approximately 33.5%,
which is in line with management’s expectations.
construction of an integrated core value chain, with the completion
of Wuxi production bases in 2007, acquiring the Botswana F&G
base in 2009, acquiring Qingdao Qingda and Yunnan Huaxiangyuan
in 2010 and establishing Yongzhou Shanxiang in 2011,

In terms of

the Group
has created a new development strategy with a combination of
advantageous natural aromatic raw materials plus flavours products
and with a mode of resources complementing the market, and
has been building its integrated value chain step by step along
the industrial chain of flavours and fragrances. The Group’s overall
capability in countering risks has been further elevated, so has its
competitive advantages.

BRERLZTCHERRE -
EXE DESERNKE

wEZO—BIL

HE-_Z——F=ZA=1+—RHLFE A£EER
SHEWALBE28 52187 » RILIERA205% @ &
WTEBHMIZERBEIZ EFRENTL3% 5 EBITE

HEH165.6% ' B EFMN641%E—FRA BE
FEE BRI BHE¥16.048 T - FRILLIEREL19.7% ;
BREARBFBEES1.0MI - BLEEN182%
WM TEEMNKEEE LT TERATE=
FEBERTENERTK  TR2EFHTEESF
ARERRFROZ Tl - HEEZO —BLEFEERE
BREMIERE - FRELOZTEAA  SER T
NFWRBEMREREABREBRENEL  5F
R ABBEE16EBT BREEFOHNBE
55008 R T =F AFEELCBZFNATH
A RBWERERCESE @ BT EAZEER
SERTE WEENEBRSIIEHERR  —HER
BEOEFERRESHERE S - B @R EREN
GIERERBCESAEBRENCEREP - HEZ
2**E:H:+*H¢¢§£MH’E$$¥%
BEIREE WAL BEES 6768 7T * EBITDAR Z &
#933.5% F HAEEEEH - T L —BLEXH
Eﬁﬁﬁyﬁfﬁﬁtﬁﬁjﬂﬁiﬁgm'—-
TNFUHEIE R FLAFRGEH - —TFWES
%%Kﬂ%@%%ﬁ'_g——¢EEKNM§'
EEHET —BRURARERHNEAGETRERERE
M NERNMSEANEMERER - A5EIE
HEBBERNEERE  — S IHITEEERE
M—EBEEXE SEERNEREDE— N
B RAEBFHE—FRS -

® Flavours ERERER 91.3%
@ Fragrances HEBE&HRBER 5.6%
O RTL EEEH 3.1%
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Rewarding shareholders, continuously in creating
value for shareholders

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group’s net cash generated
from operating activities amounted to approximately HKD1,406
million, which was relatively stable growth compared with last year.
Net cash amounted to approximately HKD936 million, helping the
Group to maintain a very healthy financial position. After taking
into account the excellent operating results and strong cash flows,
to reward our Shareholders, the Board recommended the payment
of a final dividend for the year of HK7.98 cents (2010: HK6.78
cents) per share, or HK15.18 cents per share for the full year, with
dividend payout ratio at approximately 30%. Since the listing of the
business, the Group has been continuously rewarding shareholders
by ways of dividends and special dividends. In the past five years, the
accumulated dividend reached approximately HKD2 billion declared
by the Group.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLANS

The global economy is in the midst of a long recovery period, and
the future growth of China’s economy will be slowed as well. Against
such macro environments, the Group must always adhere to the
‘multi-pronged, focus growth’ development strategy, constructing an
integrated core value chain, continuously identifying new business
growth points, enhancing the Group’s capability in countering risks,
actively construct a more natural, greener, and healthier production
chain, and achieving long-term sustainable growth.

Firstly, with flavours and fragrances as its core, the Group will
diversify into the business of new materials for cigarettes, which is
represented by the RTL business, and further develop the upstream
natural aromatic raw materials area. In tobacco related fields, the
Group will use the 'Twelfth Five-Year Plan’ and its development
targets of ‘532" and ‘461’ as an opportunity to further improve its
industry position in the tobacco flavours market. Meanwhile, the
Group will spare no efforts in the development of its RTL business;
at this time the Group will pursue the growing market of reduced tar
content and harm. The long term strategy of the Group, i.e. pursue
the strategy of ‘Big customers, Big brands’, remains unchanged. We
expect growth momentum in our existing flavours and fragrances
business will be sustained. On the RTL side, the implementation
of the second phase of the expansion project of Guangdong Jinye
and startups of other RTL related projects will see rapid growth in
development.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% EIIZR AR A
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In the food and beverage field, the Group fully integrated the
advantages of upstream natural aromatic raw materials, adhered
to the development of natural, healthy and tasty local products,
and provided product quality and taste solutions for local major
customers; moreover, it continued to implement an overall strategy
by fully leveraging its strengths in having a nationwide network for
the heavy development of local small- and medium-sized customers
and helping them to constantly improve product quality. Certainly,
the management expected that the recent food safety disturbance
and the new industry standards would still have certain negative
impact on relevant industries. As one of the largest local flavours
and fragrances enterprises in the PRC, the management and |
are confident in addressing these challenges and will seize the
opportunities brought from further industrial adjustment.

In the aromatic raw materials sector, Huabao has continued with
its commitment to the strategic development of the upstream
aromatic raw materials business to create an integrated core value
chain and enhance its overall competitiveness. The establishment of
the bases of Wuxi Huahai and Botswana’s F&G and the successful
acquisitions of Qingdao Qingda and Yunnan Huaxiangyuan as well
as the establishment of Yongzhou Shanxiang, have greatly elevated
the Group’s status in the integrated core value chain, as well as its
capability in countering risks. Furthermore, by utilizing premium
upstream raw materials as a platform and combining it with the
Group’s advantages in flavours and fragrances business, products’
quality and competitive advantages will be further elevated. The
Group's core business in flavours and fragrances is further improved.
Furthermore, these upstream raw material bases also enabled the
Group to obtain significant market share of certain important
upstream natural aromatic raw materials. In the next step, the group
will continue to accelerate the development of the aromatic raw
materials segment, further elevating the Group’s overall competitive
advantages and pushing for the formation of an integrated core
value chain.

The Chinese consumer products market is advancing to a higher level,
consumers will demand for higher product taste and quality, with a
tendency towards more natural products. This trend will inevitably
lead to a significant increase in the value of per capita consumption
of flavours and fragrances. From a long-term perspective, the global
flavours and fragrances business will gradually shift its focus to Asia;
the integrated core value chain will enable Huabao to possess a
more natural, greener and healthier product system, thereby firmly
capturing the opportunities of industrial upgrade to achieve greater
development. The use of RTL will reduce the harm of cigarette
products, and tobacco waste is the major raw material used in
production of RTL; food and beverage products will be more natural
and healthier with the development of upstream natural aromatic
raw materials by the Group. | believe, the Group’s future growth will
be greener and healthier.
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In regards to capital markets, in recent years, the financing platform
for China domestic capital market has drawn increasing attentions.
In order to broaden its financing platform and increase Huabao’s
brand awareness, the Group, in line with its domestic business
development, is now seeking advice with professional parties to
carry out operation plans on platforms for China domestic capital
markets. Up to date, the Group has not formulated any final opinion
or concrete plans. However, it will consider both the interest of its
shareholders and the development of its business and will make
public the related progress, if appropriate.

In respect of M&A, the Group will continue to focus on the
strategy of 'multi-pronged, focus growth’, building a new business
development platform through M&A and accelerate the development
of existing core businesses. In the past several years, the Group has
successfully carried out several M&As differing in size and has set
up a team with strong M&A implementation, effective integration
measures and strict internal control. In the future, the Group will
remain focused on domestic targets and proactively pay attention to
M&A opportunities overseas to further enhance its own technological
strength and product development capabilities. The Group will
achieve faster development by fully leveraging its financial strength
and relying on the Chinese market.

Lastly, I would like to reiterate the Group’s development strategy. The
Group will continue to implement the ‘multi-pronged, focus-growth’
development strategy. In line with its prudent corporate management
approach, the Group will also develop its businesses by way of
combining organic growth and M&As so as to create an integrated
core value chain and fully capitalize on the upcoming enormous
business opportunities arising from the Chinese consumer products
market as a result of the next round of China’s continuous growth.
Through organic and M&A development, the Group will rapidly grow
into a globally leading player in the flavours and fragrances industry
and tasty life! The management and | are confident in the future of
Huabao, and will work together diligently to create optimal value
and return for our Shareholders.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to our
Shareholders, customers and suppliers for their continuous shepherd
and support. | truly wish to express my appreciation to the Directors,
the management and all staff members of the Group for their loyalty,
diligence and hard-work in the past year. Together with the Directors
and the staff, we will uphold the spirit of Huabao: ‘innovative,
pragmatic, loyal and cooperative’, to strive for the best of Huabao
and to deliver more prosperous returns for all Shareholders!

LAU Chi Tak
CEO

Hong Kong, 17 June 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEEFWE DN

Production capacity of flavours and fragrances of major subsidiaries

as at 31 March 2011

REB-——FZA=Z+-RXEMBEARNEREHNNEL

(tons Mf)
Shanghai &
Huabao Kongque EEHE 4,500
Huabao Shanghai EE LY 3,000
Huashun Shanghai #E g 1,300
Shanghai Yinghua g 1,500
Jiangsu a3
Taicang Wenhua KRB XE 800
Wuxi Fuhua mRE 1,500
Wuxi Jiahua mHRE 1,200
Wuxi Huaxin mIGER 600
Wuxi Huahai EHER 500
Guangdong BR
Feijia Additive St ES 500
Guangdong Zhaoging BREE 1,000
Guangzhou Huabao BEINEE 4,000
Guangzhou Huafang/Owada BNES REE 2,000
Others Hit
F&G F&G 150
Huabao Hong Kong EEER 300
Qingdao Huabao E5EE 1,000
Qingdao Qingda 558K 650
Xiamen Amber EF93R I 800
Yunnan Huaxiangyuan ERERR 1,000
Yunnan Tianhong ERARE 2,500
Approximately
#
Total production capacity HBERE 28,800
Production capacity of reconstituted tobacco leaves of major subsidiaries, joint ventures and technical cooperation
as at 31 March 2011
RZE——F=A=1+—HFEMBLA  BE AR RKMEIE2 EEE 18 E ERE
(tons M&)
Guangdong linke - 55.375% ownership ERER — #H55.375% 10,000
Guangdong Jinye (under construction) — 100% ownership EBREE (88&F%) —#E100% 20,000
Huangguoshu Jinye (under construction) — 30% ownership HEREESE (B@Hh) —#HE30% 10,000
Hunan Jinye — 10% ownership HEESE —#FHF10% 10,000
Shanghai Tobacco Taichuang — 6.96% ownership FERAR —#H6.96% 10,000
China Tobacco Anhui (under construction) — technical cooperation ZERE (gdh) —BilieE 10,000

18

Total production capacity

Approximately
%

70,000
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Acquisitions completed during the reporting period

The Group remains committed to its development strategy by
combining organic growth plus M&A in carrying out consolidation
in the Chinese flavours and fragrances industry and upstream
businesses, which has reaped very good results. During the
reporting period, the Group completed the acquisitions of Yunnan
Huaxiangyuan and Guangdong Jinye Group and the establishment
of Yongzhou Shanxiang, making dynamic progress in implementing
the strategic plan of constructing an integrated core value chain.
As a result, the Group’s overall competitiveness has further been
enhanced.

Acquisition of Yunnan Huaxiangyuan - to develop
characteristic aromatic raw materials business and
construct an integrated core value chain

In September 2010, the Group entered into an agreement
with independent third parties, pursuant to which the Group
subscribed for 60% equity interest in Yunnan Huaxiangyuan at a
consideration of approximately HKD4,314,000 by way of capital
injection. In October 2010, the Group further proportionally injected
approximately HKD9,250,000 for expanding its production scale
and to elevate its production capacity. Yunnan Huaxiangyuan is
an enterprise incorporated in the PRC which is mainly engaged in
the production of natural flavouring oils, including eucalyptus oil,
citronella oil, wintergreen oil and geranium oil, etc, which are among
commonly used raw materials in the fragrances business. Yunnan
province is considered to be a main producer of these aromatic raw
materials in China and globally, it has its advantages in resources.
Its founding team has many years of extensive experience in the
industry.

The acquisition of Yunnan Huaxiangyuan is in line with Huabao’s
core strategies of ‘multi-pronged, focus growth’ and the construction
of an integrated core value chain, Xiamen Amber will then form a
structure of upstream-downstream alliance by utilizing combinations
of natural aromatic raw materials and products, which will greatly
improve the competitiveness and realizing rapid development in the
fragrances business.

Eucalyptus — mainly produced in southern China
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Completed the acquisition of Guangdong Jinye
Group - practically entered the RTL business

In November 2010, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement
with independent third parties and acquired 100% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinye Group at a consideration of HKD1,329,763,000.
The Group obtained control of Guangdong lJinye Group on 1
November 2010 and the acquisition was subsequently completed
in January 2011. Guangdong Jinye Group is one of the limited
designated production bases authorized by the State Tobacco
Monopoly Administration specializing in the manufacturing of
RTL and is also one of the largest RTL manufacturers in the PRC.
Established in 1999, Guangdong Jinye Group is one of the first
enterprises that engaged in the R&D, production and sale of RTL.
Guangdong Jinye Group is also a recognized enterprise technology
centre in Guangdong Province, it has accumulated and is in the
process of applying for over 10 patents. Currently it enjoys a
comparative technological and qualitative advantage in the R&D
and manufacturing of RTL in the PRC. Guangdong Jinye Group
established strategic partnerships with other leading tobacco groups
in the PRC by way of joint venture, and owns a major market share
in the domestic RTL market.

Integration has been progressing smoothly after the acquisition,
currently technical upgrades of Guangdong lJinke's 10,000-ton
capacity production line is underway, which will optimize product
quality and customer foundations. Moreover, the Group is in full
throttle in coordinating the second phase of the Guangdong lJinye
project, a 20,000-ton capacity production line. Such production line
is wholly owned by Huabao, and will be designed and constructed by
several seasoned technicians with years of international experience.
The design, hardware, and product quality of such production line
will be in line with international standards, making it one of the most
advanced production lines in the domestic RTL industry.

EREBRESEKEENWE - EEMHihE
ABEFR1THE

RZZF—TF+—HF  AEELEK1,329,763,000
THREEBYF = AF v s WEERGEE
E100% MM - AEBR = —ZTF+—H—HIW
BERSESENTH 2B EER - —F
—ARR - ERCESERVELRAREESE
BESHINEXENEEEFREEEM Y — -
EEANEBAMBEANEESRAERZ — - BRESE
EEXRTR—NANANF  EERERNREEEEH
W FEURBESEY — BERSEEED
REREGERNFL  RHAESRELREFNE
FIEBMBI10TE - LE AR NEE SR WA EMEESE
HAEBRMNBEMEBZNE SN - ZEEBRESZR
BHAARREEE@BERTEEDERKT BESIER
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Guangdong Jinye Group ER & i EE
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The management of Huabao are of the view that with
implementation of the new standard for tar content in China’s
tobacco industry in the next few years, the field of new materials
for cigarettes, which is represented by RTL, will face tremendous
development. Guangdong Jinye Group holds a substantial share in
the current domestic RTL market. Its major cooperation partners
— Tobacco Groups, are also key customers of the Group’s flavours
and fragrances business. The manufacturing and raw material
procurement of RTL requires a special license, thus raising the
industry entry barrier. The main reasons for this acquisition are to
provide the Group with a strategic platform for new materials in
cigarettes, substantially promote the development of the RTL project,
and grasp the business opportunity brought by the implementation
of low tar content and less harmful standards in the tobacco industry.
Based on Huabao’s leading position in the tobacco flavours business
and the advantages in developing new materials for cigarettes, the
management is confident in the upcoming integration of Guangdong
Jinye Group and it will bring good returns to our Shareholders!

Establishment of Yongzhou Shanxiang - another
strategic disposition for developing the upstream
aromatic raw materials business

In April 2011, the Group through its subsidiary established Yongzhou
Shanxiang with an independent third party, which the Group holds
67.1% equity interest. Yongzhou, located in the southwest of Hunan
Province with favourable natural conditions, is very suitable for the
growth of litsea cubeba, a natural aromatic raw material, and is the
main producing area of litsea cubeba oil, where its output accounts
for a leading position globally. In 2010, the General Administration
of Quality Supervision, Inspection and Quarantine of the PRC
implemented the geographical indications protection on litsea cubeba
oil in Yongzhou, further strengthened the advantageous position of
the litsea cubeba industry in Yongzhou.
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Litsea cubeba — its extract oil widely used in industrial,
food and daily products
IWES - RIREUREZANRIE  RAKEBAARZF

Yongzhou Shanxiang’s management team has extensive experience
in the industry and its target end users include globally leading food
and beverage enterprises. Establishment of Yongzhou Shanxiang is
another strategic deployment of the Group in building an integrated
core value chain. The new company will rely on the resources
of Yongzhou, fully capitalize our existing advantages in capital,
technology, market and brand, and gradually increase the efforts in
purchasing litsea cubeba oil. The new company will be committed to
technology development and products upgrade, and focus on fine
and further processing technology. It will also actively develop key
customer relationships and enhance the proportion of direct sales.
By utilizing the geographic advantages of Yongzhou, it will further
enhance the advantages of the natural aromatic raw materials
business in the district and become an international sizable natural
aromatic raw materials enterprise.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of Flavours Business

1.

Review of operating results

For the year ended 31 March 2011, sales revenue of
the flavours business amounted to HKD2,605,062,000,
representing an increase of about 13.7% from the
corresponding period last year. The EBIT ratio of the flavours
segment was approximately 70.5%, representing an increase
of approximately 4.2 percentage points as compared to
approximately 66.3% for the corresponding period last year;
EBITDA ratio increased from 68.8% for the corresponding
period last year to 72.9% this year. The growth rate in the
flavours business has slowed compared with last year, this
was mainly attributable to certain negative effects of the
industry and to the increasing base factor in the tobacco sector
revenue. Despite the above factors, the operating margin and
EBITDA margin of the segment still realized apparent growth,
representing an outstanding business operation.

In respect of the tobacco business, as the tobacco industry
entered into the post-consolidation era, cross-provincial
consolidation progress was slowed, and the growth of major
brands started to slow down due to a larger base. Adhering
to the strategy of ‘Big Customers, Big Brands’, the Group has
still achieved a growth rate higher than that of the tobacco
industry, with its market position further strengthened. In
respect of the food and beverage business, the Group adhered
to the development of natural and healthy products that
fitted local tastes, and provided product quality and taste
solutions for local major customers; moreover, it continued to
implement an overall strategy by fully leveraging its strengths
in having a nationwide network for the heavy development of
local small- and medium-sized customers and helping them to
constantly improve product quality. After several years of rapid
development, the Group has become one of the largest local
flavours and fragrances providers in China. The acquisitions of
Qingdao Qingda last year not only has extended the Group’s
production chain, provided quality upstream natural aromatic
raw materials for food and beverage products to successfully
cope with the inflationary pressures, but also has accelerated
their development through integrating natural raw materials
and flavours and fragrances. During the year, a series of safety
incidents regarding Chinese food and beverages has brought
a negative impact on the food additives industry. The Group
calmly dealt with the crisis by leveraging the strict quality
control system that it has established with efforts for many
years, won a good reputation in the industry and once again
achieved a sound growth.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% B

Management Discussion and Analysis
ST B 5 T AT
BIREN RO

EHOEE

RAEBREHERDE

1.

7

REEEOE
HE_Z——H=F=+—HIEE &2R%E
BEEREEWAZES T H%2,605,062,000
T REFRPEETH13.7% - RAERES
BHERBEBITRIZELT70.5% » BREFRHANL
66.3%%2m T #4218 F 5 B EBITDARE X
FHE8.8WIRAESFMT2.9% - RABTKE
BOEERAERREREFEMME  £2
AR —ETEEMTFIREZARZEREK
AEHERANTE - BEWOY - RENEER
FEREBITDARMAEIR THAMIEA - &
WP o

EERERIE  BEEETREAREAR
R BEBAEREE TERENERR
EREHBAMMARRE  AEEEF AT
FoRmig R - MAERTSREEST
HEHPERAE - MIHHALE— IR - ERMA
MEBEBTE  NEBEEFABRRAR - 2
B AMORMER » SAMAFEFEREER
mE -~ ORMBRS R BT BERM
2ENBREBANBRALFH/NES - BB
HETERSEMNMENERER - KBBE
EEMNREER  CERATELRLERANE
REMEER . — - ZFEHBEEETNE—S
FEfRERE - NMERARMMAKK HEHEME
HTEEN LHRATRE - KIEY T &K
MWE7 - EEERARHMMERERNES
MREBREE - FA DERZKHNH—FK
L 2ERHRMANITESRT —ENEE
TR AEBEBESFESNELERN—ER
DEEMERA  NAEHEH  RETEA
RIFBE  BRERTRRMNEE -

FIZARBR/AR] » 2010-2011 Annual Report ¥R 23



.
=

B

24

Management Discussion and Analysis

R RS

To cope with the Group’s rapid growth in business, since
last year, the Group has been considering setting up a
comprehensive production and R&D base in Jiangxi province to
further enhance its efficiency, reduce management costs and to
improve business efficiency. In April 2011, the Group decided
on Yingtan city of Jiangxi province after extensive due diligence
and negotiation. The establishment of such a comprehensive
base will help lay a solid foundation towards rapid growth of
the Group in the next round of business development.

Last year was the first year of the Group’s era of innovation
and the Group achieved wonderful results with each of its
subsidiaries proactively launching innovative activities as well
as their good daily operations. Guangzhou Huafang and
Owada obtained the Self-innovation Award of Guangzhou
and held the first seminar on the project of standards in the
tobacco flavours sector, also Yunnan Tianhong Technology
Center was recognized as a provincial technology center in
Yunnan province. Wuxi Jiahua and Wuxi Fuhua both obtained
innovation and excellent product awards. Inventions of Huabao
Shanghai, ‘Preparation method of cacao flavour, resulting
products and their application’, ‘Cellulose mint derivatives and
its preparation method and applications’, ‘Preparation method
for black tea flavour using black tea as the raw material, black
tea flavour obtained hereby and its use in cigarettes’ and
‘Nano-microcapsule emulsion of lycorine hydrochloride and its
preparation method’ were admitted as state patents. Huabao
Shanghai also won the fifth Shanghai incubated Enterprise
Innovation award, the silver prize of advanced manufacturers in
Jiading district, Shanghai, and the second prize of technology
progress award for 2010. At the Ringier Technology Innovation
Awards of the food and beverage industry for 2010 convened
in Shanghai, the cream flavouring agent developed by Huabao
Konggue won the technological award for flavours enhancer of
food and beverage ingredients. In September, Huabao Kongque
was once again awarded as one of the '‘Dinye Cup 2009-10
Top Ten of China Food Industry’ of China. The brand ‘Xinghu’
of Guangdong Zhaoging continued to be recognized as a
‘Guangdong Famous Trademark’. Qingdao Qingda obtained
high-tech certification. Wuxi Huaxin was awarded in the first
batch of 'Quality Credit Enterprise Grade A’ in Jiangxu province.
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Major financial indicators of flavours

RABRENZEIEMKER

HKD thousand BT T
EBIT EBIT

EBIT rate EBITZ
EBITDA EBITDA
EBITDA rate EBITDAZR

2011 2010
1,837,579 1,519,994
70.5% 66.3%
1,899,273 1,577,208
72.9% 68.8%

Recent developments and prospects of the downstream 2.

sectors
a. Recent developments in the tobacco industry

We note that China is the world’s largest cigarette
consuming country, accounting for approximately one-
third of the total annual consumption in the world. China
has approximately 350 million smokers, consuming over
2.2 trillion sticks of cigarettes each year. In recent years,
China’s tobacco industry has been growing steadily and
reflected several characteristics:

Firstly, the total sales volume of the tobacco industry
has maintained a steady growth at an annual CAGR of
around 3-4% since 2002;

Secondly, Chinese style cigarettes made up a substantial
proportion of the total consumption, while imported
cigarettes only accounted for approximately 0.1% of the
market share in the PRC over the previous years (Source:
Euromonitor);

Thirdly, with the steady improvement in the living
standards of Chinese residents, the demand for high-
end consumer products has been growing gradually,
CAGR of sales in the tobacco industry has remained at
approximately 7-8% since 2002. Of these sales, there is
a rapid increase in the demand for middle to high-end
premium cigarettes; and

Fourthly, the tobacco industry continues to play a
significant role in the Chinese economy, contributing
industrial and commercial profit tax of approximately
RMB604.6 billion in 2010, and representing an increase
of approximately 17.8% from RMB513.1 billion of the
previous year. (Source: TobaccoChina Online)
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Tobacco industry will enter the post-consolidation era,
consolidation has gradually slowed down

Since 2005 the Chinese tobacco industry has entered
into the era of consolidation. In 2008, the consolidation
evolved into a new stage in which cross-provincial
and large scale industrial restructuring took place and
cigarette brand concentration enhanced substantially. The
market share of the top ten cigarette brands in terms of
sales volume has increased by more than 50% over the
course of the ‘Eleventh Five-Year Plan’, and the top ten
cigarette brands in terms of sales revenue have posted a
rapid double-digit growth in CAGR.

The China National Tobacco Corporation has proposed
that the quality of cigarettes must attain a higher
standard in 2010 and that key brands will be further
cultivated. The ‘532" and ‘461" targets”
the direction of development for tobacco brands under
Looking back to
2010, the premium brands of cigarettes continue to
prevail in the market and sustained a sound growth
momentum, despite the gaining of market share of the
top ten cigarette brands has slowed and as far as we

were set as

the current ‘Twelfth Five-Year Plan’.

are aware there has not been a case of cross-provincial
consolidation in the past year. Based on the above, we
believe that China’s tobacco industry will enter into a
post-consolidation era, continuously giving rise to higher
degrees of concentration and trading up of brands in
the industry, though the consolidation speed has been
slowing down due to the increasing base and slowing
down in progress of cross-provincial consolidation.

The Chinese government strengthened the requlation of
the tobacco industry

The management noticed that the Chinese government
introduced a series of new smoking control measures,
including the strengthening of control of smoking areas,
boosting tar and harm reduction, and implemented new
standards including maximum tar content. According to
the ‘Twelfth Five-Year Plan’ for the tobacco industry, in
the next few years, regulation on the new tar content will
continue to be the major trend in the tobacco industry. In
view of international economically-developed countries,
smoking control may impose its effect on spending
behaviour in a long run. The Group has established a
very good reputation in the domestic tobacco industry
and has been paying close attention to related regulatory

b.
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matters, and proactively complementing the government’s
policy with respect to the direction of the regulations
going forward. During the year, the Group hosted a
series of industry-related seminars; in the future, the
management will continue to pay close attention on the
latest developments in this area and capture development
opportunities.

d.  The food and beverage industry enters consolidation and
adjustment stage

Since the previous year, the food and beverage industry is
shocked by its numerous safety incidents and problems,
which has caused great concern from society as well
as the regulating bodies and sparked another round of
industry integration. Some small and medium food and
beverage enterprises are forced to withdraw from the
market, imposing a negative impact on related industry
chains. On the other hand, during this disturbance,
the food additives industry has taken a toll to a certain
extent. As a result, growth in flavours and fragrances
industry has slowed down. The management considered
that such unfavourable factor, in near future, will linger
and will also cast a negative impact on the Group.
However, in the longer prospect, this is a stage to endure
before the whole industry becomes more centralized
and more sophisticated. As such, it will not affect
management’s optimistic view about the Chinese food
and beverage industry in the long run.

(1 '532" means to have 5 major cigarette brands producing over 2
million Cases each per year, 3 major brands producing over 3 million
Cases each, and 2 substantially bigger brands producing over 5 million
master Cases each during the Twelfth Five-Year plan. ‘461" means to
have 6 major cigarette brands achieving over RMB40 billion in sales
revenue each per year, 4 major brands achieving over RMB60 billion
each, and 1 substantially bigger brand achieving over RMB100 billion.
(Sources for the above: TobaccoChina Online)

Development strategy for the flavours business
a. Tobacco sector

- To speed up the construction of the comprehensive
production and R&D base in Jiangxi province, to
further elevate operation efficiency;

- To continuously pursue the ‘Big Customers, Big
Brands’ development strategy and capitalize on the
industry consolidation to capture greater market
share; and

Huabao International Holdings Limited
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To fully utilize joint laboratories setup with major
customers, and step up comprehensive and
technological cooperation with leading players in
the tobacco industry, and continuously discovering
new growth points.

b. Food and beverage sector

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BB {22 &

To continue to expand into natural aromatic raw
material business in order to construct an integrated
core value chain: on one hand, to strengthen raw
material suppliers network, gradually establish
pricing power on certain special and premium
quality raw materials; on the other hand to fully
leverage on the Group’s advantages in technology,
further expand its refining capability, and increase
its product quality;

To fully utilize the market recognition and network
advantages of the brand, utilizing the upstream
advantages of Qingdao Qingda and Yongzhou
Shanxiang, to provide our local customers with
comprehensive product solutions using premium
natural aromatic raw materials complemented
by personalized flavours products, realizing rapid
growth;

To speed up the capacity expansion of Guangdong
Zhaoging and Qingdao Qingda, securing the next
stage of development;

To increase spending on R&D and bring in
international top-notch R&D personnel to
continuously upgrade the R&D standards of our
products; and

To ensure food safety and prevent food hazards

by focusing on food security, and to seize business
opportunities in this aspect.
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Review of Fragrances Business

1.

Review of operating results

For the year ended 31 March 2011, sales revenue of the
fragrances business amounted to HKD160,352,000, increased
by approximately 112.4% from the previous year, and
operating profit amounted to HKD30,632,000, increased by
approximately 64.1% from the previous year. EBIT margin
reached approximately 19.1%, which recorded a rebound
from approximately 16.9% from first half this year. Since the
acquisition of Xiamen Amber by the Group in May 2008, the
fragrances sector has achieved gradual improvement in both
revenue and operating efficiency for three consecutive years,
fully displaying the Group’s effective integration synergy of
Xiamen Amber.

Xiamen Amber acquired controlling interest in Yunnan
Huaxiangyuan by way of capital injection in September 2010.
Yunnan Huaxiangyuan is an enterprise incorporated in the PRC
and mainly engaged in the production of natural flavouring
oils, including eucalyptus oil,
and geranium oil, etc.,
raw materials in the fragrances business. Yunnan province
is considered to be one of the main producers of these
raw materials in China and globally, it has its advantages in
resources.

citronella oil, wintergreen oil,
which are among commonly used

Its founding team has many years of extensive
experience in the industry. The acquisition of Yunnan
Huaxiangyuan is in line with Huabao's core strategies of ‘multi-
pronged, focus growth’ and the construction of an integrated
core value chain, it will team up with Xiamen Amber to form
an upstream-downstream alliance, utilizing combinations of
raw materials and products, which will greatly improve the
competitiveness and speed of development in the fragrances
business. During the year, Xiamen Amber garnered numerous
awards and recognitions with its outstanding operating results.
In April 2011, Xiamen Amber won the title of the Most
Potential Small and Medium-sized Entity for the third straight
year.
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Major financial indicators of fragrances

HRAERERZIENBER

HKD thousand BETT 2011 2010

EBIT EBIT 30,632 18,669

EBIT rate EBITE 19.1% 24.7%

EBITDA EBITDA 33,173 20,924

EBITDA rate EBITDAX 20.7% 27.7%
Huabao International Holdings Limited = BIFX{EARBR AR » 2010-2011 Annual Report F# 29




Management Discussion and Analysis

’;ET l ‘III DTE?F /1; //}
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Development strategy for the fragrances business

- To fully utilize Xiamen Amber as a platform and the
robust composite R&D capability of the Group’s State-
recognized technology centre and overseas R&D centre,
specializing in expanding and developing localized
products and business, continue to heavily develop in the
field of aromatic and detergent products, and step up the
development of new products such as shampoo, foam
bath and air fresheners as well as the penetration of new
customers;

- To establish a fragrances pavilion, combining culture,
trend, meaning and profile into products, realizing
Huabao’s design rationale, enlightening a new path in
development for customers;

- To capitalize on the upstream advantages of Yunnan
Huaxiangyuan, to further explore the market with
comprehensive quality solutions using premium natural
aromatic raw materials complemented by personalized
flavours products; and

- To seek opportunities for M&As and identify the right
opportunity to acquire and merge with those enterprises
whose products and markets are complementary with
the Group, to further explore and increase development
in the upstream aromatic raw materials business and
premium fragrances products.

Review of RTL Business

1.

30

Review of operating results

For the five months ended 31 March 2011, the Group’s RTL
sales revenue reached HK$86,759,000, while EBIT ratio reached
approximately 17.2%, EBITDA ratio reached approximately
33.5%, which are in line with management’s target. In
November 2010, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement with independent third parties and acquired 100%
equity interest in Guangdong Jinye Group at a consideration of
HK$1,329,763,000. The Group obtained control of Guangdong
Jinye Group on 1 November 2010 and the acquisition was
subsequently completed in January 2011. Guangdong Jinye
Group is one of the limited designated production bases
authorized by the State Tobacco Monopoly Administration
specializing in the manufacturing of RTL and is also one of
the largest RTL manufacturers in the PRC. Currently it enjoys
a comparative technological and qualitative advantage in the
R&D and manufacturing of RTL in the PRC.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BIEIZR AR A
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Chinese style cigarettes contain an apparently higher level
of tar content than the standards prescribed by developed
countries. In 2010, the average tar content per cigarette in
China was approximately 11.7 mg, while the tar content of
major cigarette brands in Europe and US was normally below
8 mg per cigarette and that of major cigarette brands in
Japan was below 5 mg per cigarette. The Chinese government
introduced new regulations governing tar content in 2010,
pursuant to which the tar content per cigarette shall not
exceed 12 mg from 1 January 2011, and the tar content per
cigarette shall be further reduced to less than 10 mg from
1 January 2015 (sources: Tobacco Science & Technology).
The application of RTL not only can effectively lower the tar
content, it also helps to sustain the original taste profile of the
brand. Although the application of RTL has been widely used
by the international tobacco industry, there is still gap in the
application of RTL produced within the domestic industry and
those of international competitors due to the overall technical
constraint as it was introduced to the Chinese market relatively
recently. The State Tobacco Monopoly Administration has
placed the development of RTL in its ‘Twelfth Five-Year Plan’
among others. The above mentioned new industry measures
including the development plan from the government have
greatly clarified the development of RTL and sped up its
timetable. The Management believes the China RTL industry
will be entering a robust development stage in the next few
years.

Guangdong Jinye Group holds a substantial share in the
current domestic RTL market. Its major cooperation partners —
Tobacco Groups, are also key customers of the Group's flavours
and fragrances business. The manufacturing and raw material
procurement of RTL requires a special license, thus raising the
industry entry barrier. The main reasons for this acquisition are
to provide the Group with a strategic platform of new materials
for cigarettes, substantially promote the development of the

Management Discussion and Analysis
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RTL project, and grasp the business opportunity brought by the
implementation of low tar content and less harmful standards
in the tobacco industry.

The integration following the acquisition is running smoothly.
The 10,000-ton production line of Guangdong lJinke is
currently undergoing technical upgrade, which shall greatly
improve product quality and customer foundations. The
second phase of Guangdong Jinye project, i.e. the construction
of a production line of 20,000 tons for RTL, is currently
being carried out aggressively. Management is confident in
delivering on schedule and completing the second phase of
the Guangdong Jinye project in high quality and put into
operation. The Group also signed a technical service agreement
with China Tobacco Anhui, to jointly construct a 10,000-ton
capacity RTL production line during the year. The Group will be
providing comprehensive technical support for the production
line’s hardware design, operation, and staff development.
Moreover, the establishment work of Guizhou Huangguoshu
project is underway. Currently, the Group owns and in part of a
total of 70,000-ton capacity of RTL production lines, Huabao's
professional capability in the RTL field is not only being
recognized, its industry leading position is also in formation.
Moreover, Guangdong Jinye received a State-recognized patent
for its ‘A Method of Regulating and Controlling the Nicotine
Content in Tobacco Extracts’, ‘A Method of Reducing Extracted
Liquid Pectin in the making of Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves’
was accepted by the State Intellectual Property Office; and
‘Research and Development of Effluent Treatment Technology
During the Production of Reconstituted Tobacco with Paper
Making Method’ won the First Prize of Science and Technology
Progress Award given by Guangdong Tobacco Monopoly
Bureau. By leveraging on Huabao’s leading position in the
tobacco flavours industry and its advantages in developing new
materials for cigarettes, the management is confident in the
upcoming integration of Guangdong Jinye Group, which will
bring good returns to our Shareholders!
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Major financial indicators of RTL

BEER 2 FTERKIEE

HKD thousand BT T
EBIT EBIT

EBIT rate EBITX
EBITDA EBITDA
EBITDA rate EBITDAXR

BE-_ZE——H=A=+—HLEMEA
For the five months ended 31 March 2011

14,905
17.2%
29,062
33.5%
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2. Development strategy for the RTL business:

- To ensure the Guangdong Jinye second phase 20,000-ton
production line can be completed in high quality;

- To further elevate the Group’s reputation in the RTL
industry, to further strengthen comprehensive strategic
cooperation with domestic tobacco groups;

- To utilize major laboratories setup jointly with key
customers, to proactively develop other new cigarette
materials, to provide customers with comprehensive
solutions and new growth points; and

- To pay attention to domestic and international
development in RTL and related areas, realizing rapid
growth through organic growth and M&A.

Review of R&D

The R&D capability of a flavours and fragrances company reflects
its overall strength. After continuous investment, the Group has
set up a leading R&D team which is top-notch in China and up to
international standards. The State-recognized technology centre,
the overseas R&D centre in Germany and the professional R&D
departments in Yunnan, Guangdong and Fujian together formed
a vertically integrated platform for R&D in areas ranging from
fundamental research to application. The R&D strategy of the Group
is market-driven so as to closely follow the latest global industry
trends and to accelerate the mastering of technologies in key raw
materials. With such strengths, the Group is able to develop products
and technologies that meet market demands, deliver comprehensive
technical services to customers and remain dedicated to maximizing
value for clients, while the Group’s overall competitiveness is greatly
elevated.

During the year, the Group also established a joint key laboratory
with China Tobacco Hunan. This laboratory is the first joint laboratory
established between China Tobacoo Hunan and other enterprises,
demonstrating a cooperation of higher standards upon the basis
of continued cooperation for the coming years. The establishment
of this joint laboratory will further enhance the technical resources
advantage in areas including product development, flavours and
fragrances, and RTL; and will accelerate innovation, strengthen the
sharing and transformation of results, and will address the technical
difficulties constraining China Tobacco Hunan and the tobacco
industry. The Group was host to some industry research seminars,
such as the ‘Sensory Evaluation Methodology of Chinese cigarettes’
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held by Huabao Shanghai; the ‘Tobacco Flavours Standardization
Forum’ held by Guangzhou Huafang; and Wuxi Huahai was
recognized as Jiangsu Province Flavours and Fragrances production
and R&D centre. In addition, last year was the commencing year
of the Group's innovation year, during the year the subsidiaries of
the Group actively promoted innovative work, and in turn received
various innovation awards.

Increase input to build an internationalized R&D
team

The Group has been continuously increasing input into R&D in order
to achieve a top-notch R&D team in the industry and to sustain
a long-term R&D advantage. The Group’s R&D cost amounted to
HKD121,542,000 for the current year, representing approximately
4.3% of sales revenue, compared with approximately 3.5% of
corresponding period last year. During the year, the Group invested in
a batch of high-precision equipment and tools, securing the Group’s
next stage of development. Furthermore, Huabao has emphasized
the internationalization of its talented staff. Over the years, Huabao
has embarked on setting up an internationalized R&D team, whose
R&D capability is directly in line with advanced international levels.
The Group closely monitors changes in the human resources
market and is keen on building a diversified and internationalized
team. Currently, the Group employs a total of more than 300 R&D
personnel in various aspects, assembling a respectable team with
strong R&D capabilities.

Quality control

In recent years, the issue of food safety in the food and beverage
industry has become increasingly important. The new Food Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China was promulgated in June
2009, setting out higher requirements for all players in the food
industry and further raising the industry safety standards. The Group
has always been concerned about product quality and food safety. All
major subsidiaries of the Group have obtained quality certifications
from both domestic and international institutions. In recent years,
the Group has increased efforts and spending on establishing and
implementing a set of stringent control procedures as an aggressive
move to align with high international standards. A set of strict
quality control systems for raw materials procurement, production
and finished products has been established. Especially on the raw
materials procurement front, the Group has increased input in order
to ensure the raw material sources are qualified suppliers and are in
line with international advanced standards.
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During the year, the Group invested in a batch of high-precision
equipment and tools to make sure quality control is in place. Among
which, the Ultra-Performance Liquid Triple-quadruple Tandem Mass
Spectrometer, the imported Automatic Gas Chromatograph Device,
and the imported Cigarette Device are of advanced international
standards. In order to implement new food safety standards, the
State Administration of Quality Supervision deployed research
teams to Beijing, Shanghai and some other districts in July last
year, to conduct research on leading enterprises in the additives
industry and to seek their advice. The Group was honored to
be the model research unit chosen in Shanghai and took part in
the simulated review. During the year, the Group convened the
meeting on Joint Experimentation on Testing Technical Indicators
of Tobacco Flavours, to discuss the issues of testing indicators,
sample provision, experiment methodology, and other topics and
to determine the final experiment scheme. The meeting provided a
good start for subsequent works of the project team, demonstrated
the development direction of quality control in subsidiaries of the
Group and further ensured improvement in our product quality.
Furthermore, during the year, all subsidiaries vigorously conducted
safety and fire drills, with a view to eliminate production safety risks.

Affected by a string of food and beverage safety issues recently, the
food additives industry will be affected negatively in accordance.
The Group will continue to increase input in management of both
product quality and its quality control in order to eliminate any
potential problems, to fully embrace the business opportunities
brought by the next round of industry consolidation and elimination.
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Human Resources And Corporate Culture
Construction

The Group remained committed to corporate culture construction
and established a clear vision, as well as a common goal for all
employees, of combining corporate development and individual
growth to achieve common development of the Company and its
employees. For years adhering to its core value of ‘client first’ to
maximize client values, the Group also constituted a code of conduct
for each employee on the basis of this concept. The Group organized
corporate culture promotion activities, including articles and speeches
delivered by the management, publication of Huabao Monthly and
essay competitions. The Group enriched employees’ leisure time
through various recreational and sports activities including sports
contests and outward bound training to reinforce cohesion of
Huabao people and their sense of identity.

The Group placed substantial emphasis on talent training. The Group
stepped up its efforts in creating a scientific and flexible management
environment and institutional mechanism in terms of policy, system
and culture development, empowering each employee to make full
use of his expertise and specialties and maintaining a joint force in
its staff to create more value for the Group. The Group established
a sound training scheme for its reserve talents on the basis of
external recruitment. The selection procedures applied to reserve
talents include five stages, namely public nomination and selection,
work units review, verification by headquarter, approval and result
announcement. Reserve talents management mainly comprises
regular inspection, dynamic adjustment, training and profile
management. Through its annual examination and assessment on
reserve talents, the result of which is recorded into personal profile,
the Group will promote those with excellent appraisal performance
and eliminate those with unsatisfactory results. During inspection
period, reserve talents are under direct coaching and supervision of
mentors. The Group organizes reserve talents selection and review
every year to guarantee healthy and orderly development of reserve
talents. The continuous construction of our talent team guarantees
new momentum for corporate expansion and development.

The Group established a multi-level comprehensive staff training
system, comprising special training programs for middle to high level
employees, intensive training for reserve talents, as well as business
skills and industrial know-how coaching for front-line staff. External
experts, internal management and professionals were invited to act
as program trainers. Through these successive training programs,
the initiatives of employees were mobilized while their professional
knowledge and technical competency were enhanced.
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As at 31 March 2011, the Group employed a total of 1,869
employees in the PRC, Hong Kong, Germany and Botswana,
representing an increase of 553 employees from 1,316 employees
of last year. The labour costs of the year (including pension
costs) amounted to HKD149,082,000, representing an increase
of HKD20,585,000 from HKD128,497,000 for the previous year.
For details, please refer to Note 24 of the consolidated financial
statements headed under ‘Employment Benefit Expenses’. The
increase in the labour costs was primarily attributable to the
expansion of business area, hike of product and living standards in
China and the Group’s input in human resources. The Group has
launched a share option scheme as an incentive to those employees
and directors who have made significant contributions to the
business development of the Group. For the period from year 2006
to 2008, the Group granted share options to 79 persons including
directors, senior management, technical and business executives.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31
March 2011

Sales revenue

The Group’s sales revenue amounted to HKD2,852,173,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2011, representing an increase of about 20.5%
as compared with HKD2,366,403,000 for the corresponding period
last year. The rapid growth in sales revenue was mainly attributable
to a substantial increase in the sales of flavours, fragrances and
RTL. For the year ended 31 March 2011, sales revenue from flavours
increased by about 13.7% to HKD2,605,062,000, contributing
about 91.3% of total sales revenue; sales revenue from fragrances
increased approximately 112.4% to HKD160,352,000, contributing
about 5.6% of total sales revenue; and sales revenue from RTL
amounted to HKD86,759,000, contributing about 3.1% of total sales
revenue.

Cost of goods sold

The Group’s cost of goods sold amounted to HKD731,714,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2011, representing an increase of about
26.3% as compared with HKD579,568,000 for the corresponding
period last year. The percentage increase in cost of goods sold being
slightly higher than the percentage increase in sales revenue was
mainly attributable to the decrease in gross profit margin.
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Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit of the Group increased from HKD1,786,835,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2010 to HKD2,120,459,000 for the year ended
31 March 2011,
gross profit margin of the Group slightly decreased from 75.5%

representing an increase of about 18.7%, while
of the last financial year. The decrease in gross profit was mainly
attributable to the adjustment of the segment revenue mix. During
the reporting period, inflationary pressure within China remained
strong, management took a series of effective countermeasures
in a decisive manner, including increasing the stock of certain raw
materials which were to be affected by inflation. Meanwhile, thanks
to the increasing efforts in vertical integration as well as heavy
development in the natural aromatic raw materials business, the
influence on gross profit margin of the Group by inflation of raw
materials was kept to a limited level and its gross profit margin
remained stable as a whole.

Other income

Other income of the Group was HKD122,675,000 for the year ended
31 March 2011, representing an increase of HKD86,438,000 as
compared with HKD36,237,000 for the year ended 31 March 2010.
The increase in other income was mainly attributable to appreciation
of RMB to HKD and increase in local government grants.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group mainly comprised
of travelling expenses, transportation costs, salaries and office
expenses. The selling and marketing expenses of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2011 were HKD81,040,000, representing an
increase of about 10.9% as compared with HKD73,057,000 for the
corresponding period last year. Selling and marketing expenses to
total sales revenue during the period under review amounted to
approximately 2.8% and 3.1% respectively, representing a decrease
of approximately 0.3 percentage point. The decrease in the ratio
of selling and marketing expenses to sales revenue was mainly
attributable to higher efficiency and economies of scale.
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Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses amounted to HKD290,388,000
for the year ended 31 March 2011, representing an increase of
approximately 24.5% as compared with HKD233,326,000 for the
corresponding period last year. Administrative expenses to total sales
revenue during the current financial year amounted to approximately
10.2%, representing an increase of approximately 0.3 percentage
point as compared with 9.9% for the corresponding period last
year. Among the total sales revenue during the current financial
year, R&D expenses amounted to approximately 4.3%, an increase
of approximately 0.8 percentage point compared with last year. The
increase in administrative expenses and the ratio of administrative
expenses to total sales revenue was mainly attributable to the
increase in R&D expenses, number of employee and price levels.

Operating profit

Operating profit of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011
was HKD1,871,706,000, representing an increase of approximately
23.4% as compared with HKD1,516,689,000 for the corresponding
period last year, while the operating profit margin reached 65.6%,
increased by 1.5 percentage points compared with last year. The
increase in operating profit margin is mainly attributable to the
decrease in ratio of selling and marketing expenses to sales revenue
of the reporting period and increase in other income.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011
was HKD249,256,000, which increased substantially as compared
with HKD162,236,000 for the corresponding period last year, with
the income tax rates approximately 13.3% and approximately 10.6%
respectively. The substantial increase in the income tax expenses
was mainly attributable to the growth of profit and the increase in
income tax rate of certain PRC subsidiaries due to the expiration of
their preferential tax periods (two-year exemption and three-year
half rate); the latter represents the main factor in the increase of the
income tax expenses during this year.

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 March 2011, the net current asset value of the Group was
HKD1,649,351,000 (2010: HKD1,998,156,000). The Group generates
its working capital mainly through its operating activities to maintain
a sound financial position. The Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HKD1,676,410,000 (2010: HKD1,678,640,000), over
98% of which was held in RMB. The Group neither held any forex
hedging products nor structured investment products or financial
derivatives.
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Bank borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had bank borrowings of
HKD743,562,000, of which HKD740,000,000 is clean loan with
interest calculated based on HK dollars inter-banks borrowings rate
and is due within 1 year. The average annual interest rate was 2.08%
(2010: 1.63%) for the year ended 31 March 2011. As at 31 March
2011, the Group’'s gearing ratio (total borrowings, include current
and non-current borrowings, divided by total equity (excludes non-
controlling interests)) was about 14.8% (2010: 6.6%).

Investing activities

The Group's investing activities were mainly incurred for the purchase
of fixed assets and the strategically developed strategies for M&As.
For the year ended 31 March 2011, the net cash used in investing
activities amounted to HKD1,134,580,000, mainly incurred for the
acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group and capital injection into
associates. For the year ended 31 March 2010, the net cash used in
investing activities amounted to HKD357,650,000.

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the net cash used in financing
activities amounted to HKD361,183,000, mainly used for dividend
distribution to shareholders. For the year ended 31 March 2010, the
net cash used in financing activities amounted to HKD476,591,000.

Debtors’ turnover period

Debtors’ turnover period is calculated on the basis of the average
amount of trade receivables as at the beginning and end of a
relevant financial year divided by the total sales revenue for the
corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with, the customers. For the year ended 31
March 2011, the Group’s average debtors’ turnover period was 74
days, representing an increase of 3 days as compared with 71 days
for the last financial year ended 31 March 2010, was mainly a result
of adjustment of trade receivables to certain customers.
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Creditors’ turnover period

Creditors’ turnover period is calculated on the basis of the average
amount of trade payables as at the beginning and the end of a
relevant financial year divided by the cost of goods sold for the
corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit periods
granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days. For
the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group’s average creditors’
turnover period was 133 days, representing an increase of 12 days
as compared with 121 days for the last financial year ended 31
March 2010. The increase in creditors’ turnover period was mainly
attributable to the increased inventory of certain raw materials and
to the extension of trade payables to certain suppliers.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s inventory balance amounted to
HKD467,961,000 (2010: HKD235,294,000). For the year ended 31
March 2011, the inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis
of the average amount of inventory balances as at the beginning and
end of a relevant financial year divided by the total cost of goods
sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days) was
173 days, representing an increase of 34 days as compared with 139
days for the last financial year. The increase in inventory and longer
inventory turnover period for the year was a result of the further
expansion of the Group’s scale and increase in inventory of certain
raw materials that were affected by inflation.

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland China
and the majority of the sales revenue is denominated in RMB, only
a certain amount of imported raw materials and equipment are
settled in foreign currency such as USD or EUR. There is insignificant
pressure for the depreciation of RMB and thus the Group’s exposure
to exchange rate risk is relatively low.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2011, the secured bank loan of the Group amounted
to RMB3,000,000.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had capital commitments in respect
of the purchase of property, plant and equipment contracted for but
not provided in the financial statements amounting to approximately
HKD74,716,000 (2010: HKD4,234,000).

Contingent liabilities

According to the information available to the Board, the Group had
no contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2011.

Huabao International Holdings Limited
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLANS

Firstly, with flavours and fragrances as its core, the Group will
diversify into business of new materials for cigarettes, which is
represented by the RTL, and further develop upstream natural
aromatic raw materials area. In tobacco related fields, the Group will
use the ‘Twelfth Five-Year Plan’ and its development targets of ‘532’
and ‘461" as an opportunity to further improve its industry position
in the tobacco flavours market. Meanwhile, the Group will spare no
effort in the development of its RTL business; at this time the Group
will pursue the growing market of reduced tar content and harm.
The long term strategy of the Group, i.e. pursue the strategy of
‘Big customers, Big brands’, remains unchanged. We expect growth
momentum in our existing flavours and fragrances business will be
sustained. On the RTL side, the implementation of the second phase
of the expansion project of Guangdong Jinye and startups of other
RTL related projects will see rapid growth in development.

In the food and beverage field, the Group fully integrated the
advantages of upstream natural aromatic raw materials, adhered
to the development of natural, healthy and tasty local products,
and provided product quality and taste solutions for local major
customers; moreover, it continued to implement an overall strategy
by fully leveraging its strengths in having a nationwide network for
the heavy development of local small- and medium-sized customers
and helping them to constantly improve product quality. Certainly,
the management expected that the recent food safety disturbance
and the new industry standards would still have certain negative
impact on relevant industries. As one of the largest local flavours
and fragrances enterprises, the management is confident to address
these challenges and seize the opportunities brought from further
industrial adjustment.
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In the aromatic raw materials sector, Huabao has continued with
its commitment to the strategic development of the upstream
aromatic raw materials business to create an integrated core value
chain and enhance its overall competitiveness. The establishment of
the bases of Wuxi Huahai and Botswana‘'s F&G and the successful
acquisitions of Qingdao Qingda and Yunnan Huaxiangyuan as well
as the establishment of Yongzhou Shanxiang, have greatly elevated
the Group’s status in the integrated core value chain, as well as its
capability in countering risks. Furthermore, by utilizing premium
upstream raw materials as a platform and combining it with the
Group's advantages in flavours and fragrances business, products’
quality and competitive advantages will be further elevated. The
Group's core business in flavours and fragrances is further improved.
Moreover, these upstream raw material bases also enabled the
Group to obtain significant market share of certain important
upstream natural aromatic raw materials. In the next step, the Group
will continue to accelerate the development of the aromatic raw
materials segment, further elevating the Group’s overall competitive
advantages and pushing for the formation of an integrated core
value chain.

The Chinese consumer products market is advancing to a higher level,
consumers will demand for higher product taste and quality, with a
tendency towards more natural products. This trend will inevitably
lead to a significant increase in the value of per capita consumption
of flavours and fragrances. From a long-term perspective, the global
flavours and fragrances business will gradually shift its focus to Asia;
the integrated core value chain will enable Huabao to possess a
more natural, greener and healthier product system, thereby firmly
capturing the opportunities of industrial upgrade to achieve greater
development. The use of RTL will reduce the harm of cigarette
products, and its production mainly uses tobacco waste as raw
material; food and beverage products will be more natural and
healthier with the development of upstream natural aromatic raw
materials of the Group. The management believes the Group’s future
growth will be greener and healthier.

In regards to capital market, in recent years, the financing platform
for China domestic capital market has drawn increasing attentions.
In order to broaden its financing platform and increase Huabao’s
brand awareness, the Group, in line with its domestic business
development, is now seeking advice with professional parties to
carry out operation plans on platforms for China domestic capital
markets. Up to date, the Group has not formulated any final opinion
or concrete plans. However, it will consider both the interest of its
shareholders and the development of its business and will make

public the related progress, if applicable.
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In respect of M&A, the Group will continue to focus on the
strategy of ‘multi-pronged, focus growth’, building a new business
development platform through M&A and accelerate the development
of existing core businesses. In the past several years, the Group has
successfully carried out several M&As differing in size and has set
up a team with strong M&A implementation, effective integration
measures and strict internal control. In the future, the Group will
remain focused on domestic targets and proactively pay attention to
M&A opportunities overseas to further enhance its own technological
strength and product development capabilities. The Group will
achieve faster development by fully leveraging its financial strength
and relying on the Chinese market.

The previous three-year business development plan was successfully
completed. The development direction for the next few years is very
clear, with the foundation already laid. The management has already
entered the execution stage to ensure the next step of development
targets will be met. The Management remains confident in Huabao's
future, in creating more value for shareholders!

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the global economy is in the midst of a long
recovery period, and the future growth of China’s economy will be
slowed as well. Against such macro environments, the Group must
always adhere to the ‘multi-pronged, focus growth’ development
strategy, constructing an integrated core value chain, continuously
identifying new business growth points, enhancing the Group’s
capability in countering risks, actively constructing a more natural,
greener, and healthier production chain, and achieving long-term
sustainable growth.
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Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management (Note)
BEEREREEERE ()

Executive Directors H{T==

| Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 41, the Chairman and Executive Director of the Company. Ms.
Chu is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with ‘C1’ and the
legal representative of those companies marked with ‘C2’ as set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. Ms. Chu is experienced in formulating strategies and
making executive decisions on business operation, investments and market development.
Ms. Chu is currently the Deputy Director of CAFFCI and a member of the Fourth Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong province).
Ms. Chu, through the corporations controlled by her, is the beneficial owner of Shares
of the Company as set out in page 77 headed under Directors’ Interests in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures.

SMELZL - AER - ARBAETEMRPTES - R TRERGEMBRRMEI4DFIAE
[CHMIC2I FRZARBEIEMBARNESTEAERRA - RXLHALELEE &
BERMSIRZRBHERART A EERR - AXIREFEECLHBEREERERT
BARBGHHAEERRERIITENEREGLE - Rt BBXEEHNRF] - B
BEBARAFRYD  FHEEHNE7T7TEARER [EENRD - HERMHRESF 2 EE] -

Mr. LAU Chi Tak, aged 54, the CEO and Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lau
is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with ‘L1" and the
legal representative of those companies marked with ‘L2" as set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lau holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Chemistry and
has over 20 years’ experience in the international flavours and fragrances industry. He
held a managerial position in a leading international flavour and fragrance company
before joining the Company. He possesses in-depth knowledge of the Asian market and
is particularly experienced in the business development in the greater China area.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
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Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 48, an Executive Director and the Company Secretary
of the Company. Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma in laws by the
University of London. He holds a bachelor degree in laws and a bachelor degree in
business studies and a master degree in international accounting. He is a member
and an Associate Instructor of the Hong Kong Securities Institute and its Professional
Education Committee, an associate member of the ICSA, and HKICS. Mr. Poon worked
as a regulator, commercial and investment banker and has broad experience in finance
and securities regulations. He now serves as independent non-executive director of
Ningbo Port Company Limited (listed in the Shanghai Stock Exchange) and Tsingtao
Brewery Company Limited (listed in Hong Kong and Shanghai).
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Mr. WANG Guang Yu, aged 47, an Executive Director and the Chief Technical Officer
of the Company. Mr. Wang is also the director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with ‘W1’ and the legal representative of those companies marked with ‘W2' as
set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Wang holds a Master’s
Degree in Chemical Analysis and has a qualification of senior engineer. Mr. Wang
was an expert with special allowance by the State Council of the PRC government in
recognition of his outstanding contribution to the engineering technology sector of
China. Mr. Wang previously worked in management positions of large-scale chemical
company in China. He has nearly 15 years of R&D and management experiences in
the chemical industry and is currently the Deputy Director of CAFFCI, a member of
Laws Committee of China Flavours & Fragrances Committee and a member of Jiadong
Science Technology Committee of Shanghai Zhangjiang Hi-Tech Park.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
EENERERERE (GE)

Executive Directors H{T==

| Mr. XIA Li Qun, aged 44, an Executive Director, Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of the Company. Mr. Xia is also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries
marked with ‘X1" and the legal representative of those companies marked with ‘X2’
as set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements. He is also responsible
for the Group’s finance, administration and human resources. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor
of Arts in Economics and is a certified accountant, certified tax specialist and certified
appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has around 20 years of financial and corporate management
experience. He previously worked in domestic accounting firms in China and was a
senior management member of a foreign invested enterprise in China. He is currently
the Honorary Chairman of the Shanghai Food Additive Association.
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Mr. XIONG Qing, aged 34, an Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Xiong majored in
international accounting in Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management,
and graduated with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics. Mr. Xiong is also an EMBA degree
holder of INSEAD in France. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Xiong worked in several
international investment banks for eight years. Mr. Xiong has extensive experiences with
Chinese enterprises and international capital market.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors B JEHTESE

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 53, an Independent Non-executive Director and Member
of Audit Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of ACCA and an
associate member of HKICPA. Mr. Lee is the senior consultant of an investment bank.
Mr. Lee has about 25 years of ample experience in commercial accounting and corporate
finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate finance and regulatory aspects in
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lee was an Assistant Vice President of the Listing Division of
the Stock Exchange, and his duties included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong
listed companies in relation to their compliance with the Listing Rules and processing

new listing applications.
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Ms. MA Yun Yan, aged 50, an Independent Non-executive Director, Member of Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Ms. Ma graduated from
the Law School of Peking University in 1984 and qualified as a lawyer in China in
1986. Ms. Ma has been dedicated to teaching and doing research in the Law School
in relation to international commerce and investment aspects for 10 years. She is now
the Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. Ms. Ma has extensive experience in the legal field in
relation to the capital markets, including investments, acquisition and mergers, issuance
of securities etc, and has lead-managed the issuance of shares and convertible bonds
and major restructuring of numerous listed companies such as China Vanke Co., Ltd.,
China Petroleum Jilin Chemical Engineering Construction Co. Ltd., China Merchants
Property Development Co., Ltd., Wisesoft Co., Ltd., shares of are listed in the PRC stock
exchanges, and also AAC Acoustic Technologies Holdings Inc., Vital BioTech Holdings

Limited and Shenzhen High-Tech Holdings Limited, shares of which are listed on main
board of the Stock Exchange. Ms. Ma was one of the members of the Fourth Listing
Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange and retired an Independent Non-executive
Director of Shenzen Laibao Hi-Tech Co., Ltd. upon expiry of term. Mr. Ma is now a
member of the First Growth Enterprises Board Public Offering Review Committee of
China Securities Regulatory Committee and an Independent Non-executive Director of
Rainbow Department Store Co., Ltd., listed in Shenzhen stock exchange.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)

BEENSRERERE (F71)

Mr. MAK Kin Kwong, aged 49, an Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman
of Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Mak is
the managing director of Venfund Investment, a Shenzhen based mid-market M&A
investment banking firm specializing in cross-border mergers and acquisitions, corporate
restructuring, capital raising and international financial advisory services for Chinese
privately-owned clients, which he co-founded in late 2001. Prior to that, Mr. Mak spent
17 years at Arthur Andersen Worldwide where he was a Firm partner and served as the
managing partner of Arthur Andersen Southern China in his last position with the Firm.
Mr. Mak is a graduate of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, and a fellow member of
HKICPA and ACCA, and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, in England
and Wales.

Mr. Mak also serves as an independent non-executive director and audit committee
chairman of Trina Solar Limited, China GrenTech Corp. Ltd., China Security &
Surveillance Technology, Inc. all of which are companies listed in the U.S.; Pou
Sheng International (Holdings) Limited, Real Gold Mining Limited and 361 Degrees
International Limited all listed in Hong Kong and Shenzhen Fiyata Holdings Limited listed
in Shenzhen.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management (Note)
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Mr. ZHANG Yong, aged 50, is the Vice President of the Group and is responsible
for marketing and sales of tobacco side of business. He holds a Bachelor’s Degree in
Engineering. He served in local governments and large enterprises in the Mainland
China. Mr. Zhang has over 20 years’ experience in marketing and management.
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Mr. CHEN Hu, aged 37, is the Head of Food Flavours and Fragrances of the Group. Mr.
Chen is a graduate of Central South University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked for several companies and has extensive
experiences in merger and acquisition, marketing and management. Mr. Chen is
currently the Deputy Director of Chinese Baked Products and Sugared Products Industry
Association.
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Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 63, is the Chief Technical Officer of tobacco flavour and Head
of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany. Mr. Davies holds a Higher National
Diploma in Food Science of Grimsby College of Technology, UK. Mr. Davies served as a
senior flavourist in charge of creation and applications in a number of world renowned
flavour and fragrance companies and tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras
Rothmans, Dragoco and Symrise. Mr. Davies has over 35 years’ experience in tobacco
flavour.
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Mr. LIN Chang Kui, aged 48, is the Administrative and Personnel Director of the
Group. Mr. Lin is a doctor graduate student of enterprise management and holds
an MBA degree; he served as a senior executive in a large enterprise group and has
years of experience in operations management of enterprise group, proficient in
corporate strategy planning, group strategy management, design of standard corporate
governance, and well experienced in capital operations including project planning and
enterprise M&A.

MEZESLLE 485 EETHRAFHAE -MELRCEEERB LML  ANBEAEIHE
BRI GEEAUNZTEEEELESREERY  AASFRELELEE
BERKR  BREXHKERE  SENKEERECEREEBIAIBKEIRGT - 7188
REMEEHBESEAEETELEAFEENER -

Note: Information contained in this section was up to 31 March 2011.
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Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize the
profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders while
taking into account the interest of other legitimate stakeholders (UK
Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognizes the importance and
benefits of good corporate governance practices and has adopted
certain corporate governance and disclosure practices aiming at
a high level of transparency and accountability. The Company is
committed to continuously improving its corporate governance
practices as part of its own corporate culture.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company has adopted the code provisions in the CG Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code on
corporate governance practices except for the following deviations:

Pursuant to code provision A.4.1 of CG Code, INEDs should be
appointed for a specific terms, subject to re-election. Although the
INEDs of the Company were not appointed for a specific term which
deviates from the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, pursuant to
the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors shall retire from office by
rotation no later than the third AGM of the Company since their last
appointment or re-election and are eligible for re-election. As such,
the Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those set out in the CG Code.

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code but about promoting and
developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The Directors
will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve the current
practices on the basis of the experience, regulatory changes to
enhance the confidence of the shareholders of the Company and
safeguarding shareholders’ interest as well the key to assuring
healthy business developments.
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The Board
Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. As at the date of this
annual report, the Board comprises six Executive Directors and three
INEDs. The members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Chi Tak (CEO)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok

Mr. WANG Guang Yu

Mr. XIA Li Qun (CFO)

Mr. XIONG Qing

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. MA Yun Yan

Mr. MAK Kin Kwong

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or
other material relationship) between any members of the Board.
Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 45 to 49 of this
annual report. The present Board has a diverse wealth of skills,
expertise, and qualifications in aspects of production, management,
accounting and finance, legal and regulatory experience both in
Hong Kong and China. Two out of three INEDs possess recognized
professional qualification in accounting and financial management.
The INEDs bring strong independent judgment, knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board's deliberations. All Directors
have distinguished themselves in their field of expertise and have
exhibited good standards of personal and professional ethics and
integrity. This diversity of experiences and backgrounds enables the
Board to enhance good corporate governance and performance
standard and to bring in valuable contributions and objective advices
for the development of the Group’s businesses.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three INEDs with at least one INED possessing appropriate
qualification, or accounting or related financial management
expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing Rules).
The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded
that all the INEDs are considered to be independent pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer EEMER

The role of Chairman and CEO of the Company has been taken up

“ER\FOANBER  BEFSEEMERAT

by different persons since 9 April 2008. To ensure a balance of power R AT - BBERFEENMEE  KRFEXE

and authority, the Company has established a clear and defined 12

ERSTABMMBARER D EF - AMELLR

division of the responsibilities between the Chairman, Ms. CHU Lam  #% - 25 ELLENBRE -

Yiu and the CEO, Mr. LAU Chi Tak in accordance with the CG Code.

The Chairman’s responsibility is to manage the Board including the TFEZBENEEESES  EHh e

following:

° To provide leadership for the Board and ensure that the °

Directors meet regularly and whenever necessary to consider
all key and appropriate issues in a timely manner and thus
ensure the Board functions effectively and discharges its
responsibilities;

° With the supports of the CFO, the Company Secretary and o

the Qualified Accountant (‘QA’), to ensure all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and receive
adequate, complete, reliable and timely information for making
decisions;

° To lead and set the strategic plans of the Company and o

supervise the implementation of resolutions approved by
the Board. Each Executive Director is to oversee and monitor
different functions of the Group according to their respective
professional skills and expertise;

o To play a leading role in maintaining the balanced composition °

of the Board and sub-board committees, so as to make the
Board an effective team that works with high degree of
harmony;

. The Chairman has delegated to the designated director(s) and .

the Company Secretary the responsibilities of drawing up and
approving the agenda for each board meeting and contacting
other directors for any matters proposed for inclusion in the
agenda before each board meeting; and

o To ensure good corporate governance practices and procedures e

are in place. The Chairman, through the CFO, the Company
Secretary and the QA, oversees the implementation of the
practices and procedures set out in the CG Code.
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The CEQO's responsibility is to manage the Company’s business
including the following:

° To provide leadership for the management;
. To implement the strategic planning and business development;

o To supervise the business and operational management of the
Company;

o To cooperate closely with management teams from all function
to ensure the Company’s smooth operation and development
and to report regularly to the Board on major business
development; and

o To establish and maintain proper internal controls and systems
with the assistance of CFO and designated directors.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The Board, led by the Chairman, is collectively responsible for
formulating the business strategies of the Company, setting
objectives for management, overseeing its performance and assessing
the effectiveness of management strategies.

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profit of the
Company and to enhance long-term value of the Company for the
shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes the responsibilities for
leadership and control of the Company and oversees the businesses,
strategic development, financial performance and corporate
governance of the Group. All new board members have been given
a tailored induction on the general business background and policy
of the Company on joining the board and all the Directors have
been provided with regular trainings by external experienced lawyers
to update and refresh the applicable legal and other regulatory
requirements and the business and governance policies of the
Company.

The Executive Directors are responsible for day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations and conduct meeting with senior
management of the Group at which operational issues and financial
performance are evaluated.

The Bye-laws of the Company set out the responsibilities and
proceedings of the Board. Significant operational policies have to
be discussed and approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to
meet their obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in
place with clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority.
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The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the
Directors and senior management of the Company in respect of legal
action against them in the course of execution of their duties in
good faith.

Board Meetings

The Company conducts scheduled Board meetings on a quarterly
basis to discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance, of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at
the physical regular meetings are set out on page 65 of this annual
report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board at
least fourteen days prior to the meeting, whereby the director can
put forward his proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and
the relevant board papers are then circulated to the directors at least
three days before a Board meeting is convened to enable them to
make informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the Board minutes and Board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all directors and the relevant Board committee
members respectively for their review before finalization and the final
version of these minutes kept by the Company Secretary/Compliance
Department are sent to the Directors and committee members
respectively for records and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a Board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.

Every director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary/Compliance Department with a view to ensuing
that board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed and is able to seek independent professional advice as and
when required at the Company’s expense. INEDs are encouraged to
take an active role in Board meetings and serve on the sub-board
committees.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall retire from office by rotation no later than the
third AGM of the Company since their last appointment or re-
election and are eligible for re-election.
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The Company has not established a nomination committee. New
director is sought mainly through referrals, internal promotions or
from the management of any acquired businesses. In evaluating
whether an appointee is suitable to act as a Director, the Board will
review the independence, experience and skills of the appointee
as well as personal ethics, integrity and time commitment of the
appointee. Appointment of a new director requires the unanimous
approval of the Board members subject to election by Shareholders
at the then forthcoming general meeting.

Directors’ interests and securities transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors. Having made specific enquiry to all
Directors, all Directors confirmed in writing that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the shares are set
out on page 77 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by two committees which are
Remunerations Committee and Audit Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee. Each of these committees has specific
written terms of reference which deal clearly with their authority and
duties. The chairman of the committees will report their findings and
recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of two INEDs, namely: Mr.
MAK Kin Kwong (the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
and Ms. MA Yun Yan, and an Executive Director, Mr. XIA Li Qun.
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The term of reference of the Remuneration Committee has been
adopted by the Board and is published on the Company’s website
www.huabao.com.hk. The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities
include making recommendations for approval by the Board with
respect to matters relating to the remuneration of Executive
Directors. In discharging its responsibilities, the Remuneration
Committee has performed the following works:

° To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for all the remuneration of the Executive
Directors;

. To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors,
and make recommendations on the remuneration of the INEDs
for the Board’s approval by reference to market conditions,
performance of the Group and the individual and corporate
goals and objectives as set by the Board from time to time; and

. To review and evaluate the Company’s share option scheme.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. The Remuneration Committee met once
regarding the emolument packages of the Directors and senior
management during the reporting period and individual attendance
of Remuneration Committee members is set out on page 65 of this
annual report. Details of the emolument of the Directors are set out
in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements while details
of the Share Options Scheme and the share options granted to the
Directors and senior management are set out on pages 73 to 75 of
this annual report.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. MAK Kin
Kwong (the Chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. MA Yun Yan
and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.
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The principal responsibility of the Audit Committee is to assist the
Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
particularly by providing an independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls and, to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the

controls,

Company. In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following work:

. To review the annual and interim financial statements and
results announcements during the year;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

. To review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
internal controls and risk management systems;

o To review the sufficiency of manpower for financial reporting
purposes;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; and

o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss various accounting issues, and reviews the
effectiveness of internal controls. Written term of reference
has been adopted and is published on the Company's website
www.huabao.com.hk.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Audit Committee met
twice and individual attendance of Audit Committee members is
set out on page 65 of this annual report. Members of the Audit
Committee were satisfied with the Company’s internal control

procedures with the financial reporting disclosures.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for the Group’s internal control
system, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The system is designed
to help the achievement of business objectives of the Group,
safeguard assets against unauthorized use or disposition, ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication
and ensure compliance with relevant legislation and regulation. The
internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system
(embedded in the operations of the company and forms part of the
Company’s culture) will include:

o effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the company and to change in the
business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate levels of management any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and
. compliance with applicable laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established by the Board to
provide effective internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines
of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements budget management and the financial budget
is executed upon approval by the Board. Relevant procedures have
been established to assess, review and approve major capital and
recurring expenditures, and regular review and comparison between
operating results and the budget are made.
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The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws

and regulations.

Risk Management

The Group has Risk Management Department headed by an Executive
Director of the Company to monitor and assess risk regularly, boost
related management standards and evaluate investment projects.

Internal Audit

The Company has set out internal audit team directly reporting
to CFO with scope of works advised by the Audit Committee
shortly after a review on its internal control system by an external
independent expert in 2008.

Internal Control Review

During the reporting period, the Internal Audit Team had carried out
an annual review on the internal control system including financial,
operational and compliance control, and risk management functions.
The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and review the
effectiveness of an internal control system and includes:

(i)  To follow up the enhancement progress in response to the
previous recommendations from an external independent
expert in respect of internal control system;

(i) To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group under the principles
set out by The Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Committee (‘COSQ’) covering major control aspects;
and

(iii) To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test

on the internal control system of members of the Group on a
selective basis pursuant to the principles of COSO.
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Internal Audit Team has presented their findings and make
recommendations directly to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported the
progress of the work plan and related findings, particularly those
related to new group members to the Board at board meeting
during the year. In general, the Board considers that the internal
control systems (including the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting
function) of the Group are effective.

Internal Control - Corporate Governance enhancement

The Directors has strengthened corporate governance practices,
including formalization of the reporting practice throughout the
Group in monitoring the operation and business developments of the
Company so as to capture potentially price-sensitive information on
an on-going basis, monitoring the continuing disclosure obligation.
The Board has further strengthened corporate governance practices
by establishing lending policy to monitor its credit level. In addition,
Herbert Smith, the retained legal counsel of the Company, has
provided the Directors and the relevant senior executives with
training on Listing Rules, regulatory requirements and cases of
enforcement at least twice a year.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting

The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditors’ statement and remuneration

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements and the Auditors’ Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 82 to 83 of this annual report.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% EIIZR AR A

Corporate Governance Report
PO =N ANC e

REP  ABEHAERENEHEERRIE T
BEMEE EENEERCHEEENUEES
TR LAEERIESE T EERMANE
BOLERMRARENKE BEME  2EE
RATERY NBERRS (RELARNERT R
BERBESENEE - B TEAEREHR Y BHHE)
BEM -

REBEE — DEERRER
EFgE—TNRERERTER  BREEAR
EELEMEBERNOAMEREHRSIE - ARRA
B ERESRHRE EEFERREET -EF
SRS RACEE AT RN E NG ERRE
BEEKRT o o - ARBBLERBER LB RE
MEBMEFEIMAREENEBERERHE LT
RA OEREFR - PUREZRMIFI -

B EMEX

ESRERVBRRNEL
EXCRARBVERTIRMBRE - KRRV BER
®E - AENEEMHE RGEEARREBERE
MERET  FERTNERSERIDEERR
HENGTRRBELTURAUARSELEEE
BERE®R -

RBET AN
T EERE R BREIZBEFLRE - &
PR Z BB R E BN AFRFE2E83H °

=] © 2010-2011 Annual Report 61



Corpora

SN

te Governance Report
N s 0L
EXRER

R

During the reporting period, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
in relation to audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

RERA - B EED (B IR B A RATE MAZERAD) [
REBREZ ZBRIEZEE ARG EMNZEMZ
RN

Amount
Nature of Services REMHE &8
(HK$'000)
(FB¥FT)
Audit services ZBR5S

— for the audit of the Group — &BEF 6,292

— for the statutory audits of the PRC — BRFRENETEET
subsidiaries 436

ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going investor relation efforts to mention in the
next section, the Board values the importance of communications
with the shareholders. The Company uses a range of communications
tools, such as AGM, annual report, various notices, announcements
and circulars, to ensure its shareholders are kept well informed of
key business imperatives.

The Company has maintained a website at www.huabao.com.
hk which serves as a forum for corporate communication with its
shareholders and the general public. All corporate communications
required under the Listing Rules are displayed and can be achieved
(for documents published in the previous 7 years) on the Company’s
website and there is established procedure to ensure timely update in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ Meetings held in the reporting period

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders.

62 Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BIEIZR AR A

BERREERABZEHAZEE

BRTXMEFEREEBEBSINGERI  EFE
ERERRNBBNEERE - AARRAZHEBBET
B BEERRBFRE FH JZHRBSE AFK
K - MERBURA T RRH E BERE -

N AR A Bk (www.huabao.com.hk) © BMKRE M A
BATRE—EREBERRBAAS - EWHRAR
EMTERAEBM CBEEFHEAXHE) HIRA
BB R TH - AFNE SRR P REREEN
WEESRE TR RERE N -

FERER

FEEBAEERRY - 2HURRRKENEMAT
£ AKERBRERANER  BRUARKER
EHEEMFEHIEETEEKE -

REARTHRRAE
BERAE/ESGURRER—EEBRE

7] @ 2010-2011 Annual Report ¥



To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’ rights, significant issues
are dealt with under separate resolutions at the general meeting,
including the election and re-election of individual Director. Details of
general meeting(s) held during reporting period are summarized as

Corporate Governance Report
PG NVAE e,
rERERWSE

RABERERRAE LITEREN  EEFEIR
BERRABZENERASGLEE BRERRES
ERES - MIEFABTZRRAZNT

follows:
Meeting Date Venue Resolutions
23 B b B REBER
AGM 5 Aug 2010 Suite 1103, Central Plaza, To receive the audited financial statements for
SN —E-TF 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, the year ended 31 March 2010;
AV E = Hong Kong EEHE T —TF-A=+—HILFELEZ

BEBEFBEBE 185
FIRESH1103F

To facilitate communication further, Shareholders may send their
enquiries which require the Board’s attention to the Company
Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.
Relevant contact information is set out on page 70 of this annual
report and is also available on the Company’s website www.huabao.
com.hk.

Annual general Meeting to be held in 2011

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held at Falcon
Room, Gloucester Luk Kwok, 72 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong on Friday, 5 August 2011 at 9:30 a.m. In order to be entitled
to attend and vote at the AGM, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from 1 August 2011 (Monday) to 5 August
2011 (Friday), both days inclusive, during which no transfer of
Shares will be effected, Shareholders are reminded that all properly
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s
Branch Share Registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited, 26/F., Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on
29 July 2011 (Friday).
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Notice of the AGM and form of proxy will be sent to the
Shareholders together with an explanatory statements relating to the
businesses proposed to the Shareholders for approval at the AGM.
Shareholders who wish to exercise their rights to vote by proxy may
do so upon following instruction printed thereon and presentation
of a written and dated form of proxy appointing their proxy. All
shareholders are welcome to ask questions or present proposals for
discussion at these meetings.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares. The
number of ordinary shares as at 31 March 2011 is 3,150,050,961.
Details of share capital of the Company can be found in note 16 of
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 146 of this
annual report. Shareholders of the Company are classified into:

BERBFAGBEMKRZERBERBRRRE

FAE LAKREZ

PR R #E1T

VRABRNBHE T TR
ERMEN AT ZBARZERE EHER

RZXOFEAMELARNRRZERE - ZERR
RERBERBFAGLRE - BUORERE LIZH
IR EE N o

B ERER
EAREENROORARRERBBRN R2F

——®F=ZRA=+—8" E%ﬁ
3,150,050,96 1% °

BERMDER A
AARRAFHRAFRE1468

RAEMBREMLI6M « ARRKRAIDRE

Full details can
be found on
the following

Total Number

Percentage

page of of issued of the issued
this report Shares held Share capital
FHERR CE L] HE T
Category sl RAFEH BITROEE BRAB DL
Ms. CHU Lam Chiu (Note 1) KM+ (f177#1) Page 77 £77H  1,187,679,415 37.703%
Directors of the Company KRAESR Page 77 778 1,950,000 0.062%
Substantial Shareholders (Note 2) FERRE (Hit2) Page 78 5578H 911,379,634 28.932%
2,101,009,049 66.697 %
Public NR|AL 1,049,041,912 33.303%
3,150,050,961 100.000%

Notes: B 5E
1. As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of 1. ZETHRAESE  TREREARARBEAS 1T

depositary receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of
depositary receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the
exercise of 30% (or such other amount as may from time to time be
specified in the Code on Takeovers and Mergers and Share Repurchase
as being the level for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more of
the voting power at general meeting of the Company;

2. Pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, corporations and/or persons hold
interest or short positions in 5% or more issued share capital of the
Company.
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The Company’s Bye-laws provide that shareholders holding not less
than one-tenth of the Company’s issued share capital carrying voting
rights shall have the right to request the Board to call for a special
meeting to discuss a specified business transaction. To request such
a meeting, individuals must send a written notice to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at least 21 days before the
proposed date of the meeting. This procedure also applies to any
proposals to be tabled at shareholders’ meeting for approval.

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

Details of the mergers and acquisitions of the Company carried out
during the reporting period can be found on page 71 of this annual
report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the continuing connected transactions of the Company can
be found on page 79 of this annual report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD

Attendance Record of Board regular meetings and Board Committees
meeting held during the reporting period are set out below:
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BARRER  BAARABAEREENERBA
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Board Audit Remuneration

regular Committee Committee

Meetings Meetings Meetings

EEg % A

EHERE ZEEER ZEEe3

No. of meeting held BRXH 5 2 1

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairman) RKMERZ L (£/E) 5/5 N/AA i F N/AZ i F

Mr. LAU Chi Tak (CEO) REELEE (482 5/5 N/AT 3 A N/A 3 A

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok BB 5 4 5/5 N/ATNE A N/ARNE A

Mr. WANG Guang Yu FHEEE 5/5 N/AT 3 N/ATT 3

Mr. XIA Li Qun (CFO) BN EE (B FAEE) 5/5 N/ATNE A 1/1

Mr. XIONG Qing AR S A 5/5 N/AT i A N/AZiE A
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITES

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Frplk 5/5 2/2 N/ATNE A

Ms. MA Yun Yan i E Rz 5/5 2/2 11

Mr. MAK Kin Kwong BEMNEE 5/5 2/2 11

Average Attendance Rate FH R 100% 100% 100%
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REEFBRRE

The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect to the
Company’s corporate mission and vision, development strategies,
competitive position in the industry and operating and financial
performance, so as to enable public investors to make informed
decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils the above-
mentioned through a designated Investor Relations Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Group abides by basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

Investor Relations Review

During this reporting period, in order to develop continuously and
maintain investor relations communications to ensure that the most
updated information would be transmitted to investors in an accurate
and fair manner, the Group organized various activities proactively
and aggressively through different channels to conduct effective and
satisfactory communications under stringent expenses. Details of
these activities during the previous year are as follows:

=

ARBBOBFARLIEBNREEBRERERE 5
EERSREMBABREREBFARRZLER
RS  BRERE  ZEARFARLEERMBE
KRB UBREABREA/ARENREEHABR

E o ARREBFRNEEEBEIFFIUNMGER -

BREEBEMFUERERRRRIRERZNBR - K
SEZBAFHRENEANRR > NEFRERR &
BEREEZBBUA—ERFHET  RIALEIA
EEBMERFEAER A TIREEAI

oo

~\ .
NRER -

AN

REEBRIEDRE

EARERAN  AEERBEERREFREER
FBB  AERENASAELERATHERERE
FOAKERIHABREBTRAREETSEE
B BREHORIHBRTEEEFLNENRET
AR LFEEMERSFBOT

Number of participations (approximately)

Details of the activities EEFE SERE (#)
Non-deal roadshows in AR g i LA K2 N 7 (including Hong Kong, Beijing, Shanghai, Singapore,
Mainland China and overseas X SEE New York, Boston and London, etc.)
(BEHE bR BF - FnE - #4
BT - REE)
Investment conferences KREESE 16
One-on-one and group meetings —H—Rk)EeE 108
Teleconferencing BiEEE 52
Plant visits and reverse roadshows W2 E K& (A E 31
e Annual General Meetings s RRAFKE
It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and HRRME RIS ENREEHRETHE

meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with, and increases their engagement in, the
Company. Shareholders can raise any questions and comments
on the performance or future business directions of the
Company and on any resolutions to be considered at the AGM
and SGM. The Chairman and representatives from the Audit
Committee were present and available to answer questions
raised at the AGM during the year.
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Interim Results Presentation

Interim Results Presentation was held after the interim results
announcement in November 2010, at which the management
availed themselves to answer questions such as regarding the
Group's operational and financial performances.

International Roadshows and Investment Conferences

The Company treasures every opportunity to communicate with
and explain its strategies to investors and Shareholders through
active participation in global investor roadshows and investors’
conferences hosted by reputable investment banks, securities
houses and research institutes.

Ongoing Communication with the Investment Community

Regular face-to-face meetings and an ongoing schedule
of teleconferencing calls with institutional investors and
research analysts were held throughout the year. Questions
and comments on the Company raised at the meetings were
summarized and reported to the senior management team after
the meetings. Regular meetings with research analysts were
organized which provided a different channel for the analysts
to communicate with the members of the Board. All these
serve the multi-purposes of maintaining market surveillance and
close contact with investors as well as gathering constructive
suggestions from the capital market.

Company'’s Site Visits and Reverse Roadshows

Site visits to the Company’'s major customers, R&D centres
and production bases had been arranged for investors and
analysts during the year which provided them on one hand the
opportunities to have better understanding of the Company’s
businesses, technology and daily operations, and independent
market surveillance on the other.

E-Communication via Websites of the Company and
Professional Investor Relations

The Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk contains
information such as important corporate data, biographical
details of Directors, organizational structure and press releases,
while interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars are published on its professional investor relations
website at http://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php, which
enables the Company’s Shareholders and members of the
investor community to have timely access to the most updated
information about the Group.
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Other Communication Channels

Shareholders and members of the investor community are
welcome to raise enquiries through our Investor Relations
Department at the Company's principal place of business in
Hong Kong or via the ‘Enquiry Form’ on the Company website.
Designated personnel are assigned for this task to ensure
that all data is disclosed on a fair and non-selective basis and
in compliance with the Company’s policy and the relevant
regulatory requirements.

Media Communications

During the announcement of its results, the Group held results
presentations to facilitate the access of the most updated
information of the Company by investors and the public in
a fair, open and timely manner. In addition, to strengthen
the interactions between the Group and the media it also
proactively issued press releases on a timely basis.

Analysts Coverage

Subject to the compliance of relevant regulatory requirements,
the Company is committed to continuous communications with
research institutes in a proactive manner for transparency sake.
During the reporting period, the Company was covered by 14
established and reputable research institutes as follows:

o BOCI Research Limited

o China International Capital Corporation Limited
° Citigroup Investment Research

o CLSA Research Limited

. Credit Suisse (Hong Kong) Limited

o DBS Vickers Securities

o Deutsche Bank AG

o First Shanghai Securities Limited

o Goldman Sachs Gao Hua Securities Company Limited
° HSBC

. J.P. Morgan Securities (Asia Pacific) Limited

o Macquarie Capital Securities Limited

o Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited

. SWS Research Co., Ltd.

(shown in alphabetical order in English)
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Information for investors (as at 31 March 2011)
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A EERE

REEEN (N -_F——F=A=1+—0H)

Board Lot Size
Number of shares issued

Market capitalization (based on
the closing price of HKD11.96 on
31 March 2011)
Stock Code
The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited stock code
Reuters ticker
Bloomberg ticker
Financial Calendar

Announcement of 2010-11
Interim Results

Announcement of 2010-11
Annual Results

Closing date for transfer
of shares

Annual General Meeting

Date of Payment of 2010-11
proposed Final Dividend

Financial Year end date

1,000 shares
3,150,050,961 shares

HKD37.675 billion

00336

336.HK

336HK

26 November 2010
(Friday)

17 June 2011 (Friday)

From 1 August 2011 to
5 August 2011
(Monday to Friday,
both days inclusive)

5 August 2011
(Friday)

17 October 2011 (Monday)

on or about

31 March
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REERBERS

Investor Relations Contacts

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2185 1233

Fax: (852) 2511 8229

E-mail: jason.wong@huabao.com.hk

Investor Relations website: http://huabao.todayir.com/html/ir.php
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5 : (852) 2511 8229

B I : jason.wong@huabao.com.hk
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The Board presents its report together with the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2011.

Mergers & Acquisitions

In September 2010, the Group completed an investment of 60%
equity interest in Yunnan Huaxiangyuan, which is principally engaged
in the manufacturing and sale of natural flavouring oil, including
eucalyptus oail, citronella oil, wintergreen oil and geranium oil, etc. in
the PRC, at a cash consideration of approximately HKD4,314,000.

In November 2010, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement
with independent third parties and acquired 100% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinye Group, which is principally engaged in the R&D,
manufacturing and sales of reconstituted tobacco leaves in the PRC,
at a cash consideration of approximately HKD1,329 million. The
acquisition was completed in January 2011.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Segment Information

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by business
segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 86 of the annual
report.

The Board declared an interim dividend of HK7.2 cents (2010: HK6.0
cents and a special dividend of HK2.8 cents) per Share in cash
amounting to a total of about HKD226,789,000, were paid on 25
February 2011.

The Board proposes to declare a final dividend of HK7.98 cents
(2010: HK6.78 cents and a special dividend of HK5.5 cents) per share
in cash, about HKD251 million in aggregate, for the year ended 31
March 2011 which are expected to be paid on or about 17 October
2011 (Monday) to Shareholders whose names appear on the Register
of Members of the Company as at 5 August 2011 (Friday), subject to
Shareholders’ approval in the forthcoming annual general meeting
to be held on 5 August 2011. Together with the dividend declared
and the proposed final dividend, the dividend distribution for the
financial year ended 31 March 2011 amounted to HK15.18 cents
(2010: HK12.78 cents and a special dividend of HK8.3 cents) per
share.
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Close of Register of Members

Shareholders are reminded that in order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend and be entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from 1 August
2011 (Monday) to 5 August 2011 (Friday), both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares will be effected. All properly completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s Branch Share
Registrars, Tricor Tengis Limited, at 26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen’s
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 29 July 2011
(Friday).

Reserves

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 88 and in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2011, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD1,890,918,000 (2010: HKD1,481,138,000).

Donations

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HKD137,912.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

Five Year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 177.

TEnERMBFFE

REREREZZ RBRERAEEFEREEFTK
eVWHEE LRE  BRIBRRAQRAER-T——
ENA—R (B )E-_ZT——5)\FREB (EH
) I (HEEMBREEAR) EiEE2RNDBPERL
FE-FBEEZNBPRRERNEHEBREREARN
—ZE——F+A-+NA (EHPRH) TFOBH=1+H
AR ERRATNRDBEELIERESEBAR
DR MU AEBBTER KBRS ERES L
2671 o

(A
AEBRARARFAZHREDHNFHRFESA
i ARREPR MR MBHRRME18 -

a5k 2 f&# e
R-ZZTE——FE=ZfF=+—H KARZAHIIE
i 5 /375 #1,890,918,000C (ZZE — T 4F : A
1,481,138,0007T) °

B

AREEARFEAFL2ZERAEMBRE LBE
137,9127¢

Y - R RRE
AEEYE  BERREBEEBHFBHARGEYH
ARG

[N
ARBZBABEFHEHNERE P RERMEE6 -

EEEER

AT 2 A AR Sk R A B B A B S
B 0 A A AR L IR R
SRR -

IFPRBRE

AEBBEREAMBRFECEENEERBEHRE
HRFERE1778 -

72 Huabao International Holdings Limited == RBIFRERBR /AR » 2010-2011 Annual Report F ¥k



Share Options

As per a resolution passed at the special general meeting held on
22 September 2006, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(‘Share Option Scheme’). As at 31 March 2011, the share options
granted by the Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme

which are valid and outstanding amounted to 40,790,000 shares,

represents approximately 1.29% of the Shares issued. The following
is a summary of the Share Option Scheme:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Purpose of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the participants
to make contributions to and promote benefits of the Group
and developing and maintaining business relationships with
participants for the benefit of the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

The Board has absolute discretion to grant share option to any
participant.

Maximum number of shares issuable under the Scheme

The total number of share options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
ordinary share capital of the Company as at 22 September
2006. Upon approval by the Shareholders, the Company may
renew the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal
shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares
as at the date of approval by the Shareholders, and a circular
regarding the proposed renewal of the Scheme Mandate
Limit has been dispatched to the Shareholders in a manner
complying with, and containing the matters specified in, the
relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The
aggregate maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the total number of
Shares in issue from time to time.
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(9)

(h)
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The maximum number of Shares (issued and to be issued)
upon exercise of options (whether exercised, cancelled or
outstanding) granted to any participants in any 12-month
period under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Company shall not exceed 1% of the
total number of ordinary Shares in issue from time to time. Any
excess over 1% requires the formal approval by Shareholders
through an ordinary resolution at a general meeting at which
the relevant participant and his associates shall abstain from
voting and the Company shall issue a circular pursuant to
relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Time for exercise of options

The grantee may subscribe for ordinary Shares during such
period as may be determined by the Board (the said period
shall not in whatever case be later than the last day of the
10-year period after the day on which the offer relating to the
option is duly approved by the Board in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme (subject to early termination)).

Minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the
offer of the grant of option to the grantee, the Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

Acceptance of option offer and payment

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within 21
days from the date of the offer letter issued by the Company.
The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration for accepting the
offer of the share option.

Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board and
shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the
date of offer, which must be a business day; (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the offer; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Shares.
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(i) The life of the Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for 10 years
starting from 22 September 2006.

Details of share options granted, exercised, cancelled and lapsed

during the year under the Share Option Scheme are set out as
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follows:
Number of Share Options
BREHE
Balance
Balance as at
as at 31 March
1April  Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2011
Exercise 2010  during  during  during  during R=E--%&
Grantee Grant Date Price  Exercisable Period HA-Z—Z% theyear theyear theyear theyear =A=+—H
AERA REAH (i3 nTEAS MA-R&H FAME FRATE  FAEE  FA%N 3
HKD
B
Executive Directors
HiTEE
Mr. LAU Chi Tak 14 April 2008 6.39  14/4/2008-13/4/2018 7,000,000 - - - - 7,000,000
AxErs ZTT/\ENA+IA
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 3.300,000 - - - - 3,300,000
AREEE ZETRETRZTRA
Mr. WANG Guang Yu 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 3,700,000 - 1,000,000 - - 2,700,000
ITRWEE ZEERETAZThA
Mr. XIA Li Qun 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 5,250,000 - - - - 5,250,000
EFREE ZEERETAZTRA
Mr. XIONG Qing 17 October 2007 6.65  17/4/2008-16/10/2017 3,600,000 - - - - 3,600,000
b ZEELETATER
14 April 2008 6.39  14/4/2008-13/4/2018 3,400,000 - - - - 3,400,000
ZEZ\FEATRA
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUFHTEE
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 400,000 - 200,000 - - 200,000
ks ZERRETAZTRA
Ms. MA Yun Yan 25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 800,000 - - - - 800,000
3. ZEERETAZTRA
Other employees 10 October 2006 3.09  10/10/2006-9/10/2016 16,920,000 - 9,120,000 - 200,000 7,600,000
AftES ZERERETATH
25 October 2006 3.09  25/10/2006-24/10/2016 5,250,000 - 5,250,000 - - -
ZEEAFTAZTRA
17 October 2007 6.65  17/4/2008-16/10/2017 12,600,000 - 5,660,000 - - 6,940,000
ZETEET AR
Total
Ai 62,220,000 - 21,230,000 - 200,000 40,790,000
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Chi Tak (CEO)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok

Mr. WANG Guang Yu

Mr. XIA Li Qun (CFO)

Mr. XIONG Qing

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yun Yan
Mr. MAK Kin Kwong

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Company’s bye-laws,
Messrs. MAK Kin Kwong, POON Chiu Kwok and XIONG Qing shall
retire by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts of Significance

Other than disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Directors’ Businesses Competing with the Group

None of the Directors and their respective associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) has an interest in any business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management

Biographical details of directors and senior management as at 31
March 2011 are set out on pages 45 to 50 of the annual report.

Directors’ Interests in Shares, Underlying Shares
and Debentures

At 31 March 2011, the interests of the Directors and their associates
in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code contained in the
Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Long positions in ordinary shares of HKD0.10 each of the
Company
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Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
Shares held Share capital
Name of Directors Capacity BEEBT HE BT
BEEME g4 ROEE REBD L
CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporation* 1,187,679,415 37.703%
RIRHE FBRZEARRSE
XIA Li Qun Beneficial owner 1,750,000 0.056%
BHEE BEmfFB A
LEE Luk Shiu Beneficial owner 200,000 0.006%
EX 9IS BEmiFB A

* 1,187,679,415 ordinary shares of the Company are respectively
held by Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International
Limited, Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited
and Real Elite Investments Limited. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole
beneficial owner of the aforesaid five companies.

(b) Interests in share options of the Company

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the
Company are detailed in the ‘Share Options’ section stated
above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, none of the Directors
nor their associates had any interests or short positions in any
Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies as defined in the SFO.

* N &) 21,187,679,4150% Jh 5 B A
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful
Link International Limited, Power
Nation International Limited, Jumbo
Elite Limited and Real Elite Investments
Limited#£@#%FH o KMEL L HUIL M
NAME—ERHEEA °
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Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year was the Company, its
ultimate holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Interests of Substantial Shareholders

As at 31 March 2011, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed 'Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures’, the register of substantial shareholders maintained
by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO showed that the
following persons held interests or short positions in 5% or more
issued share capital of the Company.

Long Position in ordinary shares of HKDO0.10 each of the
Company
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Number of Percentage of
issued the issued
Shares held  Share capital
Name of Substantial Shareholders Capacity BEERT HE 8T
TERRER 514 RDEE RAEE D
FMR LLC Investment manager 249,586,461 7.92%
REKTE
JP Morgan Chase & CQ (Note) (i) Beneficial owner 13,526,518
BEamFAA
Investment manager 47,884,754
REKE
Custodian 96,207,631 5.00%
EEA
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager 188,984,221 6.00%
RERE
Wellington Management Company, LLP Investment manager 157,620,949 5.00%
KB
ZFIC, Inc. Investment manager 157,569,100 5.00%
REKE

Note: The interest of JP Morgan Chase & Co. included a lending pool of
96,207,631 Shares.

ff5E : JP Morgan Chase & Co.H)#%582$596,207,631 %A%
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Major Customers and Suppliers

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the percentage of turnover
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 48% and the largest customer contributed
approximately 27% to the turnover of the Group, and the
percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 22% and the largest supplier
contributed approximately 12% to the purchases of the Group.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or
any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Sale of tobacco flavour products to Hongta Tobacco Group and
its associates

On 18 February 2009, the Group and Hongta Tobacco Group
entered into a framework agreement (‘2009 Framework Agreement’)
pursuant to which the Group shall continually sell tobacco flavour
products to Hongta Tobacco Group and its associates for a period
from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2012. Hongta Tobacco Group is an
indirect holding company of Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & Fragrance
Co., Ltd., which in turn is a substantial shareholder of an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing
Rules, all the transactions conducted between the Group and Hongta
Tobacco Group under the 2009 Framework Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions of the Group and subject to
reporting, announcement, approval by independent shareholders and
annual review as required by the Listing Rules. Pursuant to the 2009
Framework Agreement, the price for the products will be agreed
from time to time between the parties by reference to the prevailing
market price at the relevant time. Such price shall be no more
favourable than those offered by the Group to its other independent
customers for similar product types in its ordinary and usual course
of business. The upper limits of annual amounts of continuing
connected transactions under the 2009 Framework Agreement
for the three years ending 31 March 2012 are RMB66,000,000,
RMB86,000,000 and RMB112,000,000 (‘Annual Caps’) respectively.
The Company has obtained a waiver from the Stock Exchange to
approve the entering into of the 2009 Framework Agreement, the
conduct of the continuing connected transactions and the Annual
Caps on the basis of a written independent shareholders’ approval in
lieu of holding a shareholders’ meeting of the Company under Rule
14A.43 of the Listing Rules.
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the tobacco flavour products
sold by the Group to Hongta Tobacco Group (together with its
subsidiaries and associates) is RMB25,075,888.

The aforesaid continuing connected transaction has been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirm that the aforesaid
connected transactions have been entered into:

(i)  in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;

(i)  either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to
independent third parties; and

(iii) in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreement, and
are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders
of the Company as a whole.

The Company has engaged the independent auditor to report on
the Group’s above-mentioned continuing connected transaction in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 ‘Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of
Historical Financial Information’ and with reference to Practice Note
740 'Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. The independent auditor has issued
an unqualified letter containing his findings and conclusions in
respect of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

Legal Proceedings

As at 31 March 2011, the members of the Group was not involved
in any material litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or
claim was pending or threatened or made against any member of the
Group.
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Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the best belief and knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained a sufficient public float of the Company’s
securities during the reporting period and up to the date of this
report as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2011 have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
CHU Lam Yiu
Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2011
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PRICEWATERHOUSE(QOPERS

BORUKESTTMEKA

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
HUABAO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Huabao
International Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries
(together, the ‘Group’) set out on pages 84 to 176, which comprise
the consolidated and company statements of financial position as
at 31 March 2011, and the consolidated income statement, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

82

PricewaterhouseCoopers
22/F, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

BYRBA®RE
BERERZRERDRARR
(RBEFEZEMAIZNERAF)

AZEED (AT [FF)) EEFAIIERE4E
176 EEBRBRERARQR (TEAF]) REM
BAR ATABEIEEE]) WEaMBE®RE - It
REMBREBENR-T——F=A=1+—HBHK
ERARMBMRAKREBREZ A ILFENZEE K
X HEAZERER SARZREPRNGEERD
MEXR  URETBEHABEMELE MM ERESR
£t o

BERRESRARARBRESHMASHEMOETE
P HEERNRFER (RBED B3 B R E s
BUBRER USHEEUBRRIEHEAEMAFH
R RERBERBREIGEMEHRERABEHA
BRIR] - DAGBAR A M TS IRAR N7 X BRRF S B AR
MEHRWEARFBRERL -

BZANRERREBERANEAEXSRAMHERE
EHER  WERBBHFZE-NN\—F(RFE) F90
FEREBRRBE - Rt 2 AREHEEME
B HMTERABRENARTAEMEMALE £
SAEERRE -



We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as
at 31 March 2011, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 17 June 2011
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As at 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Land use rights
Intangible assets
Investments in associates
Available-for-sale financial assets
Deferred income tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Short-term time deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to
the Company’s equity holders
Share capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
- Proposed final dividend
— Proposed special dividend
— Others

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred income tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Trade and other payables
Current income tax liabilities

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities
Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

The notes on pages 90 to 176 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

On behalf of the Board
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Ms. CHU Lam Yiu
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Chairman
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As at 31 March

REA=+—
2011 2010
—g——%  —T-TF
536,373 301,798
194,697 67,684
2,879,958 1,602,659
61,009 6,236
38,067 =
42,800 50,544
3,752,904 2,028,921
467,961 235,294
1,030,565 660,117
= 230,886
1,676,410 1,678,640
3,174,936 2,804,937
6,927,840 4,833,858
315,005 312,882
677,318 410,403
251,374 213,193
- 172,944
3,796,953 2,680,682
5,040,650 3,790,104
255,213 128,103
5,295,863 3,918,207
3,562 =
102,830 108,870
106,392 108,870
740,000 250,236
688,276 486,242
97,309 70,303
1,525,585 806,781
1,631,977 915,651
6,927,840 4,833,858
1,649,351 1,998,156
5,402,255 4,027,077
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Mr. XIA Li Qun
BERERE

Director
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As at 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Trade and other receivables
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable
to the Company’s equity holders
Share capital
Reserves
Retained earnings
— Proposed final dividend
— Proposed special dividend
— Others

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Borrowings
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Trade and other payables

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

The notes on pages 90 to 176 are an integral part of these financial

statements.

On behalf of the Board
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Chairman
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Note
L

9(a)

14
9(b)
15

16
18

19, 28
19, 28

20
9(b)

As at 31 March

R=RA=+—8”

2011 2010
—EB——F —T—FF
1,245,083 1,245,083

473 473
2,301,893 1,280,246

13,489 35,503
2,315,855 1,316,222
3,560,938 2,561,305

315,005 312,882

742,767 655,017

251,374 213,193

= 172,944
1,351,353 806,810
2,660,499 2,160,846

740,000 240,000

157,871 140,356

2,568 20,103

900,439 400,459

900,439 400,459
3,560,938 2,561,305
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Sales
Cost of goods sold

Gross profit
Other income

Selling and marketing expenses
Administrative expenses

Operating profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income — net

Share of (loss)/profit of associates
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share for profit
attributable to the Company’s
equity holders for the year
(expressed in HK cents per share)
— Basic

— Diluted

Dividends
Special dividend

The notes on pages 90 to 176 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Note
Pt EE

23

22
23
23

25

26

27(a)

27(b)

28
28

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

2011

———%

2,852,173
(731,714)

2,120,459

122,675
(81,040)
(290,388)

1,871,706
24,692

(14,029)
10,663

(1,255)

1,881,114

(249,256)

1,631,858

1,604,400
27,458

1,631,858

51.01

50.59

478,163

478,163

2010

—E-T
—ZF-Z

2,366,403
(579,568)

1,786,835

36,237
(73,057)
(233,326)

1,516,689
15,761

(1,508)
14,253

707

1,531,649

(162,236)

1,369,413

1,340,085
29,328

1,369,413

43.15

42.58

400,662
260,429

661,091
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:

Fair value gains on available-for-sale
financial assets

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations

Other comprehensive income for
the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income for
the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive income
attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

The notes on pages 90 to 176 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March
BZE=BA=1+—HLFE

2011 2010
—g——%  -T-TF
1,631,858 1,369,413
755 =
175,417 13,174
176,172 13,174
1,808,030 1,382,587
1,773,599 1,352,907
34,431 29,680
1,808,030 1,382,587
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mERE

mBE R

For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE
(& R A

A BB AEE T ITHIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AARRRREARE
Non-
Retained controlling
Note Share capital Reserves earnings Total interests  Total equity
i3 e REEA £ FEAEER fEs

Balance at 1 April 2009 = SSMIE A 308,480 248458 2,218,879 2,835,817 93,789 2,929,606
Exchange differences B3 - 12,822 - 12822 35 13,174
Profit for the year MF m - - 1,340,085 1,340,085 29328 1369413
Total comprehensive income for HEZE-ZEZRCT-ALEEN

the year ended 31 March 2010 PENEEE = 12,822 1,340,085 1,352,907 29,680 1,382,587
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: M'ﬁ}ﬁ‘ﬁ' INEER
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests WA IEERRANRE = = = = (6,287) (6,287)
Appropriations from net profi EfW i 1819 - 449 (4.49) - - -
Combination of Faraway International Limited and AREREBERDAR

Long State International Limited and their subsidiary HHERERAAR

F&G Botswana (Proprietary) Limited (¥8G Group') EWEBAT ([racEE]) - () = (4211 = (421
Acquisition of Qingdao Qingda Product Co,, Inc., YEEEEANERNERAA

(‘Qingdao Qingda’) ([588%)) - - - - 10921 10921
Final and special dividend for the year ended BCERNECAST-AILERL

31 March 2009 KaRIRE 19 - - (272,69) (272,695) - (272,699)
Interim and special dividend for the 6 months ended ~ BE-FENEAA=TALNERZ

30 September 2009 RIS - - Q495 | (27495 - (24.954)
Employee share option scheme ESERE:

- Value of employee services -[EBHBEE 3 - 12,605 - 12,605 - 12,605

- Exercise of share options - fEERE 17 4,402 136,233 = 140,635 = 140,635
Total transactions with owners EREARAAE 4402 149123 (552,145) (398,620) 4634 (393,986)
Balance at 31 March 2010 H-2-BEZA=+-B 312,882 410,403 3,066,819 3,790,104 128103 3,918,207
Balance at 1 April 2010 R-5-Z5MA-A 312,882 410,403 3,066,819 3,790,104 128,103 3,918,207
Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets RNESRERL L ETE - 755 - 755 - 755
Bichange differences Eiag - 168,444 - 168,444 6,973 175,417
Profit for the year REEEA - - 108400 1,604,400 WA 1631858
Total comprehensive income for the year ended BEE--E-A=T-BLEEN

31 March 2011 2ENEEE - 169,199 1,604,400 1,773,599 34431 1,808,030
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: M'RE}%‘ AR5 -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BE 375 \E*%Eﬁ‘}ﬁkﬁﬁ’\]% - - - - (9,933) (9.933)
Appropriations from net profit AR 18,19 - 9,966 (9.966) - - =
Acquisition of Yunnan Hua Xiang Yuan Flavours Limited B2 ﬁﬁﬁﬁ RA7

('Yunnan Huaxiangyuan’) ([2523R)) i - - - - 2,880 2,880
Acquisition of Guangdong Province Jinye Reconstituted %Eﬁ%é éﬁ@;i:ﬁ;}# i

Tobacco Leaves Technology Development Company REARAR (EREE)

Limited (‘Guangdong Jinye') and its subsidiary and &HMT%& AN

affiliated companies (‘Guangdong Jinye Group) ([EREELE)) 29 - - - - ARLH ANEH
Capital injection to Yunnan Huaxiangyuan i ﬁnﬁzéﬁ - - - - 6,510 6,510
Capital injection to Xiamen Amber Perfumery Company — #AZEFEHERERAF

Limited ('Xiamen Amber’) ([EM%H) - - - - 2,107 0,107
Final and speial dividend for the year ended HE-5-ZE-A=1-ALERL

31 March 2010 RARHRE 19 - - (386,137) (386,137) = (386,137)
Interim dividend for the 6 months ended HECE- Tﬁﬂﬂ TALAMERZ

30 September 2010 HER 19 - - (226,789) (226,789) - (226,789)
Employee share option scheme [E8 ﬂ%ﬁﬂ&ufg‘

- Value of employee services - EaREER 3 - 413 - 413 - 4123

- Bxercise of share options - {1fFERE 17 23 83,627 - 85,750 - 85,750
Total transactions with owners EREARGAE 213 97,716 (622,892) (523,03) 92,679 (430,374)
Balance at 31 March 2011 R=B--%§=B=1-H 315,005 677,318 4,048,327 5,040,650 255,213 5,295,863
The notes on pages 90 to 176 are an integral part of these S90E 176 MM RALTE M MRNBEID

consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Cash flows from operating activities & FEB 2R ERE

Cash generated from operations

Income tax paid

Net cash generated from
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries

Capital injection in associate

Purchases of property, plant and

equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of an associate

Short-term time deposits withdraw/

(placed)

Purchases of intangible assets

Interests received
Dividends received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to shareholders
Receipts from the issue of shares
Proceeds from issue of shares in
connection with exercise of

share options

Repayment of short-term borrowings
Short-term bank borrowings

Interest paid

Repayment to a shareholder
Net cash used in financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and

cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effects of exchange rate changes on
cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at

end of the year

The notes on pages 90 to 176 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March
BZ=BA=1+—HILFE

Note 2011 2010
B 5 —E——F —E—FF
30 1,645,859 1,538,570
(239,529) (152,610)

1,406,330 1,385,960

29 (1,321,781) (112,170)
(30,085) =

(44,570) (32,061)

927 606

= 3,911

230,886 (230,886)

= (1,168)

30,043 13,606

= 512

(1,134,580) (357,650)

(619,130) (547,649)

22,107 =

66,928 159,485

(699,127) =

894,348 240,000

(16,309) (1,508)

(10,000) (326,919)

(361,183) (476,591)

(89,433) 551,719

1,678,640 1,126,735

87,203 186

15 1,676,410 1,678,640
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e BTSRRI EE

For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

90

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the ‘Company’) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon House,
2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the ‘Stock Exchange’).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (the 'Group’) are mainly engaged in the
production, distribution and sale of flavours and fragrances
and reconstituted tobacco leaves in the People’s Republic of
China (the '‘PRC’). Ms. Chu Lam Yiu (‘Ms. Chu’), who is the
Chairman of the Board of Directors, holds approximately 38%
equity interest in the Company as at 31 March 2011, through
five limited companies incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and solely beneficially owned by her, namely Mogul Enterprises
Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited, Power Nation
International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited and Real Elite
Investments Limited, and is the single largest shareholder of
the Company.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of HK dollars (‘"HKD'000’) unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 17 June 2011.

Huabao International Holdings Limited %% BB 2% AR

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRAEHEBEIN - FAELBGAEE T ITIIR)

1. —REs

EEBRIERAER AR ([ARAF]) RERE
o Hiifftit £
b 3 A Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,

MK RERRER DA

Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °

ARBWB N E2REBBBHARXZMER AR

(TBE2XPT L) E7 e

AR BEELZERAR - ARFRENB A
Al ([AEE]) 2¥BEEEHREARLNE
([HFE]) A& SHEHEHEETREHMER
SHh o AMEL LT ([RE L)) DARRAIZE
EREE RZE—F=A=+—H ' &
MARNREBRZESTMACZH I BRI
TH—EZ B REMR A EMogul Enterprises
Limited * Resourceful Link International
International
Limited * Jumbo Elite Limited &2Real Elite
Investments Limited * 8 A A E]4I38% 2 #

Limited * Power Nation

7 RARANE—FARRK -

R e MBRERRZEHAEIN

“E——FRATEREEESRETE -

Y7l  2010-2011 Annual Report 5§

BB T
T(MEBTT) IR - AEaMBRRER



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

These policies have been consistently applied to all the years

presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRS’) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
'HKICPA'). The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared under the historical cost convention, as
modified by available-for-sale financial assets.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(@) The following new standards and amendments
to standards are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2010 and are
relevant to the Group:

. HKFRS 3 (revised), ‘Business combinations’,
and consequential amendments to HKAS
27, 'Consolidated and separate financial
statements’, HKAS 28, ‘Investments in
associates’, and HKAS 31,
joint ventures’, are effective prospectively

‘Interests in

to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after 1 July 2009.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

The following new standards and amendments
to standards are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2010 and are
relevant to the Group: (continued)

The revised standard continues to apply the
acquisition method to business combinations
but with some significant changes compared
with HKFRS 3. For example, all payments
to purchase a business are recorded at fair
value at the acquisition date, with contingent
payments classified as debt subsequently
re-measured through the statement of
comprehensive income. There is a choice on
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure
the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets. All acquisition-related costs are
expensed. The revised standard was applied
to the acquisition of the controlling interests
mentioned in Note 29. The Group has chosen
to recognise the non-controlling interest at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets rather than
fair value.

. HKAS 27 (revised) requires the effects of all
transactions with non-controlling interests to
be recorded in equity if there is no change
in control and these transactions will no
longer result in goodwill or gains and losses.
The standard also specifies the accounting
when control is lost. Any remaining interest
in the entity is re-measured to fair value,
and a gain or loss is recognized in profit or
loss. HKAS 27 (revised) has had no impact
on the current period, as none of the non-
controlling interests have a deficit balance;
there have been no transactions whereby an
interest in an entity is retained after the loss
of control of that entity, and there have been
no transactions with non-controlling interests.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a)

The following new standards and amendments
to standards are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2010 and are
relevant to the Group: (continued)

HKAS 17 (amendment), ‘Leases’, deletes
specific guidance regarding classification
of leases of land, so as to eliminate
inconsistency with the general guidance on
lease classification. As a result, leases of
land should be classified as either finance or
operating lease using the general principles
of HKAS 17, i.e. whether the lease transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an asset to the
lessee. HKAS 17 (amendment) has been
applied retrospectively for annual periods
beginning 1 January 2010 in accordance with
the effective date and transitional provisions
of the amendment. The amendment does not
result in a material impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

HKAS 36 (amendment), ‘Impairment of
assets’, effective from 1 January 2010. The
amendment clarifies that the largest cash-
generating unit (group of units) to which
goodwill should be allocated for the purposes
of impairment testing is an operating
segment, as defined by paragraph 5 of HKFRS
8, 'Operating segments’ (that is, before
the aggregation of segments with similar
economic characteristics).

HKAS 38 (amendment), ‘Intangible assets’,
effective from 1 January 2010. The
amendment clarifies guidance in measuring
the fair value of an intangible asset acquired
in a business combination and permits the
grouping of intangible assets as a single asset
if each asset has similar useful economic lives.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
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2.

94

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Huabao International Holdings Limited =28 BB 22 % & &

Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

The following new and amended standards, and
interpretations are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2010, but are

not currently relevant or do not have significant
impact to the Group’s operations (although they
may affect the accounting for future transactions
and events):

HKFRS 1 (revised), ‘First-time adoption of
HKFRSs’, effective from 1 July 2009.

HK(IFRIC) 17, ‘Distribution of Non-Cash Assets
to owners’, effective from 1 July 2009.

HKAS 39
instruments: Recognition and measurement’,

(amendment), ‘Financial
‘Eligible hedge items’, effective from 1 July
2009.
HKAS 1
financial statements’, effective from 1 January
2010.

HKFRS 2 (amendment), ‘Group cash-settled
share-based payment transactions’, effective

(amendment), ‘Presentation of

from 1 January 2010.

HK-Int 5, ‘Presentation of financial statements
— classification by the borrower of a term
loan that contains a repayment on demand
clause’.

First annual improvements project (2008)
published in October 2008 by the HKICPA.

- HKFRS 5, ‘Non-current assets held for
sale and discontinued operations’, and
consequential amendment to HKFRS 1.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

The following new and amended standards, and
interpretations are mandatory for the first time for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2010, but are
not currently relevant or do not have significant
impact to the Group'’s operations (although they
may affect the accounting for future transactions
and events): (continued)

° Second annual improvements project (2009)
published in May 2009 by the HKICPA.

- HKFRS 5, ‘Disclosures required in
respect of non-current assets (or
disposal groups) classified as held for
sale or discontinued operations’.

= HKAS 39, ‘Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement’.

- HK(IFRIC) 16, ‘Hedges of a net
investment in a foreign operation’.

- HKFRS 2, ‘Group cash-settled share-
based payment transactions’, and
consequential amendments to HKFRS 3.

- HK(IFRIC)-Int 9 'Reassessment
of embedded derivatives’ and
consequential amendments to HKFRS 3.

- HKFRS 8, ‘Disclosure of information
about segment assets’.

- HKAS 1, 'Presentation of financial
statements’.
- HKAS 7, ‘Cash flow statement’.

— HK(IFRIC)18, ‘Transfers of assets from
customers’.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

96

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.

POLICIES (continued)

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(c)

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BB {22 &

The following new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group:

‘Classification of rights issues’ (amendment to
HKAS 32), effective from 1 February 2010.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19, ‘Extinguishing financial
liabilities with equity instruments’, effective
from 1 July 2010.

HKFRS 1 and HKFRS 7, effective from 1 July
2010.

HKAS 24 (revised), ‘Related party disclosures’,
effective from 1 January 2011.

‘Prepayments of a minimum funding
requirement’ (amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int
14), effective from 1 January 2011.

HKAS 12 (amendment), ‘Deferred tax:
Recovery of underlying assets’, effective from

1 January 2012.

HKFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments’, effective
from 1 January 2013.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financml Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE_ZT——F=—A=+—HIFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (B R BEHEAEIN - TESEHAEETTIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTEETHERE (&)
POLICIES (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1 mEEXE (E)
() The following new standards, amendments to (©) T ZDK £ 3% Ty 7 £ [ Jh 7% 12
standards and interpretations are not yet effective ERANB)ZER] - (520 1% #1355 2E Rl
and have not been early adopted by the Group: HIZ2FE : (B)
(continued)
e Third annual improvements project (2010) e FBEGHMAELEZ-ZT—Z
published in May 2010 by the HKICPA. iﬁﬁ ﬁEFﬁE’J%E1I¢J§E§Z
HIER (ZZT—F) :
= HKFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’. - %xﬁﬂﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁ,ﬁll %3

AL AN

HKFRS 1, ‘First time Adoption of
International Financial Reporting
Standards’.
HKFRS 7, ‘Financial instruments:
Disclosures’.
HKAS 1, 'Presentation of financial
statements’.
HKAS 27, ‘Consolidated and separate

BB BREERE
% [ B R AN B PR B 75
LAER |
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SRt T A - 5%
BB g &R B 150
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BB ERIE275

financial statements’. [4r & & B S B 75 )
=
- HKAS 34, ‘Interim financial reporting’. - BB E R F345%
[ ER B 5 3 5
- HK(FRIC)-Int 13, ‘Customer loyalty - B (BRMBRER
programmes’. BZEg) 2813
(&P AEEE ]
Management does not anticipate that the BIREEBMZEEEANER
application of the revised standards will result in R ARENE Aﬁﬁﬁ%?ﬁ%ﬁ

a material impact on the Group’s consolidated BARE o
financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

98

2.2 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries made up to 31 March.

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special
purpose entities) over which the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating
policies, generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights
that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated
from the date that control ceases.

Apart from the application of merger accounting
on those common control combinations, the
Group uses the acquisition method of accounting
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially
at their fair values at the acquisition date. On
an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at
cost less impairment. Cost is adjusted to reflect
changes in consideration arising from contingent
consideration amendments. Cost also includes
direct attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company

on the basis of dividend and receivable.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired
is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired
in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognized directly in the consolidated profit or
loss.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEEBERIZRBR A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

100

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

Application of merger accounting

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the combining entities
in which the common control combination occurs
on the basis that they had been combined from the
date when the combining entities first came under
the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities are
combined using the existing book values from
the controlling parties’ perspective. No amount
is recognized for goodwill or excess of acquirers’
interest in the net fair value of acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control
combination, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated income statement includes the
results of each of the combining entities from the
earliest date presented or since the date when the
combining entities first came under the common
control, where there is a shorter period, regardless
of the date of the common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated
financial statements are presented on the basis that
the entities had been combined at the previous
closing date or when they first came under
common control, whichever is shorter.

A uniform set of accounting policies is adopted by
those entities. All intra-group transactions, balances
and unrealized gains on transactions between
combining entities or businesses are eliminated on
consolidation.

Transaction costs, including professional fees,
registration fees, costs of furnishing information to
shareholders, costs or losses incurred in combining
operations of the previously separate businesses,
etc., incurred in relation to the common control
combination that is to be accounted for by using
merger accounting is recognized as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(©)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests as transactions with equity holders of
the Group. For purchases from non-controlling
interests, the difference between any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded
in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the
entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the
change in carrying amount recognized in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for
the purposes of subsequently accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognized in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& BIFR#xAA
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

102

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(d)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting and are initially recognized at cost. The
Group’s investment in associates includes goodwill
(net of any accumulated impairment losses)
identified on acquisition.

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognized in the consolidated
income statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other consolidated comprehensive
income is recognized in other consolidated
comprehensive income. The cumulative post-
acquisition movements are adjusted against the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does
not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.

Unrealized gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the associates.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments
in associates are recognized in the consolidated
income statement.

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE

(BB EEBEIN - B SEHUBSETTIR)
2.2 #ZREKRAE (#)

(d) BELA]
BERNBEMBERAESEHAES
AEEHMEEGIENERE B
BHEB20%E50% % EEA R

(I /N TZ&éﬁLﬂfiéﬁT&%
AFR o IR AR AR - AR H
REERR 2 REBRKBED
B2 B (FOBR W REHRER
) -

AEEEBHKBREIZEARNA
MNEBERN RS WERATER
i WIBE RN EMse 2E K
SXEHUANEMERS 2ERS
RAER - REFEESREZR
FrZWBRHBEM(ELFHE -
MASREEE-—FKBERRZE
BERABBEAZBERRZ
T%Eﬁé' B FE A H i 48 1K 4 B LR
FoAKRETRE -—THRE
18 BRIEAREE D A E QR
EEESIFHAR -

AEBEEBENR ZHAXSH
AER BN E B ERE QA
SEOBBHE - BRIEXZRHEM
BREEEREZEE  TAXRE
BEBRINT AL - BE RN
SABKRERFTEELLE U
EREASERBOBRERNE —
5 o

EEERANBEERENGE I
ﬁi‘émﬁ R o



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.2 Consolidation (continued)

2.3

2.4

(e)

Jointly controlled entity

The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities
are accounted for by proportionate consolidation.
The Group combines its share of the jointly
controlled entity’s individual income and expenses,
assets and liabilities and cash flows on a line-by-
line basis with similar items in the Group’s financial
statements. The Group recognises the portion of
gains or losses on the sale of assets by the Group
to the jointly controlled entity that is attributable
to the other venturers. The Group does not
recognise its share of profits or losses from the
jointly controlled entity that result from the Group’s
purchase of assets from the jointly controlled entity
until it re-sells the assets to an independent party.
However, a loss on the transaction is recognized
immediately if the loss provides evidence of a
reduction in the net realisable value of current
assets, or an impairment loss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-

maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and

assessing performance of the operating segments, has

been identified as the executive directors that make
strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’'s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the ‘functional
currency’). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollar ("HKD'), which is
the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.
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2.4

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognized in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are
presented in the consolidated income statement
within ‘finance income or cost’.
exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated income statement within ‘other gains
— net’.

All other foreign

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency classified as
available for sale are analysed between transaction
differences resulting from changes in the amortised
cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. Translation
differences related to changes in amortised cost
are recognized in profit or loss, and other changes
in carrying amount are recognized in other
comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets, such as equities classified as available for
sale, are included in other comprehensive income.
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2.4

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(©)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that reporting;

(i)  income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are
recognized in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of the net investment in
foreign operations, and of borrowings and other
currency instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are taken to other comprehensive
income. When a foreign operation is partially
disposed of or sold, exchange differences that
were recorded in equity are recognized in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain
or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
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2.5

Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of
construction of property, plant and equipment incurred
plus interest capitalized less any impairment losses. No
provision for depreciation is made on construction in
progress until such time the relevant assets are completed
and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the income
statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Buildings 20 years
Plant and machinery 5-10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5-10 years

Leasehold improvements 2-5 years or over
the lease term,

whichever is shorter

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognized within other income — net, in the
consolidated income statement.
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2.6 Land use rights

2.7

Land use rights are up-front payments to acquire long-
term interests in the usage of land. They are stated at
cost and charged to the consolidated income statement

over the remaining period of the lease on a straight-line
basis, net of any impairment losses.

Intangible assets

(a)

(b)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of
an acquisition over the fair value of the Group's
share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired
subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in ‘intangible
assets’. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment
and carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an
entity include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units
('CGUs’) for the purpose of impairment testing. The
allocation is made to those cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units that are expected
to benefit from the business combination in which
the goodwill arose identified according to operating
segment.

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement

Customer relationships and non-competition
agreement acquired as part of a business
combination are capitalized separately from
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets
over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.
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2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (continued)
(c)  Trademarks and licenses

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses
acquired in a business combination are recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have
a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Amortization is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful
lives of 10 to 20 years.

(d)  Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortized over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 5
years.

(e)  Patent

Patent includes purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life 10 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are
not subject to amortization and are tested annually
for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped
at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an
impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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2.9

Financial assets
2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories: loans and receivables and
available-for-sale. The classification depends on
the purposes for which the financial assets were
acquired. Management determines the classification
of its financial assets at initial recognition.

(a) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative
financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active
market. They are included in current assets,
except for those with maturities greater than
12 months after the reporting date which are
classified as non-current assets. Loans and
receivables are classified as ‘trade and other
receivables’, ‘short-term time deposits’ and
‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement
of financial position.

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-
derivatives that are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other
categories. They are included in non-current
assets unless the investment matures or
management intends to dispose of it within
12 months of the end of the reporting period.
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2.9

Financial assets (continued)

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognized on the trade-date — the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Investments are initially recognized at fair
value plus transaction costs for all financial assets
not carried at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards
of ownership. Available-for-sale financial assets
are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and
receivables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair value of monetary and non-
monetary securities classified as available-for-sale
are recognized in other comprehensive income.

When securities classified as available for sale
are sold or impaired, the accumulated fair value
adjustments recognized in equity are included in
the income statement as ‘other gains — net’.

Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments
are recognized in the consolidated income
statement as part of other income when the
Group's right to receive payments is established.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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2.11 Impairment of financial assets

(a)

Assets carried at amortised cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
whether there is objective evidence that a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

The criteria that the Group uses to determine that
there is objective evidence of an impairment loss
include:

o Significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
obligor;

o A breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

° The Group, for economic or legal reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
granting to the borrower a concession that
the lender would not otherwise consider;

° It becomes probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation;

o The disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties; or

° Observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows from a portfolio of financial
assets since the initial recognition of those
assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets
in the portfolio, including:

(i)  adverse changes in the payment status
of borrowers in the portfolio; or

(i)  national or local economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on the
assets in the portfolio.
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2.

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(a)

Huabao International Holdings Limited %% BB 2% AR

Assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The Group first assesses whether objective evidence
of impairment exists.

For loans and receivables category, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized
in the consolidated income statement. If a loan
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for
measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the
contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may
measure impairment on the basis of an instrument'’s
fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the
impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognized (such as an
improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the
reversal of the previously recognized impairment
loss is recognized in the consolidated income
statement.
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2.11 Impairment of financial assets (continued)

(b)

Assets classified as available-for-sale

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting
period whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets
is impaired. In the case of equity investments
classified as available-for-sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security
below its costs is also evidence that the assets are
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss -
measured as the difference between the acquisition
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that financial asset previously recognized
in profit or loss — is removed from equity and
recognized in the separate consolidated income
statement. Impairment losses recognized in the
separate consolidated income statement on equity
instruments are not reversed through the separate
consolidated income statement.

Impairment testing of the investments in
subsidiaries, associates or jointly controlled entity
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary, associate
or jointly controlled entity in the period the
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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2.12

2.13

2.14

2.15

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realizable value. Cost is determined using the weighted
average method. The cost of finished goods and work
in progress comprises raw materials, direct labour, other
direct costs and related production overheads (based
on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing
costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.
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2.16

2.17

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
carried at amortized cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognized in the income statement over the
period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognized as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortized over the period of the

facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the
reporting period.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the year in which they are incurred.
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2.18

2.19

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or
services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of
business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified
as current liabilities if payment is due within one year
or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current
liabilities.

Trade payables are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method.

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date in the countries where the Company and
its subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entity
operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid
to the tax authorities.
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2.19 ERREZEREHR (F)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in
a transaction other than a business combination that at
the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the reporting date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilized.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries, joint controlled
entity and associates, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is within the control
of the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is
an intention to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2.

118

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Employee benefits

(a)

Huabao International Holdings Limited %% BB 12 % AR

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (‘MPF Scheme’) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in the Mainland China of the
PRC (the ‘Mainland China’) participate in employee
social security plans, including pension, medical,
housing and other welfare benefits, organized and
administered by the local governments. The Group
also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules for
the employees of the subsidiary located in Germany.
The Group has no further payment obligations
once these contributions have been paid. The
contributions are recognized as employees benefit
expense when they are due and are reduced by
contributions forfeited by those employees who
leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the
contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognized
as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a
reduction in the future payments is available.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.20 Employee benefits (continued)

(b)

Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-
based compensation plan. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognized as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting
period is determined by reference to the fair value
of the options granted, including any market
performance conditions and the impact of any
non-vesting conditions, excluding the impact of
any service and non-market performance vesting
conditions (for example, profitability and sales
growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. At each reporting
date, the entity revises its estimates of the number
of options that are expected to vest. It recognizes
the impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement, with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited
to share capital (nominal value) and share premium
when the options are exercised.
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2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services
in the ordinary course of the Group's activities. Revenue
is shown, net of value-added tax, returns, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of
revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that
future economic benefits will flow to the entity and
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's
activities as described below. The Group bases its
estimates on historical results, taking into consideration
the type of customer, the type of transaction and the
specifics of each arrangement.

(a)  Sales of goods

Sales of goods are recognized when a group
entity has delivered products to the customer,
the customer has accepted the products and
collectibility of the related receivables is reasonably
assumed.

Delivery does not occur until the products have
been delivered to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to
the customer, and either the customer has accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for
acceptance have been satisfied.

(b)  Interest income

Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion
basis using the effective interest method. When
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being
the estimated future cash flows discounted at
original effective interest rate of the instrument,
and continues unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is
recognized using the original effective interest rate.
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2.21

2.22

Revenue recognition (continued)
(c)  Dividend income

Dividend income is recognized when the right to
receive payment is established.

Research and development costs

Research expenditure is recognized as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognized as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

the management intends to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it;

(c)  there is an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;
adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognized as an expense
are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.
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2.23

2.24

2.25

Operating lease

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are
classified as operating leases.
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the
lessor) are charged to the consolidated income statement
on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

Payments made under

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognized in the consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognized as a liability in the Group’s and Company’s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’'s
Board of Directors.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
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3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow interest rate risk, and fair value interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group does not have any
significant price risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects
on the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors (the ‘Board’). The
Group identifies and evaluates financial risks in close co-
operations with its operating units. The Board provides
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies
covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.

(a)  Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and the Mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily with respect
to Renminbi (‘RMB’).
of HKD against RMB is subject to the rules

The exchange rate

and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. The
Group did not have significant exposure to
foreign exchange risk as the entities of the
Group mainly earn their profits in RMB and
the value of RMB has been appreciating
against HKD.
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3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(a)

Market risk (continued)

0]

(ii)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Should RMB be strengthened/weakened by
5% against HKD during the year ended 31
March 2011, with all other factors remaining
unchanged, the profit after income tax for
the year and equity would be affected as
follows:
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Change of profit after
income tax for the year

increase/(decrease)
HRHERANNSE
#m CRd)
2011 2010
=2——F | _T-TF
Group REE
- Strengthened by 5% — FHE5% 47,352 9,431
— Weakened by 5% — B21E5% (47,352) (9,431)
Company b YN
— Strengthened by 5% — FHE5%
— Weakened by 5% — B2{B5%

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group's
performance.

The Group's exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

At 31 March 2011, if interest rates on
borrowings had been 2 percentage points
higher/lower, with all other variables held
constant, there would be no material impact
to the profit for the year.
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Change of equity
as at 31 March
increase/(decrease)
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2011
—E——F

2010
—E—FF

216,351
(216,351)

90,759
(90,759)
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3.1

Financial risk factors (continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk
arises from cash and cash equivalents, deposits with
banks and financial institutions, credit exposure
to customers and related parties arising from
outstanding receivables.

As at the reporting dates, all the Group’s bank
deposits are placed in high quality financial
institutions without significant exposure to credit
risk.

The Group currently sells substantially all its
flavours, fragrances and reconstituted tobacco
leaves products in the PRC domestic market. Credit
is granted for a period up to 6 months to the
major customers. The credit period is determined
according to an assessment made on the financial
conditions and past payment history of these
customers with the approval obtained from senior
management. As at 31 March 2011, the 5 largest
debtors accounted for 48% (2010: 35%) of total
trade receivables balance of the Group.

The directors are of the view that most customers
with outstanding balances as at 31 March 2011
are either existing customers with long cooperation
history with the Group and/or reputable companies
in the industry. The risk of credit default is
considered to be low and accordingly, the
provision for doubtful debts as at 31 March 2011
amounting to approximately HKD3,407,000 (2010:
HKD2,215,000) is considered adequate to cover any
significant potential credit risk.

The Company also recorded some balances due
from subsidiaries. The directors do not consider
that there is significant credit risk arising from these
balances in light of the past repayment history and
operations of these subsidiaries.
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3.1

3.2

Financial risk factors (continued)

(c)  Liquidity risk
Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating
entities of the Group. The Company monitors
rolling forecasts of the Group’'s liquidity
requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to
meet operational needs and that the Group does
not breach borrowing covenants on its borrowing
facilities. Such forecasting takes into consideration
the Group’s debt financing plans, covenant
compliance, compliance with internal statement
of financial position ratio targets and if applicable,
external regulatory or legal requirements — for
example, currency restrictions.

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, except for an
insignificant amount of long-term borrowing, all
borrowing and trade and other payables of the
Group and the Company were with maturity date
within 1 year.

As at 31 March 2011 and 2010, the Group’s net
debt is 0, which is calculated as total borrowings
(including current and non-current borrowings) less
cash and cash equivalents.

Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation

The Group adopts the amendments to HKFRS 7 ‘Financial
statements: disclosures’ for financial instruments that
are measured in the consolidated statements of financial
position at fair value, which requires disclosure of fair
value measurements by level of the following fair value
measurement hierarchy:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2).

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).

As at 31 March 2011, the Group has available-for-sale
financial assets that are grouped under Level 3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 2.8. The recoverable amounts of cash-
generating units have been determined based on value-
in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of
estimates (Note 8).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(a)

(b)

Impairment of goodwill (continued)

Should the budgeted gross margin used in the value-
in-use calculation for the CGUs of flavours, fragrances
and reconstituted tobacco leaves be 10 percentage
points lower than management’s estimates at 31 March
2011 respectively, the Group will not need to recognize
impairment of goodwill.

If the estimated pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash
flows of the CGUs had been 1 percentage point higher
than management’s estimates, the Group will not need to
recognize an impairment of goodwill.

Dividends policy of subsidiaries

On 16 March 2007, National People’s Congress approved
the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the PRC (hereinafter
‘the New CIT Laws’) which has become effective from 1
January 2008. According to the relevant regulations of
the new CIT Laws, when a foreign investment enterprise
distributes dividends out of the profits earned from 1
January 2008 onwards to its overseas investors, it will
be subject to withholding income tax. The applicable
withholding income tax rate varies with the origin of the
overseas investors.

The Group’s PRC subsidiaries have accumulated significant
distributable profits from 1 January 2008. The directors
of the Company estimated that a portion of profits
generated by the PRC subsidiaries would be distributed to
their Hong Kong immediate holding companies. Deferred
income tax liabilities had been provided based on 5% of
the estimated profits to be remitted to Hong Kong.

As at 31 March 2011, deferred income tax liabilities
of HKD91,493,000 (31 March 2010: HKD43,246,000)
have not been recognized for the withholding tax that
would be payable on the unremitted profits of certain
PRC subsidiaries. The directors of the Company have
determined not to distribute these earnings in the
foreseeable future.

The directors of the Company will regularly review the
fund requirements of the Group and thus revise the
dividend distribution policy of its subsidiaries from time
to time.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

The Group has organized its operations into three main
operating segments:

(1)  Flavours;
(2)  Fragrances; and
(3) Reconstituted tobacco leaves.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as
the executive directors (the ‘Executive Directors’). The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation perspective and assess the performance of flavours,
fragrances and reconstituted tobacco leaves segments.
Flavours include research and development, production
and sale of flavours products. Fragrances include research
and development, production and sale of fragrances
products. Reconstituted tobacco leaves include research and
development, production and sale of reconstituted tobacco
leaves. The Executive Directors assesses the performance of the
operating segments based on a measure of operating profit.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRBHEEEEIN - TELEHIAERTTIR)
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2011 is HEZZT——F=A=1T—HULEFEZHHE
presented below: K25

Year ended 31 March 2011
BE-_Z——5=fA=1+-HLFE

Reconstituted Total
Flavours  Fragrances tobacco leaves  segments Corporate Total
RAERER RABREN B&gh 2Rt o @t
Total turnover FloE ] 2,609,161 160,362 86,759 2,856,282 - 2,856,282
Inter-segment sales HEEHEE (4,099) (10) - (4,109) - (4,109)
Net turnover/ FEEE/
segment sales AEHA 2,605,062 160,352 86,759 2,852,173 - 2,852,173
Segment result DEEE 1,837,579 30,632 14,905 1,883,116 (11,410) 1,871,706
Finance income S ON 24,692
Finance costs BAAK (14,029)
Finance income - net BHWA - 58 10,663
Share of loss of associates  JE{FHE= A Al E1E (1,255)
Profit before income tax BRI RA 1,881,114
Income tax expense FsH (249,256)
Profit for the year rEERF 1,631,858
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Findncial Statements

fre MR M

HE_Z——F=A=+—HIFE
(BREBHERAEN - AASBRHABE T TIIR)

5. oHER (&)

As at 31 March 2011
R-Z-——-$=A=+-H

Reconstituted Total
Flavours  Fragrances tobacco leaves  segments Corporate Total
RAEREN HAERER BEEER A o @it
Segment assets PTHEE 4,695,066 237,689 1,980,688 6,913,443 14,397 6,927,840
The segment information for the year ended 31 March 2010 is HE_ZZF=A=1T—RHILFREZHFE
presented below: *4£§|JKZD—F :
Year ended 31 March 2010
HE_Z-TE=A=1—HILFE
Reconstituted Total
Flavours Fragrances tobacco leaves segments Corporate Total
SRAERER ARERER EEER DEbEEE @ st
Total turnover BEER 2,291,077 75,499 - 2,366,576 = 2,366,576
Inter-segment sales DEEHE (167) (6) - (173) - (173)
Net turnover/ FEEE/

Segment sales AEHA 2,290,910 75,493 = 2,366,403 = 2,366,403
Segment result DHEE 1,519,994 18,669 — 1,538,663 (21,974) 1,516,689
Finance income 5 ON 15,761
Finance costs BERAK (1,508)
Finance income - net BN — FE 14,253
Share of profit of associates JE{5HES A AT 707
Profit before income tax ~ BRE{AI & FI 1,531,649
Income tax expense FiSii (162,236)
Profit for the year rEERF 1,369,413

As at 31 March 2010
~$F=A=1-F
Reconstituted Total
Flavours Fragrances tobacco leaves segments Corporate Total
RREREN BRERER BEER DEbEEE Ft M@t
Segment assets THEE 4,638,964 156,316 - 4,795,280 38,578 4,833,858
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

132

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment
without inclusion of unallocated expenses, finance costs and
finance income. This is the measure reported to chief operating
decision markers for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

The total of non-current assets, other than investments and
deferred tax assets, of the Group as at 31 March 2011 and
2010 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales
of flavours, fragrances and reconstituted tobacco leaves to
customers mainly located in the PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to one single external
customer amounted to 27% of the Group’s total revenue.
These revenues are attributable to flavours segment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-_ZT——F=ZA=+—HILEE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB AEEBEEI - TESEHABETTIIR)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT — GROUP 6. ¥ HERRE-LT5E

Furniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings machinery vehicles  equipment improvements in progress Total
B £8
i3 BF  RERRE RE L HEHE ERIR h)
At 1 April 2009 R-ZENEMA-R
Cost KA 227,696 100,082 32919 68,402 5453 4184 438,736
Accumulated depreciation  ZFHTE (57,831) (30,578) (20,890) (37,008) (2,580) - (148,887)
Net book amount KHE 169,865 69,504 12,029 31,394 2873 4,184 289,849
Year ended 31 March 2010 EHZ-%-3%
ZA=t-ALER
Opening net book amount ~ EAIEREFE 169,865 69,504 12,029 31,39 2873 4,184 289,849
Reclassification Py (269) 269 - - - - -
Additions RE - 3,619 2,180 4,053 1,646 20,563 32,061
Transfers g 1,092 2,79 1,776 624 - (6,286) -
Acquisition of Maoming Kebi  WER 2N ER
Flavour & Fragrance BHERAA
Limited (‘Maoming Kebi’) (4RI ) 8 - - - - - 8
Acquisition of Qingdao Qingda UEEEBEBA 4,056 5,005 341 141 - - 9,543
Disposals HE (214) 1) (53) (49) - - (357)
Depreciation ik 23 (9,980) (9,338) (3,764) (7,305) (1,074) - (31,461)
Exchange differences AR 240 320 (143) 2174 (448) 12 2,155
Closing net book amount ~ FREAFE 164,798 72,132 12,366 31,032 2,997 18473 301,798
At 31 March 2010 R=%-%%
=A=1-A
Cost A 233,870 112,605 36,819 75,720 6,461 18473 483,948
Accumulated depreciation  2t47E (69,072) (40473) (24453) (44,688) (3,464) = (182,150)
Net book amount EEFE 164,798 72132 12,366 31,032 2,997 18473 301,798
Year ended 31 March 2011 EZ=E--F
ZA=t-BLEE
Opening net book amount ~~ EAIAFE 164,798 72,132 12,366 31,032 2,997 18473 301,798
Additions hE 1917 3,706 4,856 17,605 1,346 24,764 54,194
Transfers & 15,441 11,878 757 186 237 (28,499) -
Acquisition of Yunnan
Huaxiangyuan* WBEEEE R 29 2,544 2,082 65 - - - 4,691
Acquisition of Guangdong
Jinye Group WERRSELR 29 83,021 78,630 3,034 3,351 5,027 29,230 202,293
Disposals k= - (482) (370) (119) - - (971)
Depreciation TE 23 (12,518) (15,237) (4,592) (8,665) (1,408) - (42,420)
Exchange differences ErREE 5,708 991 430 7,431 151 2,077 16,788
Closing net book amount ~ FAEEFE 260,911 153,700 16,546 50,821 8,350 46,045 536,373
At 31 March 2011 R=B--F
=R=1-AR
Cost A 357,734 307,199 45,525 107,693 13378 46,045 871,574
Accumulated depreciation 2:hE (96,823) (153,499) (28,979) (56,872) (5,028) - (341,201)
Net book amount BEFE 260,911 153,700 16,546 50,821 8,350 46,045 536,373
* As at 31 March 2011, buildings with a carrying amount of * R-E——F=A=+—8 BFHNEEOE
approximately HKD2,945,000 was pledged for the Group’s bank 4975852 945,000)) AANE B 2 RITE R4
borrowings amounting to HKD3,562,000. #3562, 000/EH I o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZZT——F=—A=1+—HIFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (KRR AEERAEI  FTAESHEHUNBEETITIIR)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - GROUP 6. X HERRE-IT5E (&)

(continued)

Depreciation was expensed in the following categories: FERAT OB

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HILLEE

Note 2011 2010
MsE | —E——fF —T-TF
Manufacturing overheads B35 E / 18,319 k 11,019
Selling and marketing expenses SHE R ER 1,693 1,489
Administrative expenses TRER 22,408 18,953
Total depreciation mEBRs 23 42,420 31,461
7. LAND USE RIGHTS - GROUP 7. ITHERE-FXEE
The Group’s interests in land use rights represent prepaid REBR T ERARNERATANKLEES -
operating lease payments and their net book values are HEEREEFEITWOT -
analyzed as follows:
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2011 2010
‘ —E——F —T-TF
Outside Hong Kong, held on: EBEBRIMRATEERE / k
Leases between 10 to 50 years 102 50F ML) 194,697 67,684
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=t—HLFE
Note 2011 2010
L —E——fF —T-FTF
Beginning of the year F4) 67,684 58,515
Acquisition of Qingdao Qingda WESEER = 10,415
Acquisition of Yunnan Huaxiangyuan* W EmERR* 29 958 -
Acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group WEERSEEE 29 121,996 =
Amortization B (2,795) (1,430)
Exchange differences bE N B 6,854 184
End of the year FR 194,697 67,684
3 As at 31 March 2011, land with a carrying amount of * RZZE——F=A=+—H  LHHEAE
approximately HKD965,000 was pledged for the Group's bank #)78%965,000 T Jh AARE B 2 RITERLE
borrowings amounting to HKD3,562,000. #3,562,0001EK ] -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE_ZT——F=—A=+—HIFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BREAEEREEI TESBELHUBETITIIR)
8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP 8. EFEE-4F£H
Non-
Trademarks Customer  competition ~ Computer
Goodwill ~ and licences relationships  agreement Software Patents Total
BER
[k fFaR  EFEE  FRIHE B EG Bl @3t
Noteliizk (a) (b)
At 1 April 2009 R=ZENEMA-A
Cost B 1,290,248 17,483 235,532 4577 625 236 1,548,701
Accumulated amortization  Zzf# 4 = (4.273) (36,341) (706) (215) (15) (41,550)
Net book amount FEHE 1,200,248 13,210 199,191 3871 410 21 1,507,151

Year ended 31 March 2010 §Z-8-%&

ZAZt-HLEE
Opening net book amount ~ EHEEFE 1,290,248 13,210 199,191 3,871 410 21 1,507,151
Additions NE - - - - 1,060 108 1,168
Acquisition of Maoming Kebi Mg & &/, 109,650 - 5,139 82 - = 114,871
Acquisition of Qingdao g |

Qingda BBEA 244 - 1,416 194 - - 1,854

Amortization g - (1,405) (24,533) (494) (153) (34) (26,619)
Exchange differences RS 3,915 40 274 5 - = 4,234
Closing net book amount ~ EXEEEE 1,404,057 11,845 181,487 3,658 1317 295 1,602,659
At 31 March 2010 R-Z-2F

=ZR=t-H
Cost WA 1,404,057 17,539 242,490 4,888 1,687 345 1,671,006
Accumulated amortization ~ ZiH& - (5,694) (61,003) (1,230 (370) (50) (68,347)
Net book amount EBFE 1,404,057 11,845 181,487 3,658 1,317 295 1,602,659
Year ended 31 March 2011 §2=-8—-%&

ZREt-RALFE
Opening net book amount ~ EHIEEEE 1,404,057 11,845 181,487 3,658 1,317 295 1,602,659
Additions RE - - - - " - 1
Acquisition of Guangdong ~ WBEER

Jinye Group LELER 29 1,079,606 108,595 14,063 - - 18,782 1,221,046

Amortization g - (3.812) (26,117) (494) (296) (2,487) (33,206)
Exchange differences B AR 86,049 423 3,212 5 50 (291) 89,448
Closing net book amount ~ FAEEFAE 2,569,712 117,051 172,645 3,169 1,082 16,299 2,879,958
At 31 March 2011 R=B--F

=ZR=t-H
Cost A 2,569,712 126,905 263,166 4,888 1,728 18,899 2,985,298
Accumulated amortization  Zzf# 3 - (9,854) (90,521) (1,719) (646) (2,600) (105,340)
Net hook amount FEFE 2,569,712 117,051 172,645 3,169 1,082 16,299 2,879,958
Amortization is included in administrative expenses in the HIEAIEELSAWNRRNITHRERR -

consolidated income statement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-_ZT——F=A=1+—HLFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EIEREAEN - A SBEHNEE T ITIIR)
8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS - GROUP (continued) 8. EIEE-Z+5H (&B)

(@) Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated (a) HEXEZHKEFINTEHREFMRT
profitability of operations, the anticipated future T8 HA ) 2R 21 4% 2 177 (B 0P AN 4 K ) T 355
operating synergies and enlarged market value. Goodwill Tﬁ%ﬁﬁ%i ZISEIZFﬁ;E‘I%*ETFﬁ%
is allocated to the Group’'s CGUs identified mainly BoED ZEIReEESN -
according to the operating segments.

The goodwill is allocated as follows: BESENHMELSHNWT
As at 31 March
R=B=1-A
2011 2010
3% “3-%F
Reconstituted Reconstituted
tobacco tobacco
Flavours  Fragrances leaves Total Flavours Fragrances leaves Total
REEREN  AREREH R B ) RREREH BREREH EEER &3t
Goodwil e 1,405,750 52,291 1,111,611 2,569,712 ‘ 1,353,939 50,118 - 1,404,057
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based RIS B A B AT H FT Uk Bl 4 58 T3 LA(E
on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre- FAEESE BREEERAEENE
tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets SR AYETE - TR SRR (B
approved by management covering a ten-year period BEE)WES R FMEATEER
(2010: ten-year period) as management believes that EEEOH AN T ERMEEEmE
the cash flow of the Group is comparatively stable and a S MAMAEE S REHE (mE—F
forecasted period longer than five years is feasible. Cash F£:10FEH) c BATERNES TS
flows beyond the ten-year period are extrapolated using ERAMTES EREZF RO o EZiE
the estimated growth rates below. The growth rate does EA@BBESELB Y 250 BL
not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the ERE T E K o
businesses in which the CGU operates.
The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations FHEGESENTEESMT
are as follows:
As at 31 March
R=A=t-H
2011 2010
“2—-f I
Reconstituted Reconstituted
Flavours Fragrances tobacco leaves Flavours Fragrances  tobacco leaves
RAEREN  HRERER BES®h | RAEREH BREREH BEER
Gross margin FEFE 75% 20%-25% 45%-58% 75% 40%  Not applicable
TER
Growth rate #RE 5% 5% 3% 5% 5% Not applicable
T ER
Discount rate [Ehapizpes 13.5% 13.5% 15% 13.5% 13.5%  Not applicable
A ER
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8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS — GROUP (continued)

(a)

(b)

(continued)
These assumptions have been used for the analysis of
each CGU within the operating segment.

Management determined budgeted gross margin based
on past performance and their expectations for the
market development. The discount rates used are pre-tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments.

After assessing the cash flow projections of the
various CGUs, the directors considered that there is no
impairment of the goodwill as at 31 March 2011 and
2010.

Trademarks represent the Peacock and Xinghu
trademarks.

INVESTMENTS IN AND BALANCES WITH
SUBSIDIARIES - COMPANY

(a)

(b)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments at cost — unlisted shares

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fRA M HRAME

HE_Z——F=HA=+—HILFE

(R=EEAEN

FTE S BANBE T TIIR)

8. EFEE-4+5E (&)

(a)

(b)

(&)
HRERE s ARNEENFFHNEERE
EEBUODNA -

EEERBBEINFEAREHTERR
MBI E TR £ X - AR E
ABALRRE @D BN ERR

EHEZERSELFEMNRSIRIER
% AEEZEER/R_FT——FR
R EE=A=+-HABBLERE -

BRI ERENEER -

9. RMBRARZREREH Z&H - X

NG

(a)

BELRRAE—IE LT

MEARZRE

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

2011 2010
. Z®-—-%  ~T-TF
| 1,245,083 1,245,083

The balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free, denominated in HKD and repayable on demand. The
fair value of the balances with subsidiaries approximate
to their carrying value. None of the balances is either
past due or impaired.

(b)

MEBARZEHRTEER 28 B
BREMNARERKEE - HEAF
ZREBHREEEQRAERE - REHS
FREBHISOR(E
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A B BN

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-ZT——F=A=1+—HLFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EIEREAEN - A SBHNEETITIIR)
10. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES - GROUP REBERRZRE — F&H
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLHFE
Note 2011 2010
B s —E——fF —E—TF
Beginning of the year F4) 6,236 9,233
Share of (loss)/profit of associates JE(G L N A
(&18) /& 30 (1,255) 707
Gain on disposal of Weihai Huayuan Green HERESETHEESE
Industry Co Ltd. ('Weihai Huayuan’) BRAR (TBEZET])
B R 30 - 740
Acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group WEERSEERE 25,464 =
Capital injection in Guizhou Huangguoshu ¥ & & ME R &
Jinye Technology Co Ltd. BEAERAT ([EM
('Guizhou Hangguoshu’) =ERE ) 30,085 -
Proceeds from disposal of Weihai Huayuan & EEZE TSR - (3,911)
Dividends declared IR E (475) (512)
Exchange differences fE o B 954 (21)
End of the year FIR 61,009 6,236
The results, assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the RZTE——F=A=+—8H FEBEZBER
Group's associates, which are all unlisted, as at 31 March 2011 A (GEEMRAE) 2#E - BE (BEHE) M
are as follows: BEAT :
Net profit/
Country of (loss) for % Interests
Name incorporation Assets Liabilities Revenues the year indirectly held Principal activities
FEER B
£ HRMALER BB = hE  BF/ (B8 EREAt TEER
Henan Jinrui Flavours Co. ~ PRC RMB RMB RMB RMB 25%  Production and sale
Ltd. ('Henan Jinrui) HE ARE ARE ARE ARE of tobacco flavours
MEERERER 38,416,000 16,439,000 29,529,000 1,047,000 and fragrances and
BRAR (TAEek]) fine chemicals
products
EERHEERER
EHREAIER
Guizhou Huangguoshu PRC RMB RMB RMB RMB 30% Pre-operating
EMERE HE AR ARK AR AE% EfRRED
155,206,000 243,000 - (4,412,000)
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11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Z\;

N =

RE-T —F=A=+—HIFE
(B SEEAES - FELBELUBET IR

FIFSERAR M oL

AVAILABLE FOR SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS - 1. AIHHESREE — A5E
GROUP
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+—HLFE
2011 2010
; —E——fF —E-TF
Beginning of the year 1) - -
Acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group: WHEERSEEER :
— Hunan Jinye Reconstituted Tobacco - EeERESRFAR
Leaves Limited Liability Company HEERT] 11,624 -
— Shanghai Tobacco Group Taichuang —RLEBESERARREBE
Haiyan Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves EEERARRAA
Company Limited 24,969 -
Net fair value change recorded in equity AR FEZETEAER 755 -
Exchange differences [EHZER 719 -
End of the year FR 38,067 -
Available-for-sale financial assets include: AL ESREERE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2011 2010
=B——F —Z2-ZF
Unlisted equity investments: at fair value JELTHEREE : AAE \ 38,067 \ -

Available-for-sale financial assets are all denominated in RMB.
None of these financial assets is impaired.

AHLESREEAAREE - REESRE

EERE -

Huabao International Holdings Limited == BIFX{EARBRAF] » 2010-2011 Annual Report F# 139



For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

140

The movement in the deferred income tax is as follows:

At 1 April 2009

Acquisition of Maoming Kebi

Acquisition of Qingdao Qingda

Recognized in the income
statement

Exchange differences

At 31 March 2010

Acquisition of Guangdong
Jinye Group

Recognized in the income
statement

Exchange differences

At 31 March 2011

RZZZNFWA—H

WAL
KEEEEX
MR ER

E X%

REERER

B2

RZZ—%=A=1—H

Note

26

29

26

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE

(BRAEHEBEIN - FAESRGABE T ITIIR)

Deferred income

tax assets

ELFEHEE

Unrealized
profits
arising from
intra-group
sales

58
RRREEE
FEEHEE
AREREF
31,055

19,341
148

50,544

(10,496)
2,752

42,800

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for temporary

differences arising from the unrealized profits from intra-group

sales, and calculated under the liability method using the tax

rate which are enacted or substantively enacted by the balance

sheet date.

BEFTSREZHIT

Deferred income tax liabilities

Valuation
surplus of
assets and
recognition
of intangible
assets

BEMNME
BHRER
BEMER

58,985
1,305
2,673

(5.171)
78

57,870

20,483

(6,064)
1,154

73,443

SEARREHEMELNEBAR

ELMEHARE
Withholding
income tax
on dividends
expected to be
remitted from
group entities
incorporated
in the PRC
SBRf
RAEE R
DREHEN
HIREMESE
ZERMAEH
34,828

12,509
3,663

51,000

(21,272)
(341)

29,387

Total

a5t
93,813

1,305

2,673

7,338
3,741

108,870

20,483

(27,336)

813

102,830

==

&R

ERSELEMEREE - HSBUAERRSE
HRCARKCEEEMHRERFEEREE

RRFETE ©



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

12.

DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES -
GROUP (continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities are arisen from the valuation
surplus of property, plant and equipment, land use rights and
intangible assets, and recognition of intangible assets as a
result of acquisition of subsidiaries; and withholding income tax
on dividends expected to be remitted abroad by group entities
incorporated in the PRC.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the PRC
approved by the National People’s Congress on 16 March
2007, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends remitted
from the PRC entities to overseas investors with effect from 1
January 2008. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied
to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty arrangement
between the PRC and Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company estimated that a portion of profits generated by
the PRC subsidiaries would be distributed to their Hong Kong
immediate parent companies. Therefore, deferred income tax
liabilities had been provided based on 5% of the estimated
profits to be remitted to Hong Kong. The directors of the
Company will review the funding requirements of the Group
from time to time and revise the dividend distribution policy of
its subsidiaries as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2011, deferred income tax liabilities of
HKD91,493,000 (31 March 2010: HKD43,246,000) have not
been recognized for the withholding tax that would be payable
on the unremitted profits of certain PRC subsidiaries.

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income
tax liabilities is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

H=E

ire MRk MR

—E—F=A=+—HILFE

(BRmEHEREN  ESEHUEE T ITIIR)

12.

BEFTSRHEE BfE - 4AKE
(%&)
BEEPSHABTANAR BB A FHHB
REITERZYE - Mz kil - LibfE R
MEFEENFERKRR BT EENHERME
£ REBARPBEEMKZNA R EHEH
BN BB P 2 TRIRFS ML ©

REZEARKRARER_ZFTELF=A+X
RERBNTECEMFIE A-—TEN\F—
H—BE HEBEACERIERELCEDIK
RE - FRI0% R EBWAAEH - ZR AP
BREBBRHIRBEHE - BT EAREDER
BRRELENRBE  IZAREENH X
5%EU - ARREERTRE KR L EARRE
MEBRARZBNKERETFTEREENERS
RAE - it BEMASHREBHREAELSR
BLZBMIAS%OREFTE - ARREEHT
iR AREZESFRLERAENE QA
ZIEHER -

—E——F=A=+—H0 AEEWLARKET
FEAENBARZ RELAFETZANE
RIS HERELEAMSHAEE91,493,000
—E—FF : F¥43,246,0007T) °

BEEFSHEERBBENONAT

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H

2011 2010

—E——F —T-FTF
Deferred income tax assets: BEFSHEE

— to be recovered within 12 months — =18 A Rk ES 42,800 50,544
Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFEHaE

— to be recovered after more than —FERBB+F-@A%

12 months 15 [81 25 15 65,698 53,999

— to be recovered within 12 months — £+ — {8 A AUk E =5 37,132 54,871

102,830 108,870
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRREHEBEIN - FAELRGAEE T ITIIR)

13. INVENTORIES - GROUP 13. & — &KH
As at 31 March
R=R=+—H
2011 2010
—B——fF —E-EF
At cost: LR
Raw materials R 426,569 186,578
Work in progress T8 E 4,116 4,378
Finished goods SR oh 37,276 44,338
467,961 235,294
The cost of inventories recognized as expense and included HE-ZZE——F=A=+—BHLFEZHFE
in cost of goods sold for the year ended 31 March 2011 KAERBERALGTAHEEXNEANEREL
amounted to approximately HKD636,819,000 (2010: 575 #636,819,000L (ZE—FF: K
HKD544,194,000). 544,194,0007C) °
14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14. EFRHEMERRIE
As at 31 March
R=A=+—8H
Group Company
rEE AT
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
B = —2——-F —Z-ZTF | ZB-—-—-§ —“T-TF
Trade receivables B S EWRIA 14(b) 653,504 519,895 = =
Less: Provision for impairment & : FEU K IERE
of receivables B4 (3,407) (2,215) - -
Trade receivables — net B ZREWIE — 58 650,097 517,680 = =
Notes receivable e E 1% 175,304 89,487 - =
Prepayments and other FAA A I A L
receivables EQE] 14(a) 192,139 36,727 473 473
Advances to staff BTI#HX 3,519 4,404 - -
Others HA 9,506 11,819 - =
1,030,565 660,117 473 473
(a) Except for prepayment of HKD32,598,000, the Group's (a) MFENERFB%E32,598,000THh @ AE
trade and other receivables balances are financial assets BB S REMERRSER BN
categorized under ‘loans and receivables’. All trade and FEWGRIA ]  FIE B 5 K E fth EUERIA TS
other receivables are either repayable within one year or R—FRSKNBAEEE MEHRHE
on demand. Accordingly, the fair values of the trade and fhEBCGRIBRREEE AR EESE ° te
other receivables approximate to their carrying values. HERRWHTKNEBZEReEEE 28
This amount included approximately HKD135,623,000 of % R 4975 %5 135,623,0007T °
receivable due from the former shareholder of the newly
acquired Guangdong Jinye Group.
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(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

The credit period generally granted to customers ranges
from 0 to 180 days. The ageing analysis of the trade
receivables (including amounts due from related parties

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

VAN F2
aN= ﬂ/T /Jé’/

HE_Z——F=HA=+—HILFE
(BR=BHEHEN -

14. ESZREMEBWRE (&)

sz b i

B BB ETITINIR)

(b) BEFEFPHEEH-—KRRB0OE180H - K
BER - BHEKHE (BIEEBAL
B 5 RKER) RIEER A HNREK

which are trade in nature) from invoice dates as at the AT ¢
balance sheet dates is as follows:
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Group
REME
2011 2010
—E——F —T-TF
0 - 90 days 0%£90H 592,568 457,936
91 — 180 days 91%180H 39,637 44,546
181 — 360 days 181£360H 10,863 10,535
Over 360 days 3608 A 10,436 6,878
653,504 519,895

As at 31 March 2011, trade receivables of
HKD650,097,000 (2010: HKD517,680,000) were fully
performing.

After considering the credit period, trade receivables are
assessed for impairment. As at 31 March 2011, trade
receivables of HKD17,892,000 (2010: HKD15,198,000)
were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number
of independent customers for whom there is no recent
history of default. The ageing analysis of the past due
trade receivables is as follows:

R-ZE——F=A=+—0H B5EK
FB#650,097,0007T (ZZE—ZF B
#517,680,0007T) E 2 EEBETT ©

ERBmE  BEHEZEBIEETHR
EBiffE - R=ZFT—F=A=+—8"
B 5 EW R IE B %17,892,0000T (= F
— & ##15,198,0007T) KT A H
BN EFHE - WERIBSPRZEKITL
BHAERCENBIRE - WEES
FEW R R @ HABR B D AT LR TS -

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H

Group

AEE
2011 2010
—E——F —ET-TF
Past due up to 180 days BHEIE180H 10,863 10,535
Past due over 180 days BIEAFE B 180 H 10,436 6,878
21,299 17,413
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b)

144

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BB {2

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRAEHEBEIN - FAESRGABE T ITIIR)

14. E5

RE M EWRE (&)

(continued) (b) (&)
As at 31 March 2011, trade receivables of HKD3,407,000 R-ZZE——F=A=+—8  BZEHK
(2010: HKD2,215,000) were impaired and fully provided. N ABH3,407,0000 (ZE—ZF : B
The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to 2,215,0007T) &£ ERE R 2 8% - @
customers which had ceased cooperation with the AR EMEBGRIEE ERE HE BRI
Group and were not in a position for repayment. These EIERRNMEENRENINER - LilfE
receivables are all aged over one year. WORIEBR BRI A — 6 -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables AEBNEZEUANERE (B21EH
(including amounts due from related parties which BATHE SREWIIE) LY EE A
are trade in nature) are denominated in the following BT :
currencies:
As at 31 March
R=R=+—H
Group
AEEH
2011 2010
—=E——fF —E-TF
HKD B 80 -
United States Dollar ("'USD’) ETT 5,078 3,039
RMB AR 648,346 516,856
653,504 519,895
Movements of the provision for impairment of trade 2 2l SR E R E RSB T
receivables were as follows:
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=+—BLFE
Group
AEE
Note 2011 2010
B 5E —E2——F T -TF
Beginning of the year F) 2,215 1,989
Provision for impairment on trade & 5 EUZRE
receivables g 23 1,192 119
Exchange differences b A% - 107
End of the year FE 3,407 2,215

5 R 7
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e RS HRR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

HE_Z——F=A=+—HIFE
(BREBHERAEN - AASBRHABE T TIIR)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued) 14. EZREMEWFIE (E)

(b)  (continued) (b) (#&)
The creation and release of provision for impaired HERBEEURBENRINBEDLER
receivables have been included in ‘administrative BHEGERERP [THERI A - 5t A
expenses’ in the consolidated income statement. BERPTINSE —REEEDHEEK
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally [E1 28 /MR & R EY o
written off when there is no expectation of recovering
additional cash.

BHREMEBRKANEMERNRE R
SEREEE °

The other classes within trade and other receivables do
not contain impaired assets.

EREAHY EERRNSZSRABAE
AL SERKFENREE - NEE
TRBEAERBEROERR

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting
date is the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.

15. CASH AND BANK BALANCES - GROUP AND 15. RITREFRE XEERAEAT

COMPANY
As at 31 March
R=A=+-—H
Group Company
rEE ¥ /N
2011 2010 2011 2010
8% —TFTF | =%-—-F) ZFFF
Short-term time deposits 55 BATE HRfE X - 230,886 | - -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEZEEY 1,676,410 1,678,640 13,489 35,503
1,676,410 1,909,526 13,489 35,503
Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following SRITNBEFIRE A RNAIINESEEFR ¢
currencies:
As at 31 March
R=BA=+—H
Group Company
rEE KAFE
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——f ) —T-TF | ZE——f =ZTITF
RMB AR 1,643,471 1,845,110 ’ = -
HKD B 25,454 58,047 13,489 35,503
usD =TT 4,213 4,637 - =
Euro and others BT K E At 3,272 1,732 - =
1,676,410 1,909,526 13,489 35,503
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A M RAME

For the year ended 31 March 2011

BE_Z——F=-A=t—HILFE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BRRHEHEBEIN > FTAESBEHNBE T TIIR)
15. CASH AND BANK BALANCES - GROUP AND 15. RITREFRE AKERELFH

COMPANY (continued)

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s and the Company’s
maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and cash equivalents

is their carrying value.

(%)

RZFE——F=HA=+—R0 AEERFKLQFA
mHENRERE MRS FEVNRSEERR
TyERmEEE

16. SHARE CAPITAL - GROUP AND COMPANY 16. BA — AEBRARQF
Ordinary shares of HKDO0.10 each
SREER%I0TZEZER
Number of
Note shares HKD’000
s RGO EE BT T
Authorized: SETE
At 1 April 2009, 31 March 2010 and RZZTNFMA—A -
31 March 2011 —E-TF=ZA=1+—K
—E——%F®=A=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREAR
At 1 April 2009 RZZETZNFMNA—A 3,084,805,961 308,480
Exercise of share options 1T I AR 17 44,015,000 4,402
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZFF=A=+—H 3,128,820,961 312,882
At 1 April 2010 W-ZT—T&EmA—Q ' 3,128,820,961 312,882
Exercise of share options T AR 17 21,230,000 2,123
At 31 March 2011 R-_E——F=/F=+—H 3,150,050,961 315,005
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

On 10 October 2006 and 25 October 2006, the Group granted
97,200,000 and 30,400,000 share options with an exercise
price of HKD3.09 per share and vesting periods of O to 3 years
to employees and directors respectively. On 17 October 2007,
the Group granted 13,900,000 and 3,600,000 share options
with an exercise price of HKD6.65 per share and vesting periods
of 0.5 to 3 years to employees and a director respectively. On
14 April 2008, the Group granted 10,400,000 share options to
two directors with an exercise price of HKD6.39 per share and
vesting periods of 0 to 3 years. The options have a contractual
option term of 10 years. The Group has no legal or contractual
obligation to repurchase or settle the options in cash. The fair
value of the share options was determined using the Black-
Scholes valuation model. Share option compensation expense
recognized in the consolidated income statement is shown in
Note 23.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding during
the year and their related weighted average exercise prices are
as follows:

HE—

(B>

T —E=A={—AIFE
BHBES - S RIUES T IIR)

RZZEERETATHRZZZRET+H
Z+HHB X&EE» A 197,200,000 %
30,400,000/ g fig g - 17 (B RTMRAEE3.09
TREBHAIEIF  THEREERES -
MR_ZZTLF+A+ER AEESHBIRH
13,900,000 3,600,000/% & J 4 - 17 E A
GlREYe ST A EBB AL FEIF  TH
EREEN—FZEF - R _ZEZNFHNA+H
B AEBEETFRAEMBESE10,400,0008%
Wi TEEAEEBREBE6 39T REBH A0
B3IF - ERAREBRENBRATF - K&
EEEEEBAERALERNESIHER
HE o BEIIERY A A (BB A Black-ScholessF i 18
RITERR o TEfn A W ek 7k EHERR A B8 AR A SR BN 22
BAIRAKIFE23 -

RER  RTENBREE 2EHREMERZ
IHEFHITEBIIRIAT

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE

2011 2010
—g—-% —F-FF
Weighted Weighted

average Number average Number

exercise of share exercise of share

price in HKD options price in HKD options

Note per share (‘000) per share ('000)

mEEFEY  BREHE TS ERREHAE

TEEET (R®  TEREET (P&

ks (BREH) BAF5) (TRRET) AF5)

Beginning of the year == 4.57 62,220 3.98 108,435
Exercised BATfE 16,17(a) 4.04 (21,230) 3.20 (44,015)
Forfeited KR 17(b) 3.09 (200) 3.09 (2,200)
End of the year FIR 4.85 40,790 4.57 62,220
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

17. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(@) The weighted average share price immediately before
the share option exercised dates was HKD10.13 (2010:
HKD7.96) per share.

(b) These represented share options forfeited due to
resignation of employees.

Share options outstanding as at 31 March 2011 are analyzed as

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRAEHEBEIN - FAESRGABE T ITIIR)

17.

BiREsTE (&)

(a) EZBRRETTH BEZ AT INHE T Uk
TEAFKRAEK10.13T (ZE—TF :
77 967T) o

(b) BRERBEHNE TR -

R-B——F=A=1T—HARTEBEREZS

follows: R
Exercise price Number of
in HKD share options
Grantee WEF A per share (‘000)  Expiry date
THEERT BREHE
(BRE) (REEAF=) KA
Directors EE 3.09 12,250 24 October 2016
201610 A24H
6.65 3,600 16 October 2017
20174F10A 168
6.39 10,400 13 April 2018
20184 H13H
Employees EE 3.09 7,600 9 October 2016
2016%F10A9H
6.65 6,940 16 October 2017
20174108 16H
At 31 March 2011 R-E——F=A=+—H 40,790

Out of the 40,790,000 (2010: 62,220,000) share options
outstanding as at 31 March 2011, 38,190,000 (2010:
52,645,000) share options are currently exercisable.

RZTE——F=ZA=Z=+—H ' R{TEH
40,790,000 (= & — & £ : 62,220,000) f&%
B P B 2 b 38,190,000 (— T — & 4 ¢
52,645,000) fREEARIERNIRIEA] T1T1E ©
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-_T——F=ZA=+—HILEE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB AEEBEEI - TASEHABETTIIR)
18. RESERVES 18. f#f&
GROUP
558
Share-based
Contributed Merger Share Capital  compensation Exchange Other
Note surplus reserve  premium reserve reserve reserve reserves Total
NRBAER
fis Efan AlthE RHEE EXfiE  NHeRE BERE Bt szt
At 1 April 2009 RZZTENF
mA-H 288,191 (612,949) 145,202 1,677 71,109 221,543 127,685 248,458
Combination of F&G Group  AHFRGEE - (4.211) - - - - - @211)
Appropriations from BEAER
net profit - - - - - - 4,49 4,49
Employee share option ~ EBEREHE
scheme
- Value of employee - EERBERE
Services 23 - - - - 12,605 - - 12,605
- Brercise of share options ~ — {1 B} [E - - 159,428 - (23,195) - - 136,233
Exchange differences B A% - - - - = 12,822 - 12,82
At 31 March 2010 RZE-%£
=A=t-H 288,191 (617,160) 304,630 1,677 60,519 240,365 132,181 410,403
At 1 April 2010 N_F-%F
MA-H 288,191 (617,160) 304,630 1,677 60,519 240,365 132,181 410,403
Fair value gains on available- FIHELREE
for-sale financial assets D ERRE - - - - - - 755 755
Appropriations from BENER
net profit - - - - - - 9,966 9,966
Employee share option ~ (REHMkiEsEl
scheme
- Value of employee -EERKER
Services 23 - - - - 4123 - - 4123
- Exercise of share options - 17{FiE & - - 100,532 - (16,905) - - 83,627
Exchange differences EA% = - - - - 168,444 - 168,444
At 31 March 2011 e -
=A=1-H 288,191 (617,160) 405,162 1,677 47,131 408,809 142,902 677,318
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At 1 April 2009
Employee share option scheme

- Value of employee services
- Exercise of share options

At 31 March 2010

At 1 April 2010
Employee share option scheme

- Value of employee services
- Exercise of share options

At 31 March 2011

Beginning of the year
Profit for the year

Appropriations from net profit
Final and special dividend for
the year ended 31 March 2009

Interim and special dividend for

the six months ended

30 September 2009

Final and special dividend for

the year ended
31 March 2010
Interim dividend for

the six months ended

30 September 2010

End of the year

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE
(B BHEEAES - FESHELUBRET IR

COMPANY
A UNG|
Share-based
Contributed Share Capital compensation
Note surplus premium reserve reserve Total
NRAAER
iz EdBRH BR1BEE BEXGE MM HE @t
RZZTNE
mA—A 288,191 145,202 1,677 71,109 506,179
EERREZ
- EERBZEE 23 - = = 12,605 12,605
— {7 R E = 159,428 = (23,195) 136,233
R-_Z—-ZF
=R=1+-H 288,191 304,630 1,677 60,519 655,017
R-_T—ZF
HA—H 288,191 304,630 1,677 60,519 655,017
EERERE 2
- EERBKEE 23 - - - 4,123 4,123
— (TR B AR E - 100,532 - (16,905) 83,627
RIE——F
“A=1+-H 288,191 405,162 1,677 47,737 742,767
Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE
Group Company
REME RATH
2011 2010 2011 2010
—E——-F —T—FTF | ZEB——-F —T-ITF
F1) 3,066,819 2,278,879 1,192,947 1,208,384
INEZ AT 1,604,400 1,340,085 1,022,706 532,212
B G B AT (9,966) (4,496) = -
BE_TThF
=A=+—HLFE
ZAREA R RN B - (272,695) = (272,695)
HE-_ZThE
NA=+HINEA
ZHERRFRIRE - (274,954) - (274,954)
BHE—_ZT—ZF
=ZA=+—HLFE
2 AH RIS (386,137) = (386,137) =
HE—_ZT—%
NA=+HIEEA
ZHFERRE B (226,789) = (226,789) =
FIR 4,048,327 3,066,819 1,602,727 1,192,947



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

19.

20.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ire MRk MR

RE-T —F=A=+—HIFE

(BR=BEREH

A BABETITIIR)

RETAINED EARNINGS (continued) 19. REZER (&)
The profit contributable to equity holders of the Company is BAFEBNARR AR RRE AERR R BHR
dealt within the financial statements of the Company to the KT EEREEE A E%1,022,706,0005T (=
extent of HKD1,022,706,000 (2010: HKD532,212,000) T—T4F @ #532,212,0000T) °
BORROWINGS 20. EX
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
Group Company
AEE AATH
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
B aE —F—— —T-TF =B —ZT-TF
Non-current FETREN
— Secured bank loans — B HEH (a) 3,562 = = =
Current T ED
— Secured bank loans —HIKH - 10,236 - =
— Unsecured bank loans — I3 (b) 740,000 240,000 740,000 240,000
740,000 250,236 740,000 240,000
Total borrowings BER 743,562 250,236 740,000 240,000
(@) The bank loan is secured by a pledge of land (note 7) (a) AEBETEFRHNBARNZEESR
and buildings (note 6) located in Yunnan Province owned TRETEAEMMREEA L (M &E7)
by the subsidiary, Yunnan Huaxiangyuan. The loans are LEF (H5F6) tEAEH - ZE R
denominated in RMB and are repayable by March 2013. AREBBEMNIFER_E—=F= A7
During the year, the average interest rate is 6.72% per EE o RER RERELF B AEE
annum. 6.72]F °
(b) The unsecured bank loans are denominated in HKD (b) EEFEITEZTABELEEN  WER
and are repayable within one year. During the year, the —FERNEHEE RERN - ZEHFH
average interest rate is 2.08% per annum. FMEAEGF2.08E -
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings ERNOEREEEREA L EMET -
approximate their fair values.
Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year ended HE—_T——F=A=+—HILFEHN
31 March 2011 amounted to HKD13,734,000 (2010: SR1T B N B 2 8 #13,734,0007T
HKD1,508,000), including HKD2,215,000 (2010: nil) (ZE—FF: B¥1,508,0007T) © H
capitalized in properties. B 82,215,000 (ZE—ZF : M)
RERERLBIE -
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RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE
(B BHEEAES - FESHELUBRET IR

As at 31 March

R=A=+-—H
Group Company
rEH AT
Note 2011 2010 2011 2010
Pt 5 =E——F  —=-TF ZEB——H —T-TF
Trade payables B S E5RIE 21(a) 303,913 237,303 - =
Non-trade payables to IEE 5 e R
related parties + 38 32(c) 123,985 133,985 - =
Wages payable EATIE 11,984 8,913 - -
Other taxes payable H e 51,350 42,153 = =
Accrued expenses EEtFR X 8,995 4,732 2,275 -
Advances from customers & FEIEf 4,122 1,915 = =
Other payables H At FEF 3E 21(0) 183,927 57,241 293 20,103
688,276 486,242 2,568 20,103

Except for other taxes payable of HKD51,350,000 and advances
from customers of HKD4,122,000, trade and other payables
balances are financial liabilities categorized under ‘financial
liabilities measured at amortized cost’. The fair values of trade
and other payables approximate their carrying values.

(@) The ageing analysis of the trade payables (including
amounts due to related parties which are trade in nature)
as at the closing dates are as follows:

0 - 90 days 0290H

91 — 180 days 912 180H
181 - 360 days 181£360H
Over 360 days 360H A E

B L At A5 B BB #651,350,000 T B F TEA
R HE4,122,0007050 + B 5 K H M E A R
DEAREEK AT ENSHAE BEHRE
b FIEN AR BEELREERS -

(@ NEEREZENFE (BEABAL
KB P RN MREDITT :

As at 31 March

R=B=+—H

Group

£33
2011 2010
—g—-%  -T-TF
211,891 185,073
62,177 33,744
7,664 1,094
22,181 17,392
303,913 237,303



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RS HRR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE_ZT——F=—A=+—HIFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB AEEBEEI - TASEHABETTIIR)
21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued) 21. ESRHEMEMNRE (HF)
(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade payables (b)y AEEMNEZEMNK (BIEBBALH
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade BHRENRIE) NEEENATIEE R
in nature) are denominated in the following currencies: B

As at 31 March

R=BA=+-—8
Group
AEE
2011 2010
—E——fF —E-TF
HKD s | 1,741 -
EUR BT 5,187 6,853
usb ETT 14,462 16,372
RMB AR¥E 282,523 214,078
303,913 237,303
(¢ This amount included approximately HKD140,530,000 (00 HWEHEREEMNKRTHKEZERSE
(2010: Nil) of payable due to the former shareholder of £ E 2 AR R 478 % 140,530,0007T (=
the newly acquired Guangdong Jinye Group. T—TF&\) o
22. OTHER INCOME 22. Hizs
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2011 2010
—2——F —E-EF
Sales of raw materials & R R 1,522 808
Government grants AT 2R 59,901 30,751
Exchange gain — net & 5 les — F5 56,150 1,924
Gain on disposal of an associate k= 1) /N | - 740
Others H 5,102 2,014
122,675 36,237
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-ZT——F=A=+—HLFE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB EIEREAEN - A SBH BB T ITIIR)
Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing BERBEEENA « HE RMiGHEER &7
expenses and administrative expenses are analyzed as follows: WER - ofwT

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEFE

Note 2011 2010
L —E——fF —T-TF

Depreciation, excluding amounts included & (T ®¥EsH AT &

in research and development BRNEEE) 6 35,540 25,417
Amortization B 7.8 36,001 28,049
Changes in inventories of finished goods LUpK an M AE R

and work in progress FE# 7,324 (7,860)
Raw materials and consumables used B A RME KB @ 629,495 527,615
Provision for impairment on B S RBGR Z B

trade receivables 14(b) 1,192 119
Lease rentals itk 10,669 6,638
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN & 6,728 5,457
Travelling expenses IR 22,046 20,060
Entertainment expenses IREARH 17,183 19,401
Employee benefit expenses, excluding EEREMNES (T8

share option compensation expenses BE RS AE RN & A5 K2

and amounts included in research and SFARERNEE)

development 24 103,923 83,063
Share option compensation expenses B A R BN 2 R 18,24 4,123 12,605
Research and development R RERE

- Employee benefit expenses —EEREMRZ 24 41,036 32,829

— Depreciation —TE 6 6,880 6,044

- Others — Eftp 73,626 44,198
Delivery expenses B 23,552 18,743
Utilities RHFHMEF X 21,687 13,309
Motor vehicle expenses BB MR 9,809 8,016
Others Eh 52,328 42,248
Total cost of goods sold, selling and MIHERE - HER

marketing expenses and administrative 5 i E R S A

expenses THEH 1,103,142 885,951
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Wages, salaries and bonus
Pension costs — defined contribution plans

T8  HEES

Share options granted to directors and KYTEZEREBZ
employees g

Others Htb

(a) Retirement scheme benefit

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all the eligible
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required to
contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a maximum
of HKD1,000 per employee and they can choose to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,000 (the
‘mandatory contributions’). The employees are entitled to
100% of the employer's mandatory contributions upon
their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death or total
incapacity.

Moreover, the Group makes defined contribution to
retirement schemes managed by the local governments
in the Mainland China. It is the local governments’
responsibility to pay the retirement pension to those staff
who retired.

Furthermore, the Group makes defined contribution
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules. It is the
insurance company'’s responsibility to pay the retirement
pension to those retired staffs.

RIS —TE R RET 8

HE_Z——F=HA=+—HILFE
(BRREHEREN  ESEHUBETITIIR)

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLEE

Note 2011 2010
Wiz —g——5  —T-TF
119,160 95,143
24(a) 15,400 12,457
23,30 4,123 12,605
10,399 8,292
149,082 128,497

(a) BASHBER

AEERBEBMABEARERERRILRE
BFE - BB EERAEER
RrEBILDF °

BREBRESHE BREEAKAH
5% (F = 558 A7 #1,0000T) 1fEH
AR WAR L BEIMESK o BEN
BREAEEAHS% (RaftREAS
#1,0007T) fEH # R (T8 sl 5k]) -
EBEARATRRRIK  HFHHTEE
KT ERE N IREUE E(EE 2 2334+

K -

toh s REEREASERE THERE
TETED RPN BT EERN
RS EERERER - T BRAR
ERZEFRKREENRAS

SAEBE TR BEREOEREEETER
MeEERBTRAFNETESLAAR
R ARMELER - RRARBERE
A% ERNEBTERARE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HEZZT——F=—A=1+—HIFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (KRR BEEAEI  FTAESEHNBETITIIR)

24. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 24. EERABEZ (F)

(b) Directors’ emoluments (b) E=E=M<e
The remuneration of each director for the year ended 31 BREENBE T ——F=A=+—8H
March 2011 is set out below: IEFEZMemT :
2011 2010
I3--f% 3%
Employer's Share Employer's Share
contribution  options contribution options
to pension  granted to topension  granted to
Name of director Fees Salaries scheme directors Total Fees Salaries scheme directors Total
EIREA RFESZ EFHEA RTEZZ
BEpts . R e EEX B &t ik e HEER iz )
Executive director: HiTEE
Ms. Chu Lam Yiu SRt - - - - - = = = = =
Mr. Lau Chi Tak UsErs = 1,500 12 1,489 3,001 - 1,500 12 3,338 4,850
Mr. Poon Chiu Kwok ARELE - 1319 195 - 1514 = 1,319 195 120 1,634
Mr. Wang Guang Yu THERE - 319 55 - 434 = 310 49 120 539
Mr. Xia Li Qun EflgEE - 453 26 - 479 = 443 24 120 587
Mr. Xiong Qing EALE = 1,430 12 1,116 2,558 - 1,430 12 2818 4,260
Independent non-executive B #77
directors: £Z:
Mr. Lee Luk Shiu Xy it 180 - - - 180 180 = - 14 194
Ms. Ma Yun Yan REERT 180 - - - 180 180 - - 14 194
Mr. Mak Kin Kwong it 180 - - - 180 180 - - 14 194
8,526 12,452
No directors waived any emoluments during the years HE-_Z——FR-_TZF=FA=+
ended 31 March 2011 and 2010. —RIEFE  BEEHEENHS -
During the years ended 31 March 2011 and 2010, no BE_Z——FR-_FT—ZTF=-A=+
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors —HIEFE - RNEBTE R E S XA
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as SERIMARSE B/ ZE K IE AR
a compensation for loss of office. & -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (B R BEHEAEIN - TESEHAEETTIIR)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
s 2k [0 U+ 2
RE SRR

RE-T —F=A=+—HIFE

24. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued) 24. EERBANRAX (&)

(c)

Five highest paid individuals

() HEEBRESHFMAL

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FRN - EAEBZRAEESTMALTE
in the Group for the year include 3 (2010: 3) directors B (ZZT—ZF : =) REEF -
whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented BEZHMESFBEHR L - KFEX
above. The emoluments paid and payable to the NTEBMEALT (ZZE—FF : MA)
remaining 2 (2010: 2) individuals during the year are as 2T -

follows:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2011 2010
—g-—-%  -—T-=F
Basic salaries and allowances HEARE & KIERL 4,751 4,209
Contributions to the retirement scheme RIREFIFT B IR 110 118
Share options granted T IR 218 743
5,079 5,070

The emoluments fell within the following bands: HEZMESEATEHE :

Emolument bands

HKD1,000,001- HKD 1,500,000
HKD2,000,001- HKD2,500,000
HKD3,000,001- HKD3,500,000
HKD3,500,001- HKD4,000,000

Number of employees

BEAH

2011 2010
—B——fF —E-EF

i < &5 =
751#1,000,001%1,500,0007T 1 -
7#5#2,000,001%2,500,0007T — 1
75#3,000,001%3,500,0007T = 1
75#3,500,001%4,000,0007T 1 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BREEHRAEIN  AESBHUEE T TIIR)

25. BHRBARBE XA

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Note 2011 2010
Bt e —E2——F ZE—TF
Financial income: B FE U A
Interest income on bank deposits RITIF AT B A 30 24,692 15,761
Financial cost: R B
Interest expenses — bank borrowings FMEEMR - RITEXK (13,734) (1,508)
Bank guarantee charge RITREE A
on borrowings — IRITEE (2,510) =
Less: amounts capitalized on B EBEREEY
qualifying assets BB 2,215 =
30 (14,029) (1,508)
Finance income — net MU — 58 10,663 14,253
26. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 26. FREH

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income
statements represented:

SEABR A BMEKRZHAS IR T

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Note 2011 2010
B e —E——F —E-TF
Current income tax BVER7S 1E
- Hong Kong profits tax — BAER (a) 13,364 13,742
— PRC corporate income tax — B EAEH (b) 252,306 159,965
— Botswana company income tax — BRI EFREH (d) 426 532
Deferred income tax assets BIEFMEHEE 12 10,496 (19,341)
Deferred income tax liabilities FEEFSHARE 12 (27,336) 7,338
249,256 162,236
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of (@) BEFAEHIEANEEGTEREEN A
16.5% (2010: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit T E165% (ZZF —ZF :165%) &
for the year. 1 e
(b)  PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the (b) FRCEMRSHBERAEEETEK

estimated assessable profit for the year at the tax rates
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

(@

The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the
PRC were as follows:

Note
BisE
Feijia Chuangye Additive Rz Al 2R N

(Shenzhen) Limited CEIY) BRRAR] (ii), (iii)
Guangdong linke Reconstituted ~ ERE S RIBEEE

Tobacco Leaves Company BRAF]

Limited (v)
Guangdong Jinye BER&SE (v)
Guangdong Zhaoging BRAZEERHRK

Fragrances Limited ER AT (v)
Guangzhou Huabao Flavour & EINEESHBEER

Fragrances Company Limited BRAF (i)
Hua Fang Tobacco Flavours Limited ZE55 (& A & & A BR

NS (i)
Huabao Food Flavours & EERAEREN

Fragrances (Shanghai) (E8) BEREAR]

Company Limited (v)
Huabao Xianghua Keji Fazhan EERLRIEERE

(Shanghai) Company Limited (L£8) BRAF (i)
Huashun Flavours (Shanghai) E|IEER (BF)

Company Limited BE A 7] (iii)
Owada Flavour Technology SR = B R R

(Guangzhou) Limited (BM) BRAA (v)
Qingdao Huabao Flavours & SEEEEREER

Fragrances Company Limited AR A A (iii)
Qingdao Qingda EEEFKX (i)
Shanghai H&K Flavours & FBEEHERREE

Fragrances Company Limited EAERAR] (iii), (v)
Shanghai Yinghua Flavours & LRREREER

Fragrances Limited BR AT (iii)
Shanghai Zhezhan Trading Limited E/&#HMEZ S8R

NC]| (i)
Shangtou Tsing Hua Boichemical  JIZE™ &2 41k T12

Engineering Company Limited AR A A

(‘Shantou Tsinghua') ([usEEZE]) (i), v)
Shenzhen Dongjiang Chuangzhan SFEIIHERTAIEREE

Trading Limited ERAE (ii)
Taicang Wenhua Enterprise RKEXNEEBXER

Company Limited /NG (iii)
Wuxi Fuhua Flavour & Fragrance &5 REFTIEE L

Company Limited AR AE] (iii)
Wuxi Hua Hai Flavour Company  EHEEHFLE AR

Limited NG (iif)
Wuxi Huaxin Flavour & Fragrance #E§5ZFEZEFEER

Company Limited =SNG (iii)
Wuxi Jiahua Flavour & Fragrance #4552 HEH L

Company Limited AR AE] (iii)
Xiamen Amber Fragrances Co Ltd [EPIIRIAE R AR

A7) v)

Yunnan Huaxiangyuan EFEERR (i)
Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & EMAEERELE

Fragrance Company Limited AR A A (iv)

HE_Z——F=HA=+—HILFE
(BRREHEREN  ESEHUBETITIIR)

(@ TIRAKERTEAEZEMzEIER

EHPTSTEMT A

April to
December
2009
“EENE
mAZE+=A
0%

N/A

N/A

15%

25%

25%

15%
25%
12.5%
15%

0%
25%

12.5%
12.5%

25%

N/A
20%
12.5%
12.5%
0%
12.5%
12.5%

15%
N/A

15%

January to
December
2010
—E-EF
—AZ+=A
1%

15%

15%

15%

25%

25%

15%
25%
12.5%
15%

12.5%
25%

15%
12.5%

25%

15%
22%
12.5%
25%
12.5%
12.5%
25%

15%
25%

15%

January to
March
2011
—F——%
—RAE=R
12%

15%

15%

15%

25%

25%

15%
25%
12.5%
15%

12.5%
25%

15%
12.5%

25%

25%
24%
12.5%
25%
12.5%
12.5%
25%

15%
25%

15%
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

160

(@)

(e)

(continued)
The income tax rates are derived from various tax policies.

(i)  The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC stipulates
the applicable income tax rate at 25% for domestic
enterprises in the PRC.

(i)  PRC companies established before 16 March 2007
are entitled to the transitional rules announced
by the State Council Circular [2007] No. 39 which
stipulated that from 1 January 2008, the existing
tax rate of 15% applied to some enterprises shall
be increased to 18% in 2008, 20% in 2009, 22%
in 2010, 24% in 2011 and 25% in 2012.

(iii)  The ‘two-year exemption and three-year half rate’
preferential tax policy is applied. For enterprises
that do not benefit from such preferential policies
due to their non-profit making status, the period of
time for which such policy applies shall commence
from 1 January 2008.

(iv) Encouraged enterprises of western regions can
continue to enjoy tax rate of 15% until its original
policy expiry (i.e. 2011).

(v) The CIT Law also stipulated that the Corporate
Income Tax shall be levied at the reduced rate
of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises that are
specifically supported by the State. The qualification
for Shantou Tsinghua expires in 2011.

Botswana company income tax has been provided at the
rate of 15% (2010: 15%) on the estimated assessable
profit for the year.

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has
been made as the Group has no assessable profit in those
jurisdictions during the year.

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRAEHEBEIN - FAELBGAEE T ITIIR)

© (&
R 0 19 B Bt s o 2 TR RO T -
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iy R-ZZLFE=ZA+NHZAK
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2 38 E 15 FK[2007]55395% 46
BT N\F—A—H0 HHt
XERIREAMNI5%H R G MNE
2008F H)18% * 2009F H20% -
20105 H922% ~ 20115 H924% M
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(i) ZIME=IR+ | HEEHREKERE
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

)

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates before tax holiday applicable to respective
companies of the Group as follows:

Profit before income tax
Add/(Less): Share of results of associates

HE_Z——F=HA=+—HILFE
(BRREHEREN  ESEHUBETITIIR)

AEE G AR AR OBE - 81
£ B TR 2 7Pt 1E 2 B AT 8
PR AT R R G RR - 85
T -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—BHLEFE

Tax calculated at tax rate applicable to
respective group companies

Effect of tax holiday

Tax impact of expenses not deductible
for tax purposes

Utilization of previously unrecognized
tax losses

Withholding tax on the earnings anticipated

to be remitted by subsidiaries
Tax losses for which no deferred income
tax assets were recognized

Tax impact on liquidation of a subsidiary

Income tax expense

Due to the fact that the directors are not certain on
whether future taxable profit would be available, the
Group did not recognize deferred income tax assets of
HKD12,565,000 (2010: HKD8,292,000) in respect of tax
losses of certain subsidiaries of the Group amounting
to HKD55,342,000 (2010: HKD39,618,000). Losses
of HKD581,000, HKD2,025,000, HKD11,201,000,
HKD5,907,000 and HKD15,375,000 will expire on 31
March 2012, 31 March 2013, 31 March 2014, 31 March
2015 and 31 March 2016 respectively, and losses of
HKD20,253,000 do not have an expiry date.

2011 2010
—B—-% —F—FF
BR 5 BT & FI 1,881,114 1,531,649
nCRl) - EREE DR A 1,255 (707)
1,882,369 1,530,942
RASEEE T EERA R ER
MEGFTEFIER 443,048 371,891
R (162,739) (225,740)
DAMNB S 2 RIS s 2
426 1,435
LRI ARERN T ISEE
= (140)
B /B~ =) 78 HA P& 1 MO iR B,
FREE & 2 TRIRFT ISR (21,272) 12,509
WEERELEMEHEERN
s E 18 4,273 2,281
BE—ENB AR G2 (14,480) =
FrS %t 249,256 162,236

AARESEIEENARERERH
JERBEFBETIE  AEBALE
TR AR BT BB R B 2 AT 0 R 2R S 48
5 #55,342,000 (ZE—ZF : K
39,618,0007T) MEEFIS I EE L
75 %12,565,0000 (ZE —ZTF : B
8,292,0007T) ° AR AT N EIE 588
#¥581,0007T © & #2,025,0007T © &
#11,201,0007T * /& #5,907,0007T &
75 #15,375,000L i D RITE =T ——4F
—A=+—R ' —E—=F=A=+—
H —Z—N&E=A=+—H ' —_T—
AF=ZA=+—BER=_FE—X<F=ZA=
+—H %% B%20,253,0007T ) AT K
MEE2ERHA -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. EARNINGS PER SHARE

162

(a)

(b)

Huabao International Holdings Limited %% BB 2% AR

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRAEHEBEIN - FAELBGAEE T ITIIR)

27. BRER

(a)

%N
ERERBNTRBEAFERR R R
FEARGREN BRAFREEHTER
eI EAE -

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2011 2010
—=E——fF —E-TF
Profit attributable to equity holders of RARIRERZFE A
the Company FEAE &R 1,604,400 1,340,085
Weighted average number of B BT 2 LRz
ordinary shares in issue ("000) FHg (F&H) 3,145,299 3,105,873
Basic earnings per share BREREF
(HK cents per share) (BREAW) 51.01 43.15
Diluted (b) #E

Diluted earnings per share is calculated based on the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding,
assuming that all dilutive potential ordinary shares have
been converted. For the year ended 31 March 2011,
the Company has one type of dilutive potential ordinary
shares, i.e. share options.

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine
the number of shares that could have been acquired at
fair value (determined as the average annual market share
price of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary
value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding
share options. The number of shares calculated as above
is compared with the number of shares that would have
been issued assuming the exercise of the share options.

SREERMNBRMETEETNEEE
B EIRE - RIBC BT EBRAM
BIEORBEE -BE-_ZT——F=5
=t—HLEFE  NARA BT EE
HEAE B (BAHE) -

ERBRE  REBERTTERBRAEMM
REENERKEE BEXRATE (E
ERARBRNOFHERETE) B
ARBOEE - A L7 A ERD
2B ERREBERETEMREDETH
MR LB EH LR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e RS HRR M R

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-_T——F=ZA=+—HILEE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB AEEBEEI - TASEHABETTIIR)
27. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 27. BREF (&)

(b) Diluted (continued) (b) #%F (&)

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2011 2010
\ —T——F —ZT-TF
Profit attributable to equity holders of RATEIRERAA \
the Company JEAE &R 1,604,400 1,340,085
Weighted average number of FA AT E B AR E A BFIEY
ordinary shares used to calculate T AAR A ANRE T 1T 2K
basic earnings per share (‘000) (F3&H) 3,145,299 3,105,873
Adjustments for: FHEE
— exercise of share options ('000) — ITIERERAE (F&1) 26,085 41,250
Weighted average number of ordinary shares % % #5% 22 71| &) 3% 8 A% &9
for diluted earnings per share ("000) IMEFHE (F5H) 3,171,384 3,147,123
Diluted earnings per share BRRESERT
(HK cents per share) (ZRAE) 50.59 42.58
28. DIVIDENDS 28. RE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t—-HLEE
2011 2010
—2——F —ET-EF
Interim dividend paid of HK7.2 cents B ERRF EAR 2 7. 27810
(2010: HK6.0 cents) per share (ZZ—ZTF : 6.0/810) 226,789 187,469
Proposed final dividend of HK7.98 cents BB AR 27,9878l
(2010: HK6.78 cents) per share (ZZ—ZF : 6.7881l) 251,374 213,193
478,163 400,662
Special dividend paid: nil ENERERIRE - &
(2010: HK8.3 cents) per share ZE—TF : 8.378() = 260,429
478,163 661,091
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

164

During the year ended 31 March 2011, an interim dividend of
HKD226,789,000 (HK7.2 cents per share) (2010: HK6.0 cents
per share) have been paid by the Company. A final dividend
of HK7.98 cents per share (2010: HK6.78 cents per share),
HKD251,374,000 in aggregate (2010: HKD213,193,000),
are proposed at the meeting of the Board held on 17 June
2011 which is subject to the shareholders’ approval in the
forthcoming annual general meeting. These consolidated
financial statements do not reflect these dividends payable. The
aggregate amounts of the dividends paid and proposed during
2011 and 2010 have been disclosed in the consolidated income
statement in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

(a) Acquisition of Yunnan Huaxiangyuan

On 1 September 2010, Xiamen Amber Fragrances
Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the Group, entered into an
agreement with independent third parties to acquire 60%
equity interests in Yunnan Huaxiangyuan, a company
incorporated in the PRC at a cash consideration of
approximately HKD4,314,000. The acquisition is expected
to extend the Group’s production line to upstream raw
materials of fragrances segment.

Yunnan Huaxiangyuan is principally engaged in the
manufacture and sale of flavours and fragrances in the
PRC. The acquisition was completed on 1 September
2010 and Yunnan Huaxiangyuan became a subsidiary of
the Group.

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HKD64,793,000 and net profit after tax of HKD4,108,000
to the Group for the period from date of acquisition to
31 March 2011.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2010, the
consolidated revenue and consolidated net profit
after tax would have been increased by approximately
HKD 19,869,000 and HKD355,000, respectively and hence
the consolidated income statement for the year ended
31 March 2011 would show the consolidated revenue of
HKD2,872,042,000 and consolidated net profit after tax
of HKD1,632,213,000.

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRAEHEBEIN - FAESRGABE T ITIIR)

REE-_T——&F=ZA=+—HLEFER
AAaEE TR F B B A5 %226,789,000
T (ERBEI2Z (ZE—FF: KB
#6.01L) - MERZEM KRR B A/TREE
7980 (ZZT—FF : §REK6.781L) + #
49 75 #251,374,000c (ZZE —Z F: B
FXNATERET
NEZRERERKE  BFRBIRITAR
HRFTRE FERERE o LRSI BRERIT
KRR B UL FE AR B o iRIBE B (A BHMEGID -
TR T -ZTFERERBRENR

213,913,000) * F=F——

BRECHERA

HRPRHE -

(a) WBREEESRR

RZZE—ZTFNLA—8 AEB KB
naE - BEFREAERERAT - BB
FE=FEZENE  UWHESWBRENR
& 154,314,000 Y g — M A AR B K A2
AT EEEFRN60%ER ° I
BUEHEREASENEEGERRS

TR S B LR RAR o

EHERRIEATEANELEENKEE
EREN ZBMBEER_FT—FFNA
—HAERMEREFTREKNSAKEZ

MEAR -

ZEBAWEBRE_E——=/H=
+—Bl BEAAEBRERNEE
64,793,000 M) §5 & W A K 4 B &

4,108,000 CHIBRFL1Z B F ©

MZWER T —ZTFMA —BELE
AEBZGZAHEERANGAERTE
& F #5 5 Bl 1 hn 4 7% #19,869,0007TC
M%) #355,0000 0 MEHZE -F
——FZA=t+-—BHULEFEZHEEK
HRNMESETTEHEERALBE
2,872,042,0007T M 4R & Br TR 12 B FI 4

75%£1,632,213,0007T °



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

(b)

Acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group

On 1 November 2010, the Company, through three
of its subsidiaries, Huabao Food Flavours & Fragrances
(Shanghai) Company Limited (‘Huabao Shanghai’),
Wuxi Hua Hai Flavour Company Limited (‘Wuxi
Huahai’) and Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & Fragrance
Company Limited (“Yunnan Tianhong’), entered into an
agreement with independent third parties to acquire
100% equity interests in Guangdong Jinye, a company
incorporated in the PRC, and its subsidiaries and affiliated
companies, at a cash consideration of approximately
HKD1,329,763,000.

Guangdong Jinye Group is principally engaged in
research and development, manufacturing and sales of
reconstituted tobacco leaves in the PRC. The Company
effectively controlled Guangdong Jinye Group since 1
November 2010.

The acquired business contributed revenue of
HKD86,759,000 and net profit after tax of HKD9,382,000
to the Group for the period from date of acquisition to
31 March 2011.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2010, the
consolidated revenue and consolidated net profit
after tax would have been increased by approximately
HKD142,578,000 and HKD22,922,000 respectively and
hence the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 March 2011 would show the consolidated
revenue of HKD2,994,751,000 and consolidated net
profit after tax of HKD1,654,780,000.

BE-T —F=A=+—HIEE

(BR=BEREH

(b)

BB EETITINIR)

KWBEERSEEH

RZE—ZTF+—A—H ARAER
“HEAR  ZEERAEHEER (L
) BERAT([EELE]) BHES
BERAERAT ([EHER]) REEXRE
BRENBRAT ([EEXRA]) BB
FE=HEZEHE UEBERENR
75 #1,329,763,0007C K BE — M A B
FRMHATR  BRSEREN B REE
A RIH100% S ©

EReESEIZETRNEEEFH
MTE  AEREKE  AKEER=F
—FF+t-A-BENEFERTES
o

ZEKBWERE_ET——=8=
+—HAL EAAEEERANBE
86,759,0007T ) 35 & W A & 4 /& #&
9,382,000 THIBR TR & F) o

MZKER—Z—ZTFLMA—ABLE
REBZHRAHEEWANMGERTER
F & 5> Bl 44 hn 49 7% #142,578,0007T
#4785 #22,922,0000 MEHE-Z
——F=A=+—BLUEFEZHEEK

2,994,751,0007C Fl4x & B B 18 B A 4
75 #1,654,780,0007T °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)
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(b)

Acquisition of Guangdong Jinye Group (continued) (b)

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Purchase consideration — cash paid* WHERE - B fF*

Fair value of identifiable net assets acquired WERIHAFEEZ AR E
— shown below —FHITX

(Gain) on bargain purchase/goodwill BRERE (W) mE
(Note 8) (F17E8)

The acquisition — related costs (included in administrative
expenses in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31 March 2011) amounted to HKD1,536,000.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purpose.

* Out of the consideration paid for acquisition
of Guangdong Jinye Group, an amount of
RMB229,400,000 was kept in an escrow account
under the name of the vendor, which will be
released to the vendor upon expiry of the escrow
period.

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE
(BRREHEBEIN - FFESRGAEE T ITIIR)

WREREESER (H)
WIREL ZFEERMBFBOT

Yunnan Guangdong
Huaxiangyuan Jinye Group
EHEER EROREE
4,314 1,329,763

(4,319) (250,157)

(5) 1,079,606

HEREOKE (EBEE_T——
F=ZA=+—HHBEEREXRZITTRER
F) A#E%1,536,0007T ©

BRECHR CHBEYAEMSEHF

* KEBEERRESEZKREBHE
- B AR¥229,400,0007T1F B
REFTEZTZREESRPF
ZELBNEE PN 2R
TER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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e M IE IR R

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE_ZT——F=-A=+—HIFE
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated) (BB HEIEREIN - FTESBEANEE T ITIIR)
29 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued) 29. ¥BE0F (&)
The fair value and carrying value of assets and liabilities as at REBHKER  RKENEEAZEERARE
the respective acquisition dates arising from the acquisitions WARBEKREESAT :

are as follows:

Fair value Acquiree’s carrying amount
DRME WUIBT 2 RRE
Yunnan Guangdong Yunnan Guangdong

Huaxiangyuan Jinye Group Huaxiangyuan Jinye Group

EFERR ERLERE ERERR ERTESRE

Net assets acquired Wit EE%E
Intangible assets EREE - 141,440 - 18,165
Land use right T b A 958 121,996 958 109,527
Property, plant and equipment ME - IR KRG 4,691 202,293 4,691 201,482
Investment in associates REtS N R ZIEE = 25,464 = 25,752
Available-for-sale financial assets ~ A[ftHESFEE - 36,593 - 29,461
Deferred income tax assets BIEFGREE - 737 = 737
Inventories FE 17,063 30,254 17,063 30,254
Trade and other receivable B 5 R HE MK AR R 6,347 163,451 6,347 163,451
Cash and cash equivalents HEeNRBEESEY 6,683 5613 6,683 5,613
Borrowings =5 (3,427) (287,168) (3,427) (287,168)
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERRR (25,116) (88,596) (25,116) (88,596)
Current income tax liabilities BHMEHARE = (10,322) = (10,322)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEMEHEE
(Note 12) (PH7E12) - (20,483) - -
Net assets acquired WHEEEFE 7,199 321,272 7,199 198,356
Less: non-controlling interests® W IR (2,880) (71,115)
4,319 250,157
Outflow of cash to acquire business, U7 2 38 4 i H
net of cash acquired (M FRE)
Cash consideration paid R @ X HERE 4,314 1,329,763
Cash and cash equivalents in A ) =FNETIA: )
subsidiaries acquired ReRBREEEY (6,683) (5,613)
Net cash (inflow)/outflow on WHEHFRSR
acquisition (N),/ (2,369) 1,324,150
The gross contractual amount for trade receivables BHRBFIARANEER R BEES -
approximates its fair value.
#  The Group has chosen to recognise the non-controlling #  AEBEEEERAEEHEBEESAF
interests at its proportionate share of the acquiree’s net BE - RETEIEEHIERER o

assets for this acquisition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE
(B BHEEAES - FESHELBRET IR

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

Note 2011 2010
Bt s —E2——F —E—TF
Profit before income tax IRl 1,881,114 1,531,649
Adjustments for: PR
— Depreciation — & 6 42,420 31,461
— Amortization — 8y 7,8 36,001 28,049
— Interest expense —FEEHA 25 14,029 1,508
— Interest income — A B U A 25 (24,692) (15,761)
— Investment income —KREWA (2,319) -
— Share of loss/(profit) of an associate — BB ENRER
(&H) 10 1,255 (707)
— Provision for impairment on — B S EWGIA
trade receivables B R 14(b),23 1,192 119
— Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, —HEWE  HER
plant and equipment HEEE S (BF) 96 (249)
— Gain on bargain purchase - REBERS (5) -
— Gain on disposal of an associate — HEBEARZT 10 = (740)
— Share option compensation expenses — BB AR AESRENE B 24 4,123 12,605
— Exchange gain-net — BN Wam— TR 22 (56,150) (1,924)
Changes in working capital: ZiBEe#E)
— Inventories - FE (157,258) (17,022)
— Trade and other receivables — B 5 Kk H A EIGRIE (224,258) (114,439)
— Trade and other payables — B 5 RHEMERNFIA 130,311 84,021
Net cash generated from operations REEBEHREe T 1,645,859 1,538,570

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds from

REERERERA  HEWE  BERRB

disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise: WA BFE
Year ended 31 March
BEZA=+—HLEE
Note 2011 2010
P EE —E2——F —ET-TF
Net book amount BREFE 6 971 357
(Loss)/Gain on disposal of property, HEME « K REE
plant and equipment (&18) /& (96) 249
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE - M NRE
plant and equipment KPS 5K 875 606
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

31. COMMITMENTS - GROUP

(a)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financml Statements

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet
date but not yet incurred is as follows:

Property, plant and equipment: Y - MRS KRR
Contracted but not provided for BERLBREBE

HE—
(BrE=HIERAEI

31.

i - AKH
(@) EBEXEE

J\—l T/J/ JF’"Z%% T

T——F=A=+—HILFE
BB EETITIIR)

REEZRERNEDARELENEARFX

mF :

As at 31 March

N=A
‘ 2011
—®——%

‘ 74,716

=+-8

‘ 2010
—z5

4,234

Operating lease commitments

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases at the closing dates are
as follows:

(b) BEHRERE

REZBRBETAIBHEERE - KK
RIEHEEMNKERNT

As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2011 2010
—g——&  —3-2F
Land and buildings: T AT
Not later than 1 year THEBE1F 8,178 7,291
Later than 1 year and not later BB FET BB
than 5 years 4,828 6,159
13,006 13,450
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. BEBALRS
(a) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BABEALBBEEREE
Name Relationship
=t 22[EA
Ms. Chu The single largest shareholder of the Company
R+ RATHE— KRR
Owada International Flavours & A company controlled by Ms. Chu
Fragrances (Guangzhou) Limited
(‘Owada International’)
RIEZFBIRER (BM) BRAA R L
(REZEER )
Henan Jinrui An associate indirectly held by the Company
A 2 B AN BRI A HOB A R A
Weihai Huayuan An associate indirectly held by the Company, which was disposed of

during the year ended 31 March 2010

A% AR TRER B OBEA

FERADHE

Huabao International Holdings Limited 2% BlR4%]

AERBE_Z-—TF=A=+—HBIt
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE

(B BHEEAES - FESHELUBRET IR
32. EBMALRS (&)

R ALHRS
AREEBHA LR FHIEARZS ¢

32 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Transactions with related parties (b)

The Group has entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties:

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—HLFE

2011 2010
—B——fF —E-ZF
Sales of goods, net of value-added tax, to: $HEER @ RIEERE » F -
— Henan Jinrui — A& 367 1,026
— Weihai Huayuan — BUSETT = 42
367 1,068
Purchase of raw materials from: BEMEE :
— Weihai Huayuan — BUBETT = 571
Interest expense to: FMEZAT
— Ms. Chu —Kzx - 319
(c) Balances with related parties () BEALHEE
As at 31 March
MR=A=+—H
2011 2010
—F——F e
Balances due from related parties: FE U A A T aE 8
Included in trade receivables ST AE S EKGIE 1,394 1,798
Included in trade and other receivables SAE S REMEWERIE
— others (dividend receivable) — Eth (FEURRE) 1,695 1,194
Henan Jinrui e 3,089 2,992
Balances due to related parties: FEISTRAEE A LA
Included in trade payables STAE S EMNIE
- Owada International — REZRR 14,308 15,923
Included in non-trade payables T AERFEE S 50IE
- Ms. Chu (note 21) — K&t (MEE21) 123,985 133,985
As at 31 March 2011, all the balances with related parties N-oE——E=A=+—8  FAEY%
were unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. AT &S AmER . €8 RARB
FEE -
170 Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEZEEIFRZAXFR /AR » 2010-2011 Annual Report 5



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

33.

INTEREST IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITY

The Group has a 49% interest in a jointly controlled entity,

Yunnan Qing Tian Xiang Keji Fazhan Co.

Ltd., which was

established on 24 November 2009 and is principally engaged

in the manufacture and sale of flavours and fragrances in

the PRC. The following amounts represent
share of the assets and liabilities, and sales

the Group’s 49%
and results of the

jointly controlled entity. They are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position and income statement.

Notes to the Consolidated Fil]dllcidl Statements

J\—l T/J/ JF’"Z%% T

BE-ZT——G=A=+—BIFE
(BRAEEAEN - A BB T TIR)
33. HEZEHER

AEENARZHEREREHENEERSE
RARRFHAI% RS - ZEEE_TTNF
TAZ+HBERIREEETERELEER
HEBBEHER - U TBRREREZSL
RZEHERNEENAE  URHEMEED
FEIERI49% D58 - W EFI AL A BB RKRMN
Was kA

As at As at
31 March 31 March
2011 2010
R-E——F RZT—TF
=A=+—-B =A=+-8

Assets: BE
Non-current assets SEmBIEE 218 30
Current assets MENEE 6,172 5,207
6,390 5,237

Liabilities: aE:
Current liabilities REBAE 40 459
40 459
Net assets FEE 6,350 4,778
For the period
from date of
Year ended establishment
31 March to 31 March
2011 2010
_H_+—H —ET—FF
WEFE =A=+—H
Income g 4,329 453
Expenses &M (2,623) (690)
Profit/(Loss) before income tax BREARER (FE) 1,706 (237)

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s
interest in the jointly controlled entity, and no contingent

liabilities of the jointly controlled entity itself.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BIRXY

A BRI R B AR I B MR
SERE  MRARZHERASTEXER

& o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

Name

L

Aromascape Development Centre
GmbH

Central Link Inc. Limited '

PR BEAR AT X

Chemactive Investments Limited ¢

Feijia Chuangye Additive (Shenzhen)
Limited !
REAIFRMAB ORI BRAF X

F&G (Botswana) (Proprietary) Limited

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd.

EREEMBEREEARAA

Guangdong Province Jinye
Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
Technology Development Co., Ltd.

BRECERE I RIMARBRAA

Place of
incorporation

ALK S it B

Germany
BE

Hong Kong
BE

British Virgin Islands
RBRXS

PRC*
hE

Republic of Botswana
TR A A E

PRC*
hEx

PRC*
R

BE_ZT——F=A=t+—HILFE

(BR=BEHEHN -

Nominal value of Percentage of equity

issued/registered
capital
ERITEER
EMEREE

EUR25,000
B{7r25,000

HKD1
BT

usD2
xr2

HKD 1,000,000
#1%1,000,0007C

BWP100
EH1007T

RMB40,000,000

A& #40,000,0007T

RMB100,000,000

AE#100,000,0007T

interest attributable
to the Company

ADRER
BRAERE A
Direct Indirect

HE %
- 100
- 100
100 -
- 100
- 100
- 55.375

= 100

A BB AEE T ITHIR)

Principal activities

TREK

Research and development
of flavours & fragrances

mEERE

Investment holding,
trading of fine
chemicals

BREER  RECIER
25

Investment holding
REER

Production, technical
research &
development,
distribution, import &
export of flavours &
fragrances & related
business

EREMNEE - RiTF
AR ERORAE
BEREXEY

Production and sales of
natural extracts

EEMBERAEZRY

Manufacture & sale of
reconstituted tobacco
leaves

HERBEESER

Research & development,
manufacture and sale
of reconstituted
tobacco leaves

e AEREEREE
oy



For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

34.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name

#%

Guangdong Zhaoging Fragrances
Limited "2

BEAFEENBARAT O

Guangzhou Hanfo Food Culture
Company Limited *-*2
BMER SRR XLBRARF X *

Guangzhou Huabao Flavour &
Fragrances Company Limited ! 1.1

ENEREREHARAT o 0x

Hua Fang Tobacco Flavours Limited ¢! !

ERERELGRAT oW

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK)
Limited

ZEEREN (BF) ARRA

Huabao Food Flavours & Fragrances
(Shanghai) Company Limited W' X1. X2
ZERRAEREMN (LB) BR

/L\\ET W1, X1, X2

Huabao Industrial & Trading
Development (HK) Limited ¢!
ZFETIBER () ARAR X

Huabao International Holdings Limited 2 BIER 1% AR

Place of
incorporation

AL

PRC*
hE*

PRC*
ey

PRC*
hE*

PRC*
HEx

Hong Kong
30

PRC*
HE

Hong Kong
30

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A SR AN

BE-T —F=A=+—HIEE

Nominal value of Percentage of equity

issued/registered
capital
ERTEER/
HMEFHEE

RMB11,000,000
AR#11,000,0007T

RMB2,000,000
AE#2,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
AR#10,000,0007T

USD4,000,000
%7t4,000,000

HKD3,000,000
#5%3,000,0007T

USD10,000,000
%7£10,000,000

HKD10,000
78%10,0007T

interest attributable
to the Company
RAT ML
BRAESE AL
Direct  Indirect

& B
- 100

(BRmEHEREN  ESEHUEE T ITIIR)

3. TEMBAA 2 (&)

Principal activities

FERHK

Manufacturing & sales
of food flavours &
fragrances

HERRAKEEREH

Research, development,
manufacturing & sales
of flavours & fragrances

e - AERBEEHEN

Research, development,
manufacturing & sales
of flavours & fragrances

e HERHEERR
EH

Manufacturing & sales
of tobacco flavours &
fragrances

EERBEERERER

Research, development,
manufacturing & sales
of flavours & fragrances

e HERHEEER
=4

Manufacturing & sales
of tobacco flavours &
fragrances

EERBEERERER

Investment holding,
trading of fine
chemicals

REZER B IER
g5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GAUBRENE

For the year ended 31 March 2011

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name

#%

Huabao Xianghua Keji Fazhan
(Shanghai) Company
Limited ¢!-w1.w2.xi

SHELAREE (LF) BR

/D\E] C1, W1, w2, X1

Huashun Flavour (Shanghai)
Limited W1 w2 x1

ZIRER (L&) BRAR whwx

Place of

incorporation

1 AR L 1t 2

PRC*
R

PRC*
hEx

Owada Flavour Technology (Guangzhou) PRC*

Limited %2

REZFHRE (BM) BRAF x-x

Power Success International
Development Limited ' X
HABBRERBRAR O

Qingdao Huabao Flavours & Fragrances
CO., Ltd, €. w1
BEEEEEREMARAR W

Qingdao Qingda Product Co., Inc. X
EREAMERGERDR

Shanghai H&K Flavours & Fragrances
Company Limited -t Wi
HEEBELEERENAR

/L\\Ej L1, L2, W1, X1

174

Fh

Hong Kong
N

PRC*
R

PRC*
HE

PRC*
R

Huabao International Holdings Limited == B {E

A R

RE-S——F=A=+—ALFE

Nominal value of
issued/registered
capital
ERITLER
HMEXREE

usD2,100,000

272,100,000

UsD1,000,000

711,000,000

HKD60,000,000
75%60,000,0007T

HKD1
BEIT

RMB3,673,500

AEH3,673,5007T

RMB12,244,900
AR#12,244,9007T

RMB 100,000,000
AR#100,000,0007T

Percentage of equity
interest attributable
to the Company
RN B
RAEZE DL

Direct Indirect
HE i3
- 100

= 100

= 100

Y7l  2010-2011 Annual Report 3§

(BRREHEBEIN - FFESRGAEE T ITIIR)

3. TEMBLAZFHE ()

Principal activities

FREK

Research and development
of flavours & fragrances

MEERER

Manufacture and sale of
fine chemicals
HERBEERBLIER

Research, development,
production and sale
of tobacco flavours &
fragrances

e £FERHEERAE
BEH

Investment holding,
trading of fine
chemicals

REER  BECIER
25

Manufacture and sale of
flavours & fragrances

EERBEERER

Manufacturing & sales of
natural extracts
EERHERARDRY

Manufacturing & sales
of food flavours &
fragrances

EERHERAERER



For the year ended 31 March 2011
(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

34.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Name

#%

Shanghai Yinghua Flavours &

Fragrances Limited

LBRERRENARDA

Sino Top Trading Limited ¢
ZFEBHERAR ©

Smart Sino International Limited ¢ X!

EEBRERAR X

Tai Cang Wen Hua Enterprise

Company Limited W x1.x2

KENEBEER AT WX

Wisdom Bright International

Investment Limited ¢ X!

SEERRAARAR 0

Wuxi Fuhua Flavour & Fragrance

Company Limited "1 W2. X1

BHEEERENARAT W wex

Wuxi Hua Hai Flavour Company

Limited 1.1

EHEHERARAT W00

Wuxi Hua Xin Flavour & Fragrance

Company Limited W X1.x2

BHERERENARAT W0

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GATTBREN R

BE-T —F=A=+—HIEE

Nominal value of Percentage of equity

Place of issued/registered
incorporation capital

BERITLER
AR AR 32 3t B HMEREE
PRC* HKD1,000,000
g #1,000,0007T
Hong Kong HKD100
EB E1007T
Hong Kong HKD10,000
B 7110,0007T
PRC* UsD1,200,000
R %711,200,000
Hong Kong HKD1
N BB
PRC* UsD7,000,000
R 577,000,000
PRC* UsD650,000
R %71650,000
PRC* UsD1,000,000
HE* %711,000,000

Huabao International Holdings Limited ZEEBERIZERBR A

interest attributable
to the Company

LYNCI) 2

RAESED L

Direct Indirect

& M
- 100

(BRREHEREN  ESEHUBE T ITIIR)

3. TEMBRAAZFE (&)

Principal activities

IRRHK

Sales of tobacco flavours
& fragrances

HEERBEREH

Trading of fine chemicals
BHECIERES

Investment holding,
trading of fine
chemicals

REZR B IER
25

Production and sale of
tobacco flavours &
fragrances

EERBEERERER

Investment holding,
trading of fine
chemicals

REER - B IES
g5

Production and sale of
tobacco flavours &
fragrances

EERBEERERER

Production and sale of
tobacco flavours &
fragrances

EERBEERER

Production and sale of
tobacco flavours &
fragrances

EERHEERTREM
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Dy £ == /42
N SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE-_ZT——F=A=1+—HLEFE

(All amounts in HK dollar thousands unless otherwise stated)

34. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

176

(continued)
Nominal value of Percentage of equity
Place of issued/registered interest attributable
Name incorporation capital to the Company Principal activities
ERITLER KRR E
£ R AL 30 B HMEXREE RAERE DL TEXK
Direct  Indirect
HE LiEE
Wauxi Jiahua Flavour & Fragrance PRC* RMB60,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of
Company Limited W' w2 xi B AR%60,000,0007T tobacco flavours &
EHRERREHARAR WX fragrances
EERHERABEREH
Xiamen Amber Fragrances Co., PRC* RMB20,000,000 - 51 Research, development,
Ltd. L2 B * AR#20,000,0007C production, distribution
EFRHAERMERAR 12 and retail of fragrances
e 4E BEREE
RREREH
Yongzhou Shan Xiang Flavour Co., Ltd. PRC* RMB32,050,000 - 67.14 Investment holding
AMLBERERRA R AR#32,050,0007T REEK
Yunnan Hua Xiang Yuan Flavours PRC* RMB18,300,000 - 60 Manufacture and sale of
Limited X1 %2 B AR #18,300,0007C flavours and fragrances
EREBREHARLDA X0 HERHEBTREEH
Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & Fragrance  PRC* UsD2,250,000 - 60 Production and sale of
Company Limited €' B 272,250,000 tobacco flavours &
ERRRBREHERARF fragrances
EERHERABREH
* All entities incorporated in PRC are identified as ‘limited liability FERFEIMKXIHOAREREREER

company’.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% BB {22 &

AR

7o

N 7] © 2010-2011 Annual Report F#k
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3. TEMBLAZFE ()



Five Year Financial Summary

LFEMBREE
RESULTS
ES
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=t—-BHLHEE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ETtLFE ZTTN\F ZTTNF T-TF ZB——F
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000
BT T BETT BT T BT BETT
Turnover G 1,013,229 1,419,137 1,938,443 2,366,403 2,852,173
Gross Profit E7 704,146 1,063,148 1,462,515 1,786,835 2,120,459
Profit before income tax R 5 B A 578,662 904,000 1,207,346 1,531,649 1,881,114
Income tax expenses FriS %t (1,435) (34,384) (82,157) (162,236) (249,256)
Profit for the year REZRF 577,227 869,616 1,125,189 1,369,413 & 1,631,858
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
EERERE
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ETtLF ZETN\F ZTTNF —TIFTF —ZB——F
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’000
BT BT BT T BT T BT T
Total assets BEE 1,462,991 2,477,381 3,765,656 4,833,858 6,927,840
Total liabilities BEE (322,087) (455,404) (836,050) (915,651)  (1,631,977)
Shareholders’ funds IR E S 1,140,904 2,021,977 2,929,606 3,918,207 5,295,863
Other Financial Information
Hth B B &8
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
—ETLFE ZTTNF ZTTNF T-TF ZEB——F
Earnings per share, basic ~ FHR&EF] - FEK
(HK cents) (&AL 19.91 28.13 36.08 43.15 51.01
Earnings per share, diluted SFRZEF - #5%
(HK cents) (B 18.66 27.65 35.62 42.58 50.59
Aggregated dividend BREFRFRE
per share (HK cents) OBL) 5.6 8.3 10.8 12.78 15.18
Aggregated special dividend &% 2545 RIIA% B
per share (HK cents) (B Nil4 Nil 4 3.0 8.3 Nil £
Fiscal year-end share prices BIf§FE R4 BB
(HKD) (B7T) 4.73 6.40 6.38 9.33 11.96
EBIT ratio EBIT= 56.8% 62.7% 61.7% 64.1% 65.6%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAXR 61.0% 67.3% 66.1% 67.1% 68.5%
Return on equity T EFR 76.7% 56.9% 46.3% 40.3% 36.3%

Huabao International Holdings Limited =% EIIZR AR A

7] © 2010-2011 Annual Report 3§
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ACIS

ACS

AGM

Aromascape R&D
Centre

Board

Bye-laws

CAFFCI

CAGR
CEO
CFO

CG Code

CG Report

China or Mainland

Company or
Huabao

China Tobacco
Anhui

Director(s)

EPS

FCCA

FCPA

Fejia Chuangye

Group or Huabao
Group

Guangdong Jinke

Guangdong Jinye

Guangdong Jinye
Group

178

Associate Member of The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators

Associate Member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries

Annual general meeting

Aromascape Development Centre GmbH

Board of the Company

Bye-laws of the Company

China Association of Fragrance Flavour
and Cosmetic Industry

Compound annual growth rate

Chief Executive Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Code on Corporate Governance
Practices as set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited

Corporate Governance Report as set
out on pages 51 to 65 of this annual
report

Mainland of the PRC

Huabao International Holdings Limited

China Tobacco Anhui Industrial
Corporation

Director(s) of the Company

Earnings per share

Fellow member of Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants

Fellow member of Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants

Fejia Chuangye Additive (Shenzhen)
Limited

the Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Company Limited

Guangdong Province Jinye
Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
Technology Development Company
Limited

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries
and affiliated companies

ACIS

ACS

RRAFRE

Aromascapeffi 3
SWNY

5xg

NSIEEE

FRELHE

CAGR

B s A
RRRHESR

ZRPE

5=

EPS

FCCA

FCPA

RE AR
AEENEEEE

BERE®

EREEEH

RERHAMERTRABRRAESGE

EENTWELATGE

RERBFERNE

Aromascape Development Centre
GmbH

AAFNEES

/N /N F L

REENER AL T EGE

EATHEE

L

R 5

BB AZPAERANES L DRI
P61 4R 51180 © 2 EOA AR P A

EARFEHRFES1EEZESARNNDEENR
s

REARKMEREA
EFEERZERARAR

SREF
HERFAREHAAE

BrRe8

BRESHED
RFRIZR A ORI BRAF]

H
Zl

REIRENB AR

el

EREMBEEERERAT

BERESREEFH RMAZERAT



Guangdong
Zhaoging

Guangzhou
Huabao

Guangzhou
Huafang

HKAS

HKD

HKFRS

HKICPA

HK(IFRIC)-Int

Hong Kong or
HKSAR

Hongta Tobacco

Group

Guangdong Zhaoging Fragrances
Limited

Guangzhou Huabao Flavours &
Fragrances Co Ltd.

Hua Fang Tobacco Flavours Ltd.

Hong Kong Accounting Standards

Hong Kong dollars

Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards

Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants

Hong Kong (IFRIC) Interpretations

Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the People’s Republic of
China

Hongta Tobacco (Group) Limited Liability
Company

Huabao Hong Kong Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK) Ltd.

Huabao Keji

Huabao Kongque

Huabao Shanghai

Huangguoshu Jinye

Huashun Shanghai

Hunan Jinye

INED(s)

Listing Rules

M&A(s)

mg

Model Code

Owada

PRC

Huabao Xianghua Keji Fazhan
(Shanghai) Co. Ltd.

Shanghai H&K Flavours & Fragrances Co
Ltd.

Huabao Food Flavours & Fragrances
(Shanghai) Co Ltd.

Guizhou Huangguoshu Jinye Technology
Company Limited

Huashun Flavour (Shanghai) Limited

Hunan Jinye Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Limited Liability Company

Independent Non-executive Director(s)
of the Company

Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

Merger and acquisition

milligram

Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers

Owada Flavours Technology
(Guangzhou) Limited
The People’s Republic of China

BMESE

eSS

EA G A
HKD

BARPBHREER

HKICPA

=% (H

Fs>

AR EEEE

EBEE
EERK

m
Fir
il

s

fl

[HE

I
i
28

=

g )

\

%8 15
WERE

BYFRITES

EmRA

BEREEEEHNBER AR
ENEEERERERAT
EFERERNBRAQA
AR g ER

B

BBWHREER

EERHBAR

RmEnE 58 (AREREREERES) 2k
ZEg) 2k

hEARKMBEEERHITTHRE

AREER (£E) BRAR

EBERER (FE) ARQA
EEECHRER (L8 BRAR

LEEEIEBRRERERAA

LHAREHEEN (L) BRAF

EMNERBEERZAR AR

EJEEH (L8) BRAR
HEEEEEERERAERT

RRRZBIIFITES

BEMARZMERARES LR

Fe Ot B

)

EHBETAEZETEFIHN
RAEEST Al

TR IEBEREER AR AR

REZFREMN (BMN) GRAA

+

FEARAME
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Qingdao Huabao

Qingdao Qingda

RMB

R&D

Scheme Mandate
Limit

SFC
SFO

SGM
Shanghai Tobacco
Taichuang

Shanghai Yinghua

Shareholder(s)
Share(s)

Stock Exchange

Taicang Wenhua
usb

Wuxi Fuhua
Wuxi Huahai
Wuxi Huaxin

Wuxi Jiahua
Xiamen Amber
Yongzhou
Shanxiang
Yunnan
Huaxiangyuan
Yunnan Tianhong

180

Qingdao Huabao Flavours & Fragrances
Co Ltd.

Qingdao Qingda Product Co., Inc

Renminbi

Research and development

The maximum number of Shares in
respect of which share options may
be granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option
scheme(s) of the Company

Securities and Futures Commission

Securities and Futures Ordinance of the
Laws of HKSAR

Special general meeting

Shanghai Tobacco Group Taichuang
Haiyan Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves
Company Limited

Shanghai Yinghua Flavours & Fragrances
Ltd.

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKDO0.10 each of
the Company

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Tai Cang Wen Hua Enterprises Co Ltd.

US dollars

Wuxi Fuhua Flavour & Fragrance Co Ltd.

Wuxi Hua Hai Flavour Co Ltd.

Wuxi Hua Xin Flavour & Fragrance Co
Ltd.

Wuxi Jiahua Flavour & Fragrance Co Ltd.

Xiamen Amber Perfumery Co., Ltd

Yongzhou Shan Xiang Flavour Company
Limited

Yunnan Hua Xiang Yuan Flavours
Limited

Yunnan Tianhong Flavour & Fragrance
Co Ltd.

BEBEE

\ﬂ]]ﬂ

FEEX
AR

R&D
IR AR

ZX BE &

=)

&7 KA GRP

BREREFRIAE
EEXRRE

ERERERENERAA

BEEBTAMERNABR AT

ARE  REDEEEH

BE RERE

SRR T 8 RAE M A AR A
RGBT R R 2 B E R R 2 Ik
fH8E ER

K%&H§$F%
EHLE

el

£3-

mﬂ}

BRRFFRIRE
LBEEEEARBEEEEN
BRAE

EERERRERERAT

AR Z IR
m@m%$¢§%@@%QOﬁm
é%%é&%%ﬁ@@ﬂ

REXEEXARAF

E v
EHRERREHERATR
EHESEREAERAA
EHEERRREAERAA

EOREEREHERAR
EFIRRERERAT
AMILEERERAR
EHEEREHERAA

ERREERERERAR
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